

# Smart parking: Network, infrastructure and urban service

Trista Shuenying Lin

#### ► To cite this version:

Trista Shuenying Lin. Smart parking: Network, infrastructure and urban service. Networking and Internet Architecture [cs.NI]. INSA de Lyon, 2015. English. NNT: 2015ISAL0138. tel-01368418

#### HAL Id: tel-01368418 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01368418

Submitted on 19 Sep 2016

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

### **DOCTORAL SCHOOL InfoMaths**

### PHD THESIS

to obtain the title of

#### Doctor of Philosophy

of INSA Lyon Specialty : COMPUTER SCIENCE

Defended by

Trista S. LIN

on December 17, 2015

### Smart Parking: Network, Infrastructure and Urban Service

prepared at CITI-Inria Lab, DYNAMID and URBANET Teams

#### Jury :

Advisor :	Frédéric Le Mouël	-	Associate Professor
			INSA Lyon, France
	Hervé Rivano	-	Researcher, HDR
			Inria, France
Reviewers :	Bertrand DUCOURTHIAL	-	Professor
			Université Technologique de Compiègne, France
	Sidi Mohammed SENOUCI	-	Professor
			Université de Bourgogne, France
Examinators :	Ling-Jyh Chen	-	Associate Research Fellow
			Academia Sinica, Taiwan
	Thierry Delot	-	Professor
			Université de Valenciennes, France
	Fabrice VALOIS	-	Professor
			INSA Lyon, France
	Véronique Vèque	-	Professor
			Université Paris-Sud, France

#### Smart Parking: Network, Infrastructure and Urban Service

Parking coordinates the land use and transportation in urban area, and it is also one of the most important assets, bringing revenue to city. As the increasing urban population, more and more cars, circulating through city, often get bogged down in traffic jam. 30%of traffic jam is caused by vehicles cruising for parking, said an economic expert. That is because drivers usually expect to get a cheap or free on-street parking place. Some French municipal statistics have shown that the wasted hours on parking search are at least 400 hours per day in city commerce district. If we convert those hours into fuel consumption,  $CO_2$  emission and the economical effect, the parking is very expensive whatever from the personal, public or environmental viewpoints.

For this reason, if drivers can get the information of real-time parking availability, they will be able to adjust their traveling schedule without spending time cruising the city in vain. Smart parking, allowing drivers to access parking information through their smartphone, is proposed to ease drivers' pain. Many cities have been launching their smart parking projects and apps, yet still very few drivers can really benefit from them. That is because this technology still has to be improved from different perspectives: the robustness of sensor devices, the stability and timeliness of sensor networks, the quality and agility of urban service, and user-centric consideration. In addition, the smart parking deployment intends to deploy many sensors in the cities and overcome current sensor management problems. It can become a leading paradigm of smart cities and its extension. The work presented in this thesis sheds light on the deployment of smart parking system, with respect to sensor and service deployments.

First of all, we make a survey of the smart parking research and implementations, and then synthesize them into three different viewpoints. We cover global features of smart parking research by explaining how the parking information is collected, processed, and then distributed to drivers. After that, we provide a taxonomy with a detailed table to outline the existing research placement.

Next, we spotlight the manner to collect parking information. We begin by the multi-hop network architecture while deploying sensors on parking places, and how the network is formed by routing protocol. We then introduce the traffic intensity models by looking at the vehicle's arrival and departure probability, following the heavy-tailed distribution. We take the parameters from a real parking sensor network and evaluate them with different variations under two off-the-shelf medium access control (MAC) protocols. We test four different MAC protocols and different urban topologies with respect to the heavy-tailed traffic model. After that, we give an engineering insight and

summarize the relationship between the topologies and the MAC protocols.

When it comes to large-scale deployment, the network infrastructure is relevant. We study and introduce the deployment strategy of wireless on-street parking sensor networks. We define a multiple-objective problem with four objectives, and solve them with two real street parking maps. We present the results by showing the trade- off between minimum energy consumption, sensing information delay and the amount of deployed mesh routers and Internet gateways. The deployed mesh routers and gateways are the main cost, and the gateway is much more expensive than the mesh router. Thus, these results can be seen as a good guideline for designing and deploying roadside unit, to provide smart parking services to urban users. We also analyze these trade-offs to see how the different maps affect the optimal solutions.

In turn, merely the collection of parking information cannot ease drivers' headache. To provide good parking information to drivers, we begin by presenting the content-based Publish-Subscribe service system. We illustrate the system with a vehicular network and point out the importance of content and context. A message filtering is then proposed to match the parking information with users' interests. We propose an information, message and context to suggest each network device to make their own decisions of actions. We parameterize our analyzer to find the most suitable for our adopting network, and evaluate its performance with respect to the pure Publish-Subscribe service. Last, we also compare its satisfaction of users with the current mobile network.

In order to evaluate the resilience, we undertake the extended Publish-Subscribe model, and evaluate it under different unforeseen circumstances. We begin with a variable user participation rate, showing that the system can downgrade to one-hop communication. Then we also propose an offloading trade-off while the mobile network is too busy. Also, the information can be only disseminated to local drivers in vehicular network which lowers the parking conflicts.

Next, we begin with the formulation of on-street parking game. We evaluate the system with a variable user participation rate, showing that the system can downgrade to one-hop communication. Then we also propose an offloading trade-off while the mobile network is too busy. The information can be only disseminated to local drivers in vehicular network which lowers the parking conflicts.

To sum up, our work is based on the premise that large-scale parking sensors are deployed in the city. We look at the whole picture of urban service from viewpoint of the municipality. As such, we shed light on two main topics: the information collection on sensor deployment and an extended version of content-based Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm. Our work gives a guideline from network-related perspectives for city before launching a smart parking or any similar real-time urban service. It also provides a meaningful evaluation platform for testing more realistic datasets, such as real vehicle traces or network traffic.

# Acknowledgements

Pursuing a PhD is undoubtedly an important evolutionary process in my life. It would not have been possible to complete without the guidance and support from many people.

First of all, I gratefully acknowledge the funding received towards my PhD from the Rhône-Aples Region (ARC 7). I would like to thank all the supports, suggestions and assistances from Dr. Grégoire Feyt and Mrs. Elena Lopez-Cavaillé during the three years.

I acknowledge all the resources from Inria and INSA Lyon. I thank Pr. Fabrice Valois for giving me the opportunity to start my PhD administratively and for all the constructive advices on the laboratory council, event organization and my research life. Then, I greatly appreciate Dr. Thomas Watteyne to share his practical experiences on parking sensor network with me in the beginning of my PhD.

I would like to express my sincere and immense gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Hervé Rivano and Dr. Frédéric Le Mouël. Thank Hervé for his guidance which allows me to grow as a research scientist. I appreciate his generosity in sharing his cleverness and knowledge, as well as his constant feedback and the always very present help in trouble. Thank Frédéric for encouraging my research and giving me a new dimension to my way of thinking. I am grateful to his inspiration on the importance of being a female scientist and self-evaluation.

I address my thanks to all the jury members for accepting and evaluating the works which have been done in this thesis.

Besides, my thanks also go to all the members of Dynamid and Urbanet teams for our interesting discussion and the great time we have ever spent together. Thank Razvan for his always prompt and useful advices, generally in an ironic but pleasant way. Thank Diala for her lovely friendship and amazing food storage in our sharing office. I enjoyed a lot all our delightful conversation and the beautiful cultural impact. I am also grateful to all the members of CITI for the friendly and professional working ambiance. I thank Gaëlle, Joëlle, Margarita and Delphine for their kind helps on administrative works.

My deep gratitude also goes to my family: my father, my brother and my Belle-maman. Thanks for their immense love and unconditional spiritual support during difficult times. In particular, I would like to thank my better half Philippe for being by my side throughout this PhD. I am much obliged for his brightness and patience.

Finally, I thank all my friends in France for their company, and my friends in Taiwan for their encouragement. I address my special thanks to Giselle for her proofreading of two chapters and Ping-Ling for his sharing of interesting bibliography on smart parking service.

## Contents

A	bstra	$\mathbf{ct}$		i
A	cknov	vledge	ements	iii
C	onter	ıts		iv
Li	st of	Figur	es	vii
Li	st of	Table	S	xi
I	$\mathbf{Sm}$	art Pa	arking solutions: An Introduction	1
1	Intr	oducti	ion	<b>2</b>
	1.1	Motiv	ation	2
	1.2	Contri	ibution	4
	1.3	Organ	isation	5
2	ΑT	axono	my of Smart Parking Solutions	8
	2.1	Overv	iew of the research field	8
		2.1.1	Causes of evolution	8
		2.1.2	Literature classification	10
		2.1.3	Survey organisation	12
	2.2	Parkir	ng information collection	13
		2.2.1	Information sensing	13
		2.2.2	Wireless sensor network (WSN)	16
		2.2.3	Parking meter	17
		2.2.4	Crowdsensing	17
	2.3	Parkir	ıg system deployment	18
		2.3.1	Software system	18
		2.3.2	Large-Scale Deployment	22
		2.3.3	Parking Vacancy Prediction	24
	2.4	Parkir	g service dissemination	26
		2.4.1	Information Dissemination	26
		2.4.2	Parking Competition	30
		2.4.3	Driver's Parking Behavior	32
	2.5	Outlo	ok	34
		2.5.1	Information collection	34
		2.5.2	System deployment	35
		2.5.3	Service dissemination	36

# II Urban Sensing: An Engineering Insight for Wireless Sensor Network

3	Net	work Architecture and Protocols	38
	3.1	Introduction	38
	3.2	Related works	39
	3.3	Multihop mesh network	41
		3.3.1 Urban sensor topology	41
		3.3.2 Routing protocol	42
	3.4	Parking intensity model	42
		3.4.1 Vehicle's arrival and departure	42
		3.4.2 Event-Driven versus Periodic	44
	3.5	Bandwidth allocation	47
		3.5.1 Radio and energy models	47
		3.5.2 MAC layer scheduling	48
	3.6	Evaluation	50
		3.6.1 Impact of traffic intensity and node density - scenario 1	51
		3.6.2 Impact of network topology - scenario 2	56
		3.6.3 Impact of transmission power - scenario 3	60
	3.7	Summary	61
	F		~ .
4	Dep	ployment of Urban Infrastructure	64
	4.1	Introduction	64
	4.2	Related works	65
	4.3	Gateway & router deployment	66
		4.3.1 Multi-hop modeling	66
		$4.3.2 Map retrieval \ldots \ldots$	72
	4.4	Multiple-objective optimization	73
		4.4.1 Network architecture	73
		4.4.2 Characteristics of maps	73
		4.4.3 Energy efficiency	73
		4.4.4 Cost of infrastructure	74
		4.4.5 Information delay	75
		4.4.6 Integration of pre-existing mesh networks	75
	4.5	Summary	76

# III Urban Service: A Distributed Service for Smart Parking Assistance

5 An Extended Content-based Publish-Subscribe Service										
	5.1	Introd	uction	78						
	5.2	Relate	d works	80						
	5.3	5.3 Publish-Subscribe architecture								
		5.3.1	Publish-Subscribe service	82						
		5.3.2	Driver's interest	83						

v

 $\mathbf{37}$ 

77

	5.4	5.3.3 5.3.4 Publish 5.4.1 5.4.2 5.4.3 5.4.4	Parking availability information	. 84 . 85 . 85 . 85 . 85 . 87
			tion table	. 88
	5.5	Evalua	tion	. 90
		5.5.1	Modeling vehicle mobility	. 90
		5.5.2	Parametrization	. 90
		5.5.3	Grid size for multi-geocast routing	. 92
		5.5.4	Network and server load	. 94
		5.5.5	Centralized or opportunistic?	. 95
	5.6	Summa	ary	. 97
6	Info	rmatio	on Dissomination for Smart Parking Service	08
0	6.1	Introdu	uction	08
	6.2	Rolator	d works	. 30 00
	6.3	Parkin	a montes	. 33
	0.0	631	Parking search time	101
		632	Parking search cost	101
	6.4	A smai	rt parking semi self-service system	101
	0.1	6 / 1	System overview	103
		642	A more realistic urban environment?	104
		6.4.3	Freerider evaluation	104
	65	U.4.5 Hotoro	geneous network	103
	0.0	651	Protocol stack	107
		652	Why mobile offloading	108
		653	Traffic trade off evaluation	100
	6.6	Summa		. 110
	0.0	0 4111110		
IV	N	ow an	d the Future of Smart Parking	111
_ •	- 1			
7	Con	clusion	n and open perspectives	112
	7.1	Conclu	sion	. 112
	7.2	Open p	perspectives	. 114
Bi	bliog	raphy		117

# List of Figures

2.1	Smart Parking overview	9
2.2	Proposed categories of smart city solutions and the spectrum of disciplines	
	related to topics.	11
2.3	The diagram of parking information dissemination classification	28
2.4	The diagram of parking behavior classification according to different fo-	
	cuses of drivers' behaviors	33
3.1	Multihop parking sensor network	41
3.2	(Left) Timeline of sensor's occupancy status. (Right) Sensor state transi-	10
9.9	The CDF and empired function of analytical and an elect interventional times of	4Z
3.3	The CDF and survival function of vehicle and packet interarrival times of	45
9.4	The survival function of archiele intervention times of 2, 5, 10, and 24 in	45
3.4	The survival function of vehicle interarrival times of 2, 5, 10 and 24 in-	45
25	The CDE and survival function of values and packet interarrival times of	40
5.5	24 in ground parking sonsors	45
3.6	Periodic and Event driven mixed application with different $\tau$ and $\omega$ com-	40
5.0	binations	45
37	Generated packets by event-driven traffic model while all sensors have the	10
0.1	same scale parameters $(\gamma)$ .	45
3.8	Traffic difference between sensor nodes while all the sensors have the same	
	mean of interarrival time( $\frac{Z}{2}$ ) but different shape parameters(0.5 and 1).	45
3.9	Timeline of Network Traffic when having the same scale parameter but	
	different shape parameters 0.5 and 1	46
3.10	Radio behavior of sensor device	47
3.11	Slot allocation methods of CSMA, TDMA, Funnelling-MAC and i-Queue	
	MAC protocols	49
3.12	Topologies of different numbers of sensors. Increase the node density by	
	adding one more line or one more side of curb parking	51
3.13	Per-node energy consumption of (left) periodic and (right) event-driven	
	applications while varying $N$ and traffic parameters under <i>schedule</i> -based	
	B.A	52
3.14	Per-node energy consumption of (left) periodic and (right) event-driven	
	applications while varying $N$ and traffic parameters under <i>contention</i> -	
	based B.A.	52
3.15	Information delay of <i>event</i> -driven application while varying traffic param-	-
0.10	eters and node number under <i>schedule</i> -based B.A.	53
3.16	Information delay of <i>event</i> -driven application while varying traffic param-	
0.15	eters and node number under <i>contention</i> -based B.A.	53
3.17	Per-node energy consumption: <i>Periodic</i> application under (left)	- 4
	contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A. while $N = 24$	54

3.18	Information delay: <i>Periodic</i> application while varying traffic parameters $(N = 24)$ under (left) contention, and (right) schedule based B.A.	54
3.19	Per-node energy consumption: $Event-driven$ application under (left)	54
3.20	contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A. while $N = 24$ Information delay: <i>Event-driven</i> application while varying traffic param-	54
3.21	eters $(N = 24)$ under (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A Per-node energy-delay trade-off of event-driven application in (left)	55
3.22	contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A. while $N = 24$	$55 \\ 57$
3.23	The survival function of packet interarrival time on the gateway side:	57
2 94	The survival function of peoplet interarrival time on the setencer side. Line	57
3.24	The survival function of packet interarrival time on the gateway side. Line	57
3.20	The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status: Crossroad	58
3.20	The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status. Crossroad	58
3.21	The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status. Line	58
3 29	The lifetime of parking sensors while $s_{D} = 0.1s$ and battery capacity	00
0.20	6.3Ah: Crossroad	58
3 30	The lifetime of parking sensors while $s_{D} = 0.1s$ and battery capacity	00
0.00	6.3Ah: Line	58
3.31	The lifetime of parking sensors while $s_D = 0.1s$ and battery capacity	00
	6.3Ah: Mesh	58
3.32	Parking Map with 120 parking sensors	60
3.33	Per-node consumed energy and delay of event-driven application under	
	(left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A.	60
3.34	Best configuration versus vehicle activity and network density	62
4.1	Smart parking information flow	64
4.2	The deployment of SFpark[1]	66
4.3	An example of a multi-hop network	70
4.4	An example of the variables for the multi-hop network in Fig 4.3	70
4.5	Map 1 – Lyon on-street parking map between Place Bellecour and Place	
	Carnot. The red dots indicate the selected intersections to install WMIs	71
4.6	Map 2 – Lyon on-street parking map between Place Terreaux and Place	
	Bellecour. The red dots indicate the selected intersections to install WMIs.	72
4.7	Total sensor energy consumption (sensor's lifetime) v.s. the amount of	
	deployed WMIs (cost)	73
4.8	Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs	
	(cost) in map $1 \ldots $	74
4.9	Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs	
	$(\cos t) \text{ in map } 2 \dots \dots$	74
4.10	Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs	
	(cost) under the best (100%), the average $(80\%)$ and the worst $(50\%)$	
	cases for sensor lifetime in map 1	74

4.11	Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs (cost) under the best $(100\%)$ , the average $(80\%)$ and the worst $(50\%)$	
4.12	cases for sensor lifetime in map 2	74
4.13	is the cost of the extra WMIs (extra cost)	75 75
5.1	Illustration of SCAMP's three-layered system architecture	82
5.2	Publish-Subscribe service architecture	83
5.3	An example of driver's subscription (left) and RSI's publication (right). $\ .$	83
5.4	Illustration of a on-street parking segment with two gaps $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	84
5.5	(a) Examples of matching results (b) Spatial partitions of a querying area	07
5.6	to evaluate if the matching result is good	- 87 - 00
5.0 5.7	SCAMP parameters v.s. the ratio of transmissions to subscriptions in an	90
0.1	area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$	91
5.8	SCAMP parameters v.s. the ratio of transmissions to subscriptions in an	
	area of $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$	91
5.9	SCAMP parameters v.s. parking search time in an area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ .	91
5.10	SCAMP parameters v.s. parking search time in an area of $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ .	91
5.12	SCAMP parameters v.s. parking distance in an area of $3.0x^3.0 \text{ km}^2$	91
5.13	Amount of transmissions v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an	51
0.10	area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$	92
5.14	Amount of transmissions v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an	
	area of $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$	92
5.15	Occupancy rate of 36 parking spaces with different grid lengths with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$	92
5.16	Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces with different grid lengths with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	92
5.17	Parking search time v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$	93
5.18	Parking search time v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of $3.0x3.0 \text{ km}^2$	93
5.19	Distance to destination v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$	93
5.20	Distance to destination v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an	50
	area of $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$	93
5.21	Successful ratio of finding parking with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of $12, 12, 1, 2$	0.0
5 99	1.2X1.2 Km <sup>-</sup>	93
0.22	Succession ratio of midling parking with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of $3.0 \text{x} 3.0 \text{ km}^2$	93

5.23 5.24	Transmitted packets via Geocast in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots \dots$ Transmitted packets via SCAMP in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots \dots$		94 94	ł
5.25	Matching times per machine in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$	•	95	)
5.26	Transmitted packets via mobile network in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots$	·	95	)
5.27	Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots$	•	96	;
5.28	Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots \dots$	·	96	;
5.29	Required time to find a parking place in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2 \dots \dots$	·	96	)
5.30	Distance from parking to destination in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$	•	96	j
6.1	The timeline of a driver while travelling to a destination: (a) without parking worry (b) including parking search time with the aid of Publish-Subscribe service		05	2
62	Illustration of Publish-Subscribe service supporting by moving vehicles	•	90	,
0.2	and roadside infrastructure		103	ł
63	Mobility models: (a) Synthetic with geographic-restricted pathloss (b)	•	100	'
0.0	Real vehicular trace with free space path loss		104	ŀ
6.4	Dynamic environment simulation diagram		104	ł
6.5	Distance from parking to destination in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ via Geocast		-	
	with different participation rates		105	; )
6.6	Distance from parking to destination in an area of 3x3 km <sup>2</sup> via SCAMP			
	with different participation rates		105	, )
6.7	Required time to find a parking place in an area of $3\mathrm{x}3~\mathrm{km}^2$ via Geocast			
	with different participation rates		105	; )
6.8	Required time to find a parking place in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ via SCAMP			
	with different participation rates	•	105	)
6.9	Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ via Geocast with			
	different participation rates	•	106	;
6.10	Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of 3x3 km <sup>2</sup> via SCAMP with			
	different participation rates	•	106	j
6.11	Occupancy rate of 100 parking places in an area of 3x3 km <sup>2</sup> via Geocast		1.0.0	
0.10	with different participation rates	•	100	)
6.12	Occupancy rate of 100 parking places in an area of 3x3 km <sup>2</sup> via SCAMP		100	,
6 1 9	An example of heterogeneous external	•	100	) 7
0.13	An overview of heterogeneous network	•	107	
0.14	Required time to find a parking place via heterogeneous networks in an area of $2r^2 \text{ km}^2$		100	>
6 15	Distance from parking to destination via betargraphic activerity in an	•	100	,
0.15	Distance from parking to destination via heterogeneous networks in an area of $2x^2 \text{ km}^2$		100	2
6 16	Successful ratio of finding parking via hotorogeneous networks in an area	•	100	,
0.10	of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$		100	)
6 17	Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces via heterogeneous networks in an	•	TOS	'
0.11	area of $3x3 \text{ km}^2$		109	)

# List of Tables

2.1	Different types of parking detection sensors	14
2.2	Smart Parking solution for information collection	15
2.3	Smart Parking solution for system deployment	19
2.4	Smart Parking City Projects	22
2.5	Smart Parking solution for service dissemination	27
3.1	Simulation parameters for contention-, schedule-based, and hybrid band- width allocation methods	50
4.1	Variable index for deployment constraints	67
$5.1 \\ 5.2$	Action sets of forwarding, replying and querying	87 89
6.1	Incomplete Information parking game: driver $i$ versus parking place $j$	102

### Part I

# Smart Parking solutions: An Introduction

#### 1.1 Motivation

As the urban population is increasing it brings the economic growth and the denser urban mobility. The first to be affected is the traffic. "30% of traffic jam is caused by vehicles cruising for parking" [2] is the most favorite citation while talking about traffic problem. A huge percentage of cruising drivers are either tourists or thrifty persons. Tourists are usually unfamiliar with their travelling cities. They can only search parking by their eyes and probably some limited information, such as parking signs. Thrifty persons prefer to look for free or cheap on-street parking places. They often drive slowly around their destinations until they find one parking place.

Gantelet *et al.* [3] provide some interesting parking facts in France. Shockingly, 100% of Parisien drivers and 67% of Lyonnais drivers ever abandoned their trips due to the annoying and endless parking search. For the rest who found their parking spaces, they might park their cars in unauthorized areas. Such a wilful parking behavior may stop other vehicles and frequently provoke traffic accidents. If we sum up all the wasted hours of parking search, there are at least 400 hours per day in city commerce district. If we convert those hours into fuel consumption,  $CO_2$  emission, and the economical effect, the parking search is very expensive whatever from the personal, public or environmental viewpoints.

Belloche [4] studied the survey-based data in 10 different on-street parking areas in Lyon in order to model parking search time. It shows that congestion ratio is more relevant to calculate parking search time than parking occupancy rate. Turnover rate is certainly a promising factor as well since it correlates with parking policy. When congestion ratio is high, there are more potential parking competitors and cars move more slowly. If static or electronic parking sign is unclear or out of order, the traffic will be even more messy. Logically speaking, a hidden problem is never be shown in the survey but we all experienced it. That is we never see an extremely long parking search time from official statistics because they are not recorded by parking payment system. Most drivers choose to give up their trip or find an alternative transportation after spending a long period but finding nothing.

According to the above, if drivers can have the information of real-time parking availability, they will be able to adjust their travelling schedule without spending time cruising the city in vain. Many cities have been starting smart parking projects. Smart parking is a way to help drivers find satisfied parking places efficiently through

*information and communications technology*, especially for on-street parking. The initial idea of smart parking was proposed at least ten years ago, yet its development starts to flourish these five years. That is thanks to smartphone, many users can connect to Internet and search for information of traffic, transport, traveling, restaurant and accommodation anytime and anywhere.

In addition, cities deploy smart parking service on the basis of economical consideration. First, drivers can shorten the parking search time, reduce environmental pollution, consume less petrol and alleviate traffic congestion through the information from smart parking app. If drivers know there is no parking place around their destinations, they can also choose public transport. That increases the use rate of city facility and the city's revenue as well. Second, if drivers can find parking fast, the idle time of on-street parking is shorter and the parking revenue increases. Besides, installing sensors in frequent parked but unauthorized areas can detect illegal parking cars and get a penalty charge. Tahon *et al.* [5] gave a prediction figure in the city center of Ghent from 2010 to 2016. If a smart parking system is deployed, city's income from parking tickets and fines is in fact 10 times higher than the deployment cost. Similarly, the availability of electric vehicle and disabled parking stalls can also be highlighted for specific group of users. Third, once the traffic is fluent, it increases urban mobility and expand capacity of city. It also brings more population, activities and business opportunities.

Although there many deployment projets and apps, still very few drivers can really benefit from smart parking. For example, Nice is the first French city where a smart parking project was launched on 2012, named NICE PARK. Ten thousand sensors are planed to install in thirteen different parking areas. One smartphone app is developed so that drivers can check the information of parking availability from their phones. Parking sensors are connected to nearby multi-service parking meters. For those who do not own a smartphone, they can pay their parking places, get current parking availability in the city, and obtain information of tourism or public transport simply by multi-service parking meters. The deployment cost is estimated to be between 13 and 15 million euros. However, if we look at the users' comments on Appstore and Google Play, most of them are not satisfied at all, and even angry. Undoubtedly, the initiative of the project is good. But this technology still has to be improved from different perspectives:

- The robustness of sensor devices Sensor devices are embedded systems which process sensed data into useful information and always evaluate their own health status, i.e., lifetime or malfunction, in order to inform system administration if there is any problem.
- The stability and timeliness of sensor networks The sensed information on sensor devices has to be collected in storage, for example, parking meter, roadside infrastructure or central server. Hence, sensors are usually networked. When there are a lot of sensor devices, the spectrum is often limited and a transmission scheduling is needed. When a vehicle parks on sensor, it might block the radio communication and status change will not be broadcasted. The smart parking projects in San

Francisco and Los Angeles are both dedicated to shorten information transmission delay, i.e., 85% of events are received within 60 seconds.

- The quality and agility of city service Smart parking system uses the sensed information to offer real-time parking information, named parking service, to drivers. The system has to manage all the parking ressource, maintenance and payment. It has to efficiently filter parking information through driver's interest and to deliver the most useful information to driver. If driver's interest is not well defined, the system shall be able to adapt it and still provide a minimal level of service quality.
- The user-centric information dissemination Currently all the smart parking apps provide the same information to all drivers. It happens often that there are more than two drivers chasing the same parking place. That is because the real-time parking availability data is useful only when the driver is very close to the parking location, said by Rajabioun *et al.* [6]. To avoid this problem, the information shall be diffused to drivers considering their mobility and location.

Moreover, the smart parking deployment intends to deploy many sensors in the cities and overcome current sensor management problems. It can become a leading paradigm of smart cities and its extension [7]. The work presented in this thesis sheds light on the deployment of smart parking system, with respect to sensor and service deployments. We review its main contributions in Section 1.2 and its organisation in Section 1.3.

#### 1.2 Contribution

The main contribution of this thesis are resumed below:

- Taxonomy of key findings of previous smart parking researchs. We synthesize the global features of smart parking research obtained from previous works, studying or implementing different phases of parking problems. We then provide an overview and a taxonomy of the current smart parking research, concerning information sensing, service deployment and information dissemination. We also provide the information about the deployed network scale and the costs of some municipal projects. In addition, a detailed table, with respect to the taxonomy, is provided to describe the placement of smart parking research directions.
- Evaluation of relevant bandwidth allocation methods under different urban topologies in wireless parking sensor networks. We present the current feasible network infrastructure of parking sensor and then studies the vehicle inter-arrival and inter-departure times, following the heavy-tailed distribution, i.e., Weibull. These shape and scale parameters are gathered from the realistic deployments in Santander, Spain. By applying the traffic parameters, we compare the performance of two off-the-shelf bandwidth allocations and two of their hybrid version in three different kinds of urban topologies, i.e., crossroad, line and mesh. An engineering guideline is then given and can lead to important energy savings and shorten information delay while deploying wireless parking sensor networks.

- Optimal deployment of urban roadside infrastructure to reveal the relationship between the cost and the network performance. We formulate multi-hop networks according to multiple objectives, for example, network latency, energy consumption, deployment cost and sensor coverage. To examine our equations, we apply the maps of two Lyonnais areas and compare their impacts on our constraints. We indicate the trade-offs between the cost and the network delay and show the optimal results normally vary with the clustering features of city maps.
- Proposal of an extended Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm considering the quality of matched information to support smart parking service. We introduce a content-based Publish-Subscribe service architecture and propose a message processing threshold based on the quality of the matched information. To test our model, we construct a dynamically moving environment. We first do the parameterization to choose the most suitable configuration. Then we evaluate it with respect to different amount of roadside infrastructure, i.e., grid size, and different ratio of parking demand to supply. The amount of transmission is also shown to see the network load. Even the service outperforms much better in mobile network than in vehicular network, our model can still improve the service spreading in vehicular network comparing with the pure Publish-Subscribe service.
- Formulation of an on-street parking game. We describe an on-street parking game by using drivers' parking choices, location and the amount of competitors. We also reveal the utility function of parking places from the viewpoints of drivers and city. Drivers' utility function is principally determined by their geo-location and the amount of competitors. However, from the municipality's viewpoint, if there are at least one competitor, namely more drivers know the parking place is available, the city has more chance to issue a parking ticket and increase parking revenue.
- Analysis of drivers' impact on parking information dissemination on heterogenous networks. We undertake the model we proposed in Chapter 5 and assess its robustness and resilience. We evaluate the user participation rate to see how the system reacts. Then we try to adapt our model in the heterogenous and give a trade-off of the percentage of network traffic between vehicular network and mobile network.

#### 1.3 Organisation

This thesis is divided into seven chapters, forming four parts as follows:

First part of this thesis makes a survey of the smart parking research and implementations. It is divided into two chapters. In this chapter, we began with an introduction to the current problematic parking search. We introduce the motivation of our work and the concept of smart parking. We also remark the bottlenecks of the current parking system and then bring out our contributions. points. We cover global features of smart parking research. We start by presenting an overview of smart parking technologies and its architecture, which allows us to explain how the parking information is collected, processed and then distributed to drivers. We then discuss all the related works on information sensing, service deployment and information dissemination in order to explain the context and the technologies we employ throughout this thesis. In the end, we provide a taxonomy with a detailed table to outline the existing research placement.

The second part focuses on the Network Perspectives on Urban Sensing, and the third part, the Network Solutions on Urban Service. They are dedicated to our contributions with complementary empirical and experimental studies. We organize the second parts into two chapters: Network protocols and deployment respectively to aim at the performance of parking sensor networks.

Chapter 3 begins by the multi-hop network architecture while deploying parking sensors in urban areas, and how the network is formed by routing protocol. We then introduce the traffic intensity models by looking at the vehicle's arrival and departure probability, following the heavy-tailed distribution. We take the parameters from a real parking sensor network and evaluate them with different variations under two off-the-shelf medium access control (MAC) protocols. We test four different MAC protocols and different urban topologies with respect to the heavy-tailed traffic model. After that, we give an engineering insight and summarize the relationship between the topologies and the MAC protocols.

Chapter 4 studies and introduces the deployment strategy of wireless on-street parking sensor networks. We define a multiple-objective problem with four objectives, and solve them with two real street parking maps. We present the results on the trade- off between minimum energy consumption, sensing information delay and the amount of deployed mesh routers and Internet gateways. The deployed mesh routers and gateways are the main cost, and the gateway is much more expensive than the mesh router [5]. Thus, these results can be seen as a good guideline for designing and deploying roadside unit, to provide smart parking services to urban users. We also analyze these trade-offs to see how the different maps affect the optimal solutions.

In turn, the third part is divided into two chapters. We shed light on an informationoriented service exploitation in dynamically moving networks. We propose an extended Publish-Subscribe service and discuss how its dissemination method can be impacted by the network in the two following chapters.

Chapter 5 is dedicated to the presentation of the content-based Publish-Subscribe service system. We illustrate the system with a vehicular network and point out the importance of content and context. A message filtering is then proposed to match the parking information with users' interests. We propose an information, message and context to suggest each network device to make their own decisions of actions. We parameterize our analyzer to find the most suitable for our adopting network, and evaluate its performance with respect to the pure Publish-Subscribe service. Last, we also compare its satisfication of users with the current mobile network.

Chapter 6 undertakes the extended Publish-Subscribe model, proposed in Chapter 5, and evaluate it under different unforeseen circumstances. We begin with the formulation of on-street parking game. Next, we evaluate the system with a variable user participation rate, showing that the system can downgrade to one-hop communication. Then we also propose an offloading trade-off while the mobile network is too busy. Also, the information can be only disseminated to local drivers in vehicular network which lowers the parking conflicts.

The last part of this thesis, Now and the Future of Smart Parking, draws some conclusions from our work. We also give our vision and some possible research directions in the near future.

# CHAPTER 2 A Taxonomy of Smart Parking Solutions

#### 2.1 Overview of the research field

Parking have been the pain of all drivers and emerged as the research and industrial fields. Smart parking seems to be a feasible solution for our cities which integrates the knowledge from different disciplines. The technology for sensor and service deployments has been matured with a densification of large-scale deployment all over the word. We sketch the evolution of smart parking in Section 2.1.1 and reveal the provoking research directions. In Section 2.1.2, we propose a classification of the existing smart parking solutions and explain their corresponding disciplines. Finally, we outline the organisation of this survey in Section 2.1.3.

#### 2.1.1 Causes of evolution

Since smart parking is proposed as the first solution to ease the increasing traffic congestion [8], many researchers and cities have been starting the service deployment according to different perspectives. An essential smart parking service includes two flows: information and traffic. The traffic flow happens on the pathway to find parking. Shown in the azure lower triangle in Fig. 2.1, normally, vehicle drivers receive parking availability information, steer to their desired parking areas and then park. On the basis of city infrastructure and communication technology, drivers might only get partial or outdated information and would have to repeat the parking search until they get one. When there are many drivers looking for parking, a competition occurs and results in cumulative parking conflicts. The parking behavior also varies considering the information that drivers have and how long they are cruising on the street. Once a vehicle arrives in or departs from a parking place, the parking availability information changes and has to be advertised to vehicle drivers looking for parking places. The information flow is shown in the upper pink triangle in Fig. 2.1. In order to get the occupancy status of parking places, fixed or mobile sensors are installed on street parking to detect vehicular events. Sensors then form a network and send the latest information to data storage devices. Drivers can obtain the latest information from variable message signs (VMS) or their handheld smart devices, which exchange messages with roadside infrastructure (RSI) or base transceiver stations (BTS).

Although there are many deployment projets and apps, still very few drivers can really benefit from smart parking. SFpark (San Francisco) and LA Express Park (Los Angeles)



Figure 2.1: Smart Parking overview

are two most famous successful stories while talking about smart parking. But if we tried to deploy the same system in another city, it is always essential to make a preliminary test, choose the most suitable technology and then adjust the system according to the city street layout and inhabitants' habits. For example, Nice is the first French city where a smart parking project was launched in 2012, named NICE PARK. Ten thousand sensors are planed to install in thirteen different parking areas. One smartphone app is developed so that drivers can check the information of parking availability from their phones. Parking sensors are connected to nearby multi-service parking meters. For those who do not own a smartphone, they can pay their parking places, get current parking availability in the city, and obtain information of tourism or public transport simply by multi-service parking meters. The deployment cost is estimated to be between 13 and 15 million euros. However, if we look at the users' comments on Appstore and Google Play, most of them are not satisfied at all, and even angry. Undoubtedly, the initiative of the project is good. But this technology still has to be improved from different perspectives:

- The robustness of sensor devices Sensor devices are embedded systems which process sensed data into useful information and always evaluate their own health status, i.e., lifetime or malfunction, in order to inform system administration of any problem.
- The stability and timeliness of sensor networks The sensed information on sensor devices has to be collected in storage, for example, parking meter, roadside infrastructure or central server. Hence, sensors are usually networked. When there are a lot of sensor devices, the spectrum is often limited and a transmission scheduling is needed. When a vehicle parks on a sensor-equipped parking place, it might block the radio communication and the status change will not be broadcasted. The smart parking projects in San Francisco and Los Angeles are both dedicated to shorten information transmission delay, i.e., 85% of events are received within 60 seconds.
- The quality and agility of city service Smart parking system uses the sensed information to offer real-time parking information, named parking service, to drivers. The system has to manage all the parking ressource, maintenance and payment. It has to efficiently filter parking information through drivers' interests and to deliver the most useful information to drivers. If driver's interest is not well defined, the system shall be able to adapt it and still provide a minimal level of service quality.
- The user-centric information dissemination and assignment Currently all the smart parking apps provide the same information to all drivers. It happens often that more than two drivers chase the same parking place. That is because the real-time parking availability data is useful only when the driver is very close to the parking location, said by Rajabioun *et al.* [6]. To avoid this problem, the information shall be diffused to drivers considering their mobility and location.
- Uncertainty of drivers' behaviors and traveling traces Drivers' information is essential to the parking system. A driver's behavior is strongly related to the information that (s)he has, personal preferences and the city street layout. Before getting the data of drivers, the drivers' behavors can only obtained from payment information or questionnaires. Thanks to the deployment of sensors in cities, scientists will start to analyze the measured data and re-produce them in a large-scale simulation.

Considering all the key factors identified above, the research of smart parking appears promising and beneficial to sustainable development of cities. The survey summarizing existing works will evolve into an useful engineering guideline in this transdisciplinary domain.

#### 2.1.2 Literature classification

The literature on smart parking solution is very diversified. It not only balances land use and traffic, but also interfaces between inhabitants and urban resources. Parking



Figure 2.2: Proposed categories of smart city solutions and the spectrum of disciplines related to topics.

sensors collect information of inhabitants and store them in data center. Parking system analyzes the collected information and represents them to inhabitants to influence their traveling habits and decisions. City can hence reform its users by adjusting parking policy and the way to present information.

Harmonizing the relevant works in transdisciplinarity is not trivial. We finally decide to categorize them by their functionalities. The general outline of proposed classification is in Fig. 2.2. At the top level, we identify three macro-themes according the goals of the research fields: they manage information collection, system deployment and service dissemination. Within each macro-theme, a tree of sub-topics is germinated and developed. Next, we give an overview of the three macro-themes with all the topics addressed in our classification.

Information collection takes a technical overview on all the existing sensing techniques to identify status of parking places. Two major research focuses are on the identification and transmission of vehicular information. The former involves various stationary and mobile sensors, including their detection methods and installation. The latter explains how sensors and city infrastructure collaborate together to gather information efficiently.

System deployment deals with the exploitation of software system and statistical analysis of collected data. Software generally involves with E-Parking, reservation, guidance and a monitoring information for administration or often users. Then with the collected data, an analysis is often performed by data scientists to study the behavoirs of drivers in order to improve the system performance and also help the municipality make a better urban planning.

Service dissemination investigates the relationship between the information and social features. Three major research focuses are information dissemination, parking

competition and parking behavior. Information dissemination is mainly related to the communications techniques between vehicles and information. The municipality can choose where and how to install urban infrastructure according to city's planning and budget. Parking competition always happens when more than two drivers contend the same parking place. With the information-assisted smart parking service, the decision of drivers is even more complicated to predict. Last, we also show some studies on parking behaviors which might be useful while designing a smart parking system.

The classification in Fig. 2.2 shows that all the sub-themes involve at least two disciplines by their nature. We can remark that smart parking research contributes highly on different interdisciplines and attracts a variety of participation on urban development.

#### 2.1.3 Survey organisation

As previous mentioned, we introduce the smart parking solution on three different themes. We first start by explaining how to obtain parking information from different networked sensors in Section 2.2. Information collection is an important step to visualize vehicle's activities. It is also a converter between traffic and information flows. We discuss all the different sensors in Section 2.2.1 and the required network to gather their sensed information in Section 2.2.2. Parking meter is often the most important component of user interface. We also introduce some patents of parking meters in Section 2.2.3. For companies or academic projects, the deployment of large-scale sensor network is costly. Hence, we also introduce the crowdsensing method using in smart parking applications in Section 2.2.4.

Then, we introduce how to deploy smart parking service system considering different service types, for example, payment, monitoring, reservation, guidance, and information presentation, in Section 2.3. We start by the software system in Section 2.3.1. Drivers cannot only be guided or advised by smart parking system, but also reserve or pay their parking spaces through Internet. Then, we investigate the exisiting large-scale deployment projects and compare them with the technologies mentioned in Section 2.2 to see how cities adopt their smart parking solutions 2.3.2. To provide good quality of information and even to apply a better parking policy, the data analysis is often a must, like information aggregation and prediction. Section 2.3.3 presents some forecasting methods used in the current literature.

After that, we discuss how to how to spread information and the side effects in Section 2.4. The section often provokes the social analysis since the human activities are often difficult to capture and estimate precisely in the complicated real life with multiple information. Information dissemination is the first key point to influence traffic flow by information system. In Section 2.4.1, we show different information spreading ways according to city's infrastructure and sensor's transceiver modules. Drivers' mobility is also affected by the new information-assisted parking search. To improve parking occupancy and drivers' satisfaction, parking competition and driver's behavior are two major research themes. We present the current works on parking competitions in Section 2.4.2. Some methods are proposed to ease drivers' conflits. Section 2.4.2 is often linked with historical data mentioned in Section 2.3.3 depending if drivers have complete or incomplete information of the system. Later, we show some works on drivers' parking behaviors in Section 2.4.3.

Finally, we give a general overview on three different themes and conclude our works in Section 2.5. We also provide our insights and some perspectives on our contributions and the vast literature.

#### 2.2 Parking information collection

Here, we introduce different types of sensors and the ways to deploy them. We also present some works on the network of sensors. Additionally, we reveal the detection manner of crowdsensing. More and more smart parking apps try to gather parking information without deploying thousands of sensors in urban areas.

#### 2.2.1 Information sensing

Information sensing relies on sensors to collect the real-time parking availability information. Two types of collection methods are stationary and mobile. The former is to instinctively add the sensing abilibity on parking places. When the occupancy status changes, sensor can detect vehicle presence or absence and update the information in a short time, e.g., SFpark [9] in San Francisco allows that 85% of events are received within 60 seconds with its large-scale roadside parking sensor networks. The latter is to take advantage of vehicle's mobility to collect information along the route with fewer sensors. Mobile sensor can detect the occupancy status when it passes through the parking place. so the information might be updated for a long while, e.g., ParkNet [10-12] also in San Francisco. In ParkNet, taxi cabs collect data from GPS receiver and ultrasonic sensors and then transmit it over a cellular uplink to the central server. Such a mobile parking sensor system requires much less installation, yet needs a longer average inter-polling time, to wit, 25 minutes for 80% of the cells in business downtown area with 300 cabs. Several potential positions for installing sensors are shown in the bottom left circle in Fig. 2.1. Different sensors have distinct manners to detect vehicle presence. Table 2.1 gives a general idea of different types of sensors, and we explain them in detail as below.

Passive infrared sensor receives heat radiated from the human body and are often used collaboratively with other sensors [15; 16] to know if a driver parks and gets off his/her car. Active infrared sensor measures the distance to any obstacle in front [13; 17–22]. Infrared sensor is very sensitive to the sun and any kind of environmental object, so that the sensing accuracy is not so good. Similar to infrared sensor, ultrasonic sensor uses sound instead of light for ranging and works better in outdoor environments. Ultrasonic sensor provides a more complex signal pattern with a possibility of multiple detection in fixed [22; 33–35] or mobile [11; 62–64] scenarios. Accelerator measures the instantaneous ground vibrations. Since vehicles are usually the heaviest objects on the street, accelerator can infer that a vehicle comes and park, with the aid of other

		Table 2.11 Difference of per of parining	~~~		0101	- ~ ~						
	$N^{o}$	Sensors	IV	F	ΕI	SS	Р	IS	CT	А	С	MD
	$1^{a}, 1^{p}$	Active <sup><math>a</math></sup> /passive <sup><math>p</math></sup> infrared [13–22]						*		**	*	
	2	Accelerator [23]			$\checkmark$			*		*	*	
	3	Magnetometer [9; 15–17; 22; 24–32]	$\checkmark$					**		***	**	
×	4	Ultrasonic [17; 22; 33–35]						*		***	*	
ıar	5	Camera [36–48]						*		**	***	
ior	6	Acoustic [22; 49]						*		*	***	
tat	7	Optical [22; 23; 50–54]						*		**	*	
ò	8	Inductive loop [35; 55]						***		***	*	
	9	Piezoelectric sensor [14]						***	$\checkmark$	***	* * **	
	10	RFID [30; 56–59], iButton [60]						**		***	**	
	11	Radar [61]						*		***	***	
Ð	12	Ultrasonic [11; 62–64]						*		***	*	
bil	13	Laser rangefinder [65; 66]						*		***	***	
do'	14	Smartphone (GPS, human, microphone, Bluetooth [67],		. /	. /	. /	. /	_		_	_	./
~		Wifi [68], accelerator [69–71], magnetometer [72],		ν	v	v	ν	-		-	-	V
		QR code [73]) [74–80]										
	15	Camera (on robot) [81]						*		*	* * **	

Table 2.1: Different types of parking detection sensors.

† IV: intrusive; F: flexible; EI: environmental impact; SS: small size; P: privacy; IS: installation; CT: contact; A: accuracy; C: cost; MD: multiple detection

sensors, e.g., optical sensor [23], which detects the change in light. Optical sensor must be installed where the light can be obscured by a parked vehicle [22; 50–54]. However, the optical sensor is vulnerable to any light source and transient staying objects, so its accuracy is still questionable.

Magnetometer is so far the most common stationary parking detection sensors, especially for municipal deployment [9; 24–26; 51; 91–93]. It measures the current magnetic fields and detects the arrival of huge metal objects. Its signal pattern is easy to read and precise but cannot support multiple detection. It is also more expensive than the above mentioned sensors. Alternatively, [32] installed magnetometers along the driving pathway and compared the different counts between any two adjacent sensors to know roughly how many vehicles are parked between them.

Camera [36–39; 39–46; 48] and acoustic sensors [22; 49] provide a much more complicated signal pattern than ultrasonic. Both of them require image and sonar processing in order to extract the desired information from the background noise. Nevertheless, they have fastened certain research interests because of some extra information, concerning criminal scenes or personal privacy, might be retrieved from them.

Inductive loop and piezoelectric sensor are both contactive and installed on road surface. Inductive loop is a mature technology and widely used for traffic surveillance. It simply detects if a vehicle is passing [35; 55]. Piezoelectric sensor is similar to inductive loop but able to read more information from the pressure exerted on it [14]. Such kind of contact sensor requires an intrusive installation and are easy to be worn-out because of the frequent use.

RFID is often proposed in smart parking payment solution thanks to its identification tag. As the popularity of electronic toll collection (ETC), many vehicles,

Table 2.2: Smart Parking solution for information collection

1	Defense	Info source		Deployment		Storage				Servi	ce		Parl	cing g	Network		
	Reference	Type	S/P	NetS	NetU	С	$D: \frac{s}{n}$	D:I	AU	BC	EP	Rsv	UB	SG	PD	NP	OT
<u> </u>	B Zhang [45]	5	1/6	_							1		Î			1	
	U-Park [15]	1123	2/2	802 15 4		_	_	_	-	-	-	_	_	_	_	_	-
	Männi [16]	$1^{P}$ 3		802.15.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Z Zhang [27: 82]	3	82/82	802.15.4	-	./	_	-	-	MS	- V	- V	-	-	-	_	-
gu	Abdullah [57]	10		802.15.4	-	V	_	-	-	MS	-	_	-	-	-	_	LT
nsi	PGS [29]	3	*/10	802.15.4	-	V	-	-	Pois(1)	MS	-	-	-	-	-	1/	LT
sej	W. Zhao [30]	3.10	$(40/40) \cdot 2$	802.15.4	Wifi.CN	v	-	-	-	MS	-	-	-	-	-	Ň	
¤	Kianpisheh [35]	4.8	100/100	CB	-	v	-	-	-	MS	-	1/	-	-	-	-	-
tio	Chinrungrueng 53	7	$\frac{2}{2}$	WSN	Wifi.CN	v	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
1a1	Boda 32	3	11/72	-	-	V	-	-	171-183	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
rn	Sevillano 39	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
lfc	Nguyen [46]	5	-	-	-		-	-	< 5K	-	-	-	-	-	Ň	-	-
I	COINS [48]	5	-	cable	-	Ň	-	-	-	MS	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	SmartSpaces [17]	$1_{a}, 3, 4$	*/36	RF,Wifi	-	Ň	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Na [49]	5,6	35/35	802.15.4	-	Ň	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Lee [22]	$1^{a}-7$	-	802.15.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	LQ
Ē	Benson [83: 84]	3	5/5	nBF24L01	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1/	LΩ
7	Urdiain [18]	$1^{a}$	10/10	nRF24L01	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ň	
S	Bagula [58; 59]	4,10	13/*	802.15.4,CB	-	v	-	-	-	MS	-	1	-	-	-	Ň	-
≥	Lin [85-87]	3	*/12-120	802.15.4	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ň	-
	W. Chen 88	3	-	WSN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	Ň	-
i i	ParkSense [68]	14	_	CN	_	./	_	_	_	_	-	1 _	_	_	_	_	
	UPDetector [80]	14	-	Wifi.CN	-	- V	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
60	Villanueva [72]	14	-	Wifi,CN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
sir	VeLoc [70]	14	4/445	Wifi,CN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
en	Rinne 74	14	*/138 areas	Wifi,C	N		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
$^{\rm qs}$	X. Chen [75-77]	14	*/810	Wifi,C	CN	-	-	-	1K	-	-	-		-	-	-	-
MC	iPark (Yang) [78]	14	-	Wifi,C	CN		-	-	1G	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ð	PocketParker 69	14	105/*	Wifi,C	CN	Ň	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
Ĩ	Kifle [89]	14	*/ 6 zones	Wifi,C	CN	Ż	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	ParkJam [79]	14	-	Wifi,C	CN	Ń	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
	Coric 62	12	-	Wifi,C	CN		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	TruCentive 90	14	-	Wifi,C	CN		-	-	131	-				GT	-	-	-

†In the Type column: the type id is referred to Table 2.1.
†In the Info source coumns: S/P is the ratio of sensors to parking places.
†In the Deployment columns: NetS is the network of sensors. NetU is network of users (CN: cellular network; CB: cable; BT:

†In the Deployment columns: NetS is the network of sensors. NetU is network of users (CN: cellular network; CB: cable; BT: PLC: power-line communication).
†In the Storage columns: C is centralized. D is distributed (S/V/I: sensor/vehicle/infrastructure).
†In the Service columns: AU is amount of service users (Pois: poisson - unit: vehicles/minute), BC is broadcast (MS: variable message sign, VNT: vehicular network), EP is E-Parking (namely drivers can find parking through telephone or internet). RSV: reservation.
†In the Parking game columns: UB is user behavior, SG is strategy (GT: game theory).
†In the Network columns: NP is network protocol, OT is others (LT: lifetime; SC: security; AG: aggregation; LQ: link quality; FW: framework; SA: search algorithm).

equipped with RFID tags, can be detected by RFID readers installed on parking places [30; 56–59]. Laser rangefinder is often used to build a 3D map, especially for robot's perception. Laser rangefinder, normally installed on the top of vehicle, emits a laser beam and calculates the time of flight to measure the distances from different objects in order to know if there are parked vehicles [65]. Intelligent robots cruising on the street can also be used to recognize available parking places using camera [81].

Mobile crowdsensing via smartphone is the most economical way to obtain parking availability information from drivers themselves [74; 76–78]. However, it yields privacy issues if a smartphone automatically collects data from users according to his/her movement [69–71], Bluetooth connection [67], WiFi signature [68], 3D compass [72] or all of them [80], and then updates it in a public database. If users can choose to contribute information on mobile applications or not, the system will be sensitive to free-riders [75] and selfish liars [79; 94; 95]. QR codes might be installed on parking spaces and help drivers to identify and pay their parking places [73]. When a driver ends a parking session, the system will announce that this parking place is now available to drivers looking for parking. However, this system cannot control if drivers do pay their parking places since QR codes cannot detect the presence of vehicles.

#### 2.2.2 Wireless sensor network (WSN)

Once networked sensors are installed on parking places, they can form a network to send out their messages. Two typical communication methods are short-range, such as 802.11ah, low-power WiFi or Zigbee. and long-range, like Sigfox or LoRa. The longrange communication benefits from the existing radio access network and can communicate with infrastructure anytime and anywhere. Short-range communication is often implemented by WSN where messages have to be re-transmitted several times via relays, for example, parking meters or other sensors, until they reach city infrastructure. The studies on WSN have been germinating since several years. But few of them have been evaluated in a urban parking context considering the constraints of lifetime, information delay and wireless link quality. Urdiain et al. [18] tested the LEACH<sup>1</sup> routing protocol on the Arduino platform<sup>2</sup> which is used as the parking sensor. Benson *et al.* [83; 84] used the DSYS25<sup>3</sup> sensing node to experience the packet delivery rate with parked vehicles. If either sender or receiver is covered by parked cars, communication reliability in the range of 0 to 5 meters is good. If sender and receiver are both covered by parked cars, no communication is possible. Karbab et al. [59] implemented a car park management system and compare the energy and cost efficiencies while deploying a WSN and serial connection. Bagula et al. [58] formulated the optimal placement of ultrasonic sensors in smart parking as an integer linear programming multi-objective problem. W. Chen et al. [88] adopted a smart energy-efficient sensor. While increasing the amount of sensor nodes, the authors showed that the smart sensor can consume fewer energy in a larger network scale. Lin et al. [87] also formulated the optimal placement of city

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>nms.lcs.mit.edu/projects/leach$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>www.arduino.cc

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>www.ucc.ie/en/media/research/misl/2004publications/sensys04barroso.pdf

infrastructure as a multiple-objective problem and solved it in real maps. Besides, the performance evaluation of schedule-, contention-based and hybrid bandwidth allocation methods is compared by implementing four different MAC protocls in street parking scenarios [85; 86].

#### 2.2.3 Parking meter

An important element seldom studied in smart parking research is parking meter. Yet there are many companies working on the patents of parking meters for payment, for example, PhotoViolationMeter<sup>™</sup> Solution [96] and IPS group [97]. Parking meter is used by municipalities as a tool for paying on-street parking. With the rise of networked sensors, parking meters are turned into parking helpers which establishes a link between drivers and parking data. Single-space and multi-space meters are the two main automated payment machines. Multi-space meter manages several parking meters and can provide more functionalities than single-space one. Thanks to the technology of WSN, introduced in Section 2.2.2, parking meters are often used as relays for parking sensors. Thus, parking meters are not only basic payment machines but also transceivers, which can be integrated to existing relays and infrastructure for any communications devices [98]. Duncan Solutions [99; 100] has the patents on the wireless communications and control system of parking meters. Parking meters might communicate with some mobile access points, such as taxis and buses, to enrich urban information and increase transmission opportunities [101]. Flextronics [102] has a patent on proposing a parking space finder in vehicular environment. A vehicular on-board unit (OBU) can communicate with roadside parking meters in order to gather availability parking information and find a parking place. IPS group attracts a lot of attention because of the famous smart parking project SFpark [9]. Drivers, who park their cars on on-street parking places, can easily extend their parking time and pay from Internet. The payment information will be updated and showed on parking meters [103]. Besides, parking meters have an internal clock and are able to turn off themselves during parking time so as to reduce energy consumption. Some big companies work on the service integration to enrich the functionalities of parking meters and their interaction with drivers, for example Xerox PARC [104].

#### 2.2.4 Crowdsensing

Crowdsourcing has been using in some smart parking applications, especially in gathering the sensed available parking information from smartphone users. Thus, a new term *crowdsensing* is then proposed. The most common way is to design a smart parking app and motivate users to share information voluntarily, e.g., ParkJam [79]. Rinne *et al.* [74] presented the pros and cons of mobile crowdsensing. Three high-level conclusions can be drawn by mobile sensors: if there was still space in the area, if the area is full, or if the area should no longer be full. VeLoc [70] used accelerometer and gyroscope sensors of smartphone and the inertial data of pre-loaded maps in order to find the parking place.

PocketParker [69] detected user's movement and derived the status of parking or

unparking by the accelerometer and GPS. ParkSense [68] detected the WiFi beacons to derive if the driver is back to the car or if he is moving. UPDetector [80] (unparking/parking detector) detected driver's behavoir according to many different sensors on the smartphone, accelerometer, bluetooth, microphone, gyro, GSP, WiFi, parking payment app, or user's manual input. Villanueva [72] introduced a vehicle detection method using the 3D compass of drivers' smartphone. Thus, smartphone can detect if the driver is parking and if there is any adjacent parked vehicle. Also, the 3D compass can sense available parking places in its vicinity.

X. Chen *et al.* [75–77] showed that crowdsourcing-based smart parking applications can provoke the following problems: the information accuracy, participation rate, and freeriders. TruCentive [90] is another crowdsourcing smart parking app. Authors implemented a game-theoretical framework which adjusts the bonus dynamically according to the fraction of honest players. Kifle *et al.* [89] proposed an crowdsourcing smart parking application UW-ParkAssist working with UW-Police. UW-Police provides expert data from police department and can override incorrect data in UW-ParkAssist to reinforce the reliability of the collected information.

Accordingly, to avoide uncertain artificial factors, Coric *et al.* [62] use ultrasonic sensor to collect street parking map, like ParkNet [10–12]. iPark (Yang *et al.*) [78] built a parking map from vehicular trajectories without real-time occupancy status.

#### 2.3 Parking system deployment

System deployment is the main work of service providers. The user interface and information processing shall be adapted to the service type. Here, we divided the parking system deployment into three parts: software system, large-scale deployment and data prediction. Table 2.3 gives an outline on system deployment.

#### 2.3.1 Software system

#### 2.3.1.1 Information management

Software system is the interface between information and system users. We see that there are many works on software system because the interoperability of different systems is tough to handle. Several works began with building a software system for WSN-based smart parking system. WSN provides detected information to the smart parking system and shall be well managed in order to reply driver's parking request. Thus, a parking system to monitor and to process data is the first priority. Joseph *et al.* [54] proposed a WSN-based park system to monitor not only the occupancy status but also the health situation of sensor motes. Drivers can get the billing information via SMS. Vishnubhotla *et al.* [34] introduced a parking vacancy monitoring system with a ZigBee<sup>4</sup>-based WSN for showing the parking status in the entrance. Tang *et al.* [52] designed a parking de-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>www.zigbee.org

	Defense es	Info source		Deployment		Storage		ge	Service			Parking game 1			Net	work	
	Reference	Type	S/P	NetS	NetU	$\mathbf{C}$	D: <u>s</u>	D:I	AU	BC	EP	Rsv	UB	SG	PD	NP	OT
⊢			0/0	000 15 4 CD			v				/						
	Vishnubhotla [34]	4	6/6	802.15.4,CB	-		-	-	-	-	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Tang [52]	7	80/80	802.15.4	-		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
	BeeParking [60]	10	24/14	BT,CB	-		-	-	24	MS		-	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-
	Gopalan [105]	fixed	-	802.15.4,CN	-	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	FW
	KATHODIGOS [106; 107]	3,5	2/unslotted	CB,WSN	-	V	-	-	-	-	v	-	-	-	-		LT
	Joseph 54	7	-	802.15.4	Wifi.CN	v/	-	-	-	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	LT
	SensCity [108: 109]	3	_	WSN GSM	Wifi CN	./	-	-	_	-	./	_	_	MAS	-	-	-
	Vang [110]	7		802 15 4 Wife	Wifi CN	v					V			101110			
		2	E / E	200 15 4	WIE CN	V,	_	_	_	MC	v	_	_	_	_	_	_
	Calipso [111]	э	5/5	802.13.4	WIII,CIN	V,	-	-	-	IVI S	V,	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Grazioli [112]	-	-	-	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
	Souissi [113]	3	5/5	802.15.4	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
Ξ	Rico [114]	10	-	802.15.4	WiFi,CN		-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	FW
te:	Suryady [115]	3	-	802.15.4	WiFi,CN	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
VS.	Kumar 116	$1^{a}$	4/4	802.15.4	Wifi,CN		-	-	2	-			-	-	-	-	-
ώ	iParking [117]	3	2/80-90	RS232&485	Wifi.CN	Ż	-	-	>120	-	v	V.		-	-	-	FW
re	Venkateswaran [19]	1.	-	RS232	Wifi.CN	v/	-	-	-	-	v/	· v	-	-	-	-	SC
٧a	Ganchey [118]	fixed	_	_	Wifi CN	./	-	./	-	-	v v	Ň	-	MAS	-	-	SC
£	Inaba [119]	inted	_	_	CN	./	-	v	_	_			_	-	_	_	SC
0	Ciuffro 7, 120	fixed	*/20.150	-	WIE CN	v		_	10.80	_	v	V,			_		50
01		inxed	/ 30-130	-	WIII, ON	V	-	-	10-80	-	V	V	-	-	-	-	-
	PSOS [121]	-	-	-	WIH,CN		-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	FVV
	Niculescu [122]	-	-	-	Wifi,CN	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
	ParkinGain [123]	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
	Yao [124]	4	314/314	CB	-		-	-	-	MS	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Bechini [73]	14	-	Wifi,C	CN		-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
	Rodier [125]	fixed	6/6	WSN	Wifi,CN	Ń	-	-	-	MS	Ń	$\overline{}$		-	-	-	-
	SmartParking 14	$1^{a},9$	*/100-2800	Wifi	802.11	Ň	V		Pois(20)	VN	v	V	-	MC		-	SC
	Hong [47]	14	64/64	CB	-	1/	-	-	$Pois(\lambda)$	-	-	-	-	MC	-	-	-
	Xeroy PARC [104]	-			Wifi CN	×	-	./		-	./	./	_		_	_	-
	Moini [63]		*/5 gones	_	wini,ore	× /	_	V		MS	V	v			_	_	_
			/ 5 201168	-	-	V,	-	V	-	MC	V.	-	V	-	-	_	-
		-	* /00	-		V,	-	-	-	MC	V		-	-	$\vee$	-	гvv
	SPARK (Srikanth) [127]	$^{3,4}$	*/20	802.15.4	GSM		-	-	3	MS		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
	Shin [128]	-	*/3500	-	-		-	-	120K	-		$\checkmark$		UF	-	-	-
	ParkNet [10–12]	12	50-2000/2.8e5	Wifi,CN	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	SFpark [1: 9: 129: 130]	3	11900/8200	WSN	Wifi.CN	Ň	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	DP	1/	-	-
	LA ExpressPark [24: 31]	3	*/6300	WSN	Wifi CN	Ň	-	-	-	-	v v	-	-	MC DP	~	-	-
	Anna Vanda [51]	2.7	* /50000	WOIN	WIG CN	V /			_	_	V			MIC,D1	V		
de	Nice Deels 1961	3,7	*/10000	900 15 4	WIII,CN	V,	-	-	-		V	-	-	-	-	-	-
50	NICE FARK [20]	3	-/10000	802.15.4	WIII,CIN	V,	-	-	-	-	V,	-	-	-	-	-	-
S I S	WSN-DPCM [50]	7	25/15	802.15.4	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-
þ.	SmartSantander [91]	3	400/400	Digimesh	Wifi,CN	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
la,	SIMERT Loja [131]	3	3948/1974	Digimesh	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		- 1	- 1	-	-	-	-
T	Beijing [92]	3	*/20000	433MHz	-	$\checkmark$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Moscow Fastprk [25]	3	*/50000	Sigfox	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
	ParkRight London [13]	$1_a$	3400/3400	Vodafone	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-
	Melbourne 93	3	7114/7114	Vodafone	Wifi,CN	Ż	-	-	-	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	-
H		C 1	I		ana	· /			$\mathbf{D}$ : (1)		· /						
	Pullola [132]	fixed	-	-	GPS	$\checkmark$	-	-	$Pois(\lambda)$			-	-	-		-	-
	Klappenecker [133]	fixed	*/1000	-	802.11	-	$\checkmark$		Pois(19.6)	-	-	-	-	MC		-	-
	Richter [134]	3	*/6215	WSN	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	$\checkmark$	-	-
E E	Vlahogianni [135; 136]	3	253/253	802.15,4	Wifi,CN		-	-	-	-		-		-		-	-
10	Zheng [137]	3	*/8200+7114	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
at	E. Wu 138	- 1	*/260 lots	-	-	Ŵ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ż	-	-
lic	Rajabioun 6; 139	-	*/1000	-	CN(4G)	Ż	-	- 1	-	-		-	- 1	-	v.	-	-
eq	Ji [140]	t _	*/492	-	-	1./	-	-	-	-	- V	-	-	-	Ň	-	-
Ч	David (Mobinet) 1551	8	*/2750	_	_	Y.	-		_	-				-	Y.	-	-
ľ	V Wn [141]	0	/2100	_	_						-			_	V /		_
	Domiach [141]		*/9200	WSN	WE CN	ΙV,	-		-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		V	<u> </u>	-
1	Demisch [142]	3	1/8200	W DIN	WIII, ON	V,	-	<u> </u>	-		-,	<u> </u>	-	-	$\vee$	-	-
	INOSTER 1/11	14	-	VViti (	( N	1.4/			-		. /		/	I IVIC:	. /		_

Table 2.3: Smart Parking solution for system deployment

†In the Type column: the type id is referred to Table 2.1.
†In the Info source coumns: S/P is the ratio of sensors to parking places.
†In the Deployment columns: NetS is the network of sensors. NetU is network of users (CN: cellular network; CB: cable; BT: bluetooth; PLC: power-line communication)
†In the Storage columns: C is centralized. D is distributed (S/V/I: sensor/vehicle/infrastructure).
†In the Service columns: AU is amount of service users (Pois: poisson - unit: vehicles/minute), BC is broadcast (MS: variable message sign, VN: vehicular network), EP is E-Parking (namely drivers can find parking through telephone or internet). RSV: reservation.
†In the Parking game columns: UB is user behavior, SG is strategy (MC: Markov chair; MAS: multi-agent system; DP: dynamic pricing; UF: utility function). PD is prediction.
†In the Network columns: NP is network protocol. OT is others (LT: lifetime: SC: security: AG: aggregation: LO: link quality: FW:

the theorem is a protocol. OT is others (LT: lifetime; SC: security; AG: aggregation; LQ: link quality; FW: framework; SA: search algorithm)

tection demonstration system with a IEEE 802.15.4<sup>5</sup>-based mesh network. Each parking place is equipped with a light sensor to detect toy car's presence in order to provide the real-time occupancy information. Yang et al. [110] designed a WSN-based smart parking which collects information totally wirelessly. User interfaces are developped on smartphone, central web-server and embedded web server to guide users where available parking place is. SensCity [108; 109] implemented a Machine-to-Machine (M2M) architecture including parking sensors and parking applications. To improve the intelligence of smart parking system, a Multi-Agent System is used and modeled in MOISE<sup>6</sup>. iParking [117] is a smart parking system which collects sensing information and then show the current occupancy status through a social network, Twitter. KATHODIGOS [106] proposed a central parking information system integrating with two different heterogeneous sensor networks, namely wireless networked magnetometers and wired cameras. Then the authors tried to improve the precision of information by using a fuzzy inference system [107]. Calipso [111] is an European FP7 project targeting the development of IP connected smart objects. It proposed an architecture including several low-power IP stacks for protocol optimizations. Some authors might propose a wire sensor network due to the bad link quality of low-power wireless communications. Yao [124] uses CAN bus to connect all ultrasonic parking sensors, and then provides a guidance service by outer screen and light indicators. SmartParking [14] addressed the software and hardware architecture for the smart parking service. Also, a birth-death stochastic process is modeled to predict the revenues and pricing plans. Hong [47] proposed a parking emulation platform for those who want to test their parking service with deployed sensors.

#### 2.3.1.2 E-Parking

Once the data storage and information monitoring are done, city can provide urban services by using the data they own. Since drivers can get the parking information in advance, a reservation system is often proposed. Kumar et al. [116] also presented a Zigbee-based smart parking system provides parking monitoring, guidance and parking reservation. Inaba et al. [119] introduced a smart parking prototype system supported by the Japanese telephone operator NTT. Telephone users can find a parking place easily and make a reservation by using Internet. Rico et al. [114] proposed a smart parking system with the integration of different technologies. The system provided a reservation scheme and presented the process while coping with parking requests. Venkateswaran et al. [19] proposed a smart parking reservation system which can assist drivers to check the current status of their parked vehicles. Giuffre et al. [7] presented the architecture of intelligent parking assistance which targets current parking management solutions through a wireless sensing technology. From the example of smart parking, the quality of mobility in urban areas is improved. To improve the efficiency of smart parking system, some works proposed a method or platform to improve the system agility. Ganchev etal. [118] presented a parking locator service based on multi-agent system. Infostations are used to relay the information between a central server and user-end mobile devices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>www.ieee802.org/15/pub/TG4.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>moise.sourceforge.net

Gopalan et al [105] introduced an OSGi<sup>7</sup>-based middlewave for the smart parking system. The authors show that OSGi helps in efficient daily communication, data storage and processing. Survady et al. [115] introduced a smart parking system using cloud-based platforms. To archieve a rapid deployment, each gateway, collecting data from parking sensors, is equipped with a cellular upload link in order to store them on the cloud. ParkinGain [123] presents the concept of a smart parking application that helps drivers to find and to reserve parking places using their OBUs or smartphones. Since the cost of deploying smart parking technologies is not negligible, other value-added services can benefit from the smart parking technologies to create business opportunities. Bechini et al. [73] proposes to install QR codes on parking spaces. Drivers can scan the QR codes in order to pay their parking places. When a driver ends a parking session, the system will announce that this parking place is now available to drivers looking for parking. Authors then studied the relationship between drivers' parking requests and the current status of parking spaces. A full process from parking search, reservation, occupation, payment and release is discussed from the viewpoints of drivers, administrators and data scientists. This system is low-cost, but it cannot control if drivers do pay their parking places since QR codes cannot detect the presence of vehicles.

The user interface is an important factor to guide drivers to find a parking place by using smart parking system. If the interface is badly desinged, drivers might not be aware of the smart parking service or be badly guided by inappropriate information. Souissi et al. [113] focused on the development of application layer, to wit, how to obtain the sensed information from parking sensors and how to present them on a webserver. BeeParking [60] adopted a portable identification device, iButton, which is similar to RFID tag. The pre-installed iButton probes, on parking places, identify parked vehicles and then show the ambient information on a beenive-like display, which might help drivers to understand easily the parking information. Rodier et al. [125] described a smart parking educational tool designed by ParkingCarma<sup>8</sup> to facilitate system use. PSOS (parking space optimization service) [121] is an E-parking service including three different parts, that is, channel manager, integration manager and application coordinator, to deal with the interoperability between different devices. Grazioli et al. [112] proposed a smart parking online service system, including web and mobile applications for drivers, parking operators and controllers. Operators can draw parking areas with detailed information. Drivers can be guided to the most suitable parking area by describing their interests. Controllers can monitor all vehicles parked in their own area. Drivers can also share their knowledge about parking occupancy to add the crowdsensing to this system. For some countries, such as Singapore, the use of mobile phones or tables is strictly prohibited while driving. Niculescu et al. [122] propped a intelligent driver assistant to help drivers find quickly suitable parking in Singapore. The driver assistant uses speech to interact with drivers and becomes an active helper during the navigation by checking periodically the chosen car park availability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>www.osgi.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>www.parkingcarma.com

Project	City	#Parking	Cost	App	Launched			
Stadtinfo Köln	Cologne	16000	-	-	09/1996			
MOBINET	Munich	2750	4M€	-	09/1998			
SIMERT	Loja	1974	-	SIMERT Loja Ecuador	05/2002			
Area Verda (22@)	Barcelona	50000	-	apparkB	04/2005			
Cabspotting(ParkNet)	San Francisco	281364	400\$/veh	-	04/2006			
PARK Smart	New York City	177	-	Parker	10/2008			
SFpark	San Francisco	8200	23M\$	SFpark	04/2011			
SmartSantander	Santander	400	8.67M€ SmartSantanderRA		06/2011			
Parking in Melbourne	Melbourne	7114	537,817\$A	Street Parking	07/2011			
WSN-DPCM	Madrid	15	3.3M€	-	10/2011			
Nice Park	Nice	10000	13-15M€	Nice City Pass	01/2012			
Smart Parking Pilot	Beijing	20000	-	-	03/2012			
Stockholm Parkering	Stockholm	37000	-	P-Stockholm	05/2012			
LA ExpressPark	Los Angeles	6300	18.5M\$	Parker, ParkMobile, ParkMe	06/2012			
ParkRight	London	3400	$889,395 \pounds$	ParkRight	10/2012			
Moscow Fastprk	Moscow	50000	-	Parking Moscow	11/2012			
ParkChicago	Chicago	36000	153M\$ <sup>a</sup>	ParkChicago	04/2014			
ParkBoston	Boston	8000	-	ParkBoston	01/2015			
Berlin Pilot	Berlin	50-70	-	-	09/2015			

Table 2.4: Smart Parking City Projects

 $^{a}$ Total project 153M\$ for bus rapid transit and parking program

#### 2.3.1.3 Guidance

Drivers using smart parking service always receive a lot of information. The guidance shall provide a driving path to several potential parking places to avoid if there is any parking conflict. Jun [126] presented active and passive parking guidance system and proposed a system framework for active parking guidance. Since parking guidance is often limited by the dynamically changing availability information and traffic jam, a negotiation flow is analyzed to reveal some important technological problems. SPARK (Srikanth *et al.*) [127] is a smart parking prototype with parking sensors, guiding node, information display and GSM device. The parking status is sensed by parking sensors and guiding node can make a reservation via GSM communication. The monitoring, reservation and guidance modules are implemented to help drivers find parking. Shin [128] studied a smart parking guidance algorithm using utility function of parking place. Each parking utility function is calculated from driving duration from current car location to a parking facility, walking distance from a parking facility to destination, parking cost, traffic congestion caused by parking guidance itself, and the degree of availability.

#### 2.3.2 Large-Scale Deployment

Since parking is a city-level problem, a large-scale deployment is spreading in different cities. Three main kinds of city-scale deployments are mobile sensing, fixed-site sensing via short-range communication, and fixed-site sensing via long-range communication. The typical example of mobile sensing is the ParkNet [11; 12] which takes advantage of the Cabspotting trace [10] in San Francisco to install parking detection sensors on cabs in order to detect the available on-street parking spaces. Since each cab either cruises in the central business district (CBD) to find passengers or drives toward the destination of the current passenger, the CBD has more chance to provide accurate information in

the ParkNet. With 536 cabs, the successive location information can be updated within 60 seconds apart [11].

Fixed-site sensing requires the installation of fixed parking sensors on each parking place. Section 2.2.1 introduced many different types of sensors, and we know that most sensors are battery-powered and sometimes might be underground. To maximize the lifetime of sensor devices, short-range communication requiring less transmission power is often favorable. To ensure sensors' connectivity, urban infrastructure, such as Internet gateways and repeaters, has to be installed within sensors' communication range in order to gather the sensed information. The most famous project is SFpark [9] , the smart parking municipal service in San Francisco covers 30% of street parking. Sensors and meters can both communicate wirelessly. One repeater at almost each intersection completes the wireless mesh networks [1]. 85% events can be received in the central server within 60 seconds. The main goal of SFpark is to guarantee a 75%occupancy rate in any parking area by a dynamic pricing policy. Millard-Ball et al. [143] took the project and evaluated its impacts of two first years. The results conclude that rate changes have helped achieve the city's on-street parking occupancy and reduced cruising by 50%. LA ExpressPark [24] cooperates with Streetline<sup>9</sup> as the Park Smart pilot program<sup>10</sup> in New York City. Streetline adopts a time synchronized mesh protocol (TSMP) [144] to allocate the bandwidth for each device according to an anticipated frequency-time schedule. The messages can be received by the gateway in about 6-7 seconds. LA ExpressPark also applies the dynamic pricing policy to achieve 10-30% of parking spaces being available throughout the day [31].

Nice Park [26] is the smart parking program launched in Nice, France. The wireless parking sensors detecting parking occupancy are provided by Urbiotica<sup>11</sup>. Nice Park installed 68 multi-service kiosks from Finnish Ensto<sup>12</sup> to collect parking information, and also provide extra traveling information so that drivers can choose an alternative transport from their parking places.

Beijing also launched a smart parking pilot program [92] in 2012 and used Timeloit's parking sensors<sup>13</sup> to transmit messages. 35% of street parking is covered in Beijing. The real-time parking information is currently used by the government to regulate the traffic, but is still not available for the public. Most Asian cities have very few street parking, like Beijing (only 5.1% parking are on-street) and Tokyo. Comparatively speaking, Los Angeles and San Francisco have 75.5% and 63% of street parking respectively.

WSN-DPCM [50] and SmartSantander [91] are both experimental platforms for deploying, analysing and reproducing different smart city technologies. WSN-DPCM [50] stands for the Development, Planning, Commissioning, and Maintenance for WSN in smart environment. It makes one smart parking demonstrator with 15 parking sensors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>www.streetline.com

 $<sup>^{10}</sup> www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/motorist/parksmart.shtml$ 

 $<sup>^{11}</sup> www.urbiotica.com$ 

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ www.ensto.com

 $<sup>^{13}</sup> www.timeloit.com/plus/view.php?aid{=}99755$
in Madrid. SmartSantander [91] proposes an unique city-scale experimental research facility for different smart city applications. 400 Libelium<sup>14</sup> parking sensors were deployed to test smart parking service via Digimesh communication. Repeaters and gateways are equipped with Digimesh<sup>15</sup> and 802.15.4 radios in order to communicate with sensors or other 802.15.4 devices. Digimesh is a power-optimized protocol for peer-to-peer WSN and can let all WSN nodes sleep. SIMERT [131] is an integrated parking system being deployed in Loja, Spain since 2002. 3948 Libelium parking sensors communicate with routers and gateways through Zigbee 900MHz and Digimesh 2.4 GHz. Each parking is equipped with two sensors in order to detect parked vehicles. A parking application is designed to show the real-time parking occupancy information to drivers. Authors then introduced the network topology, protocols and firmware programming for large-scale sensor deployment. Àrea Verda [51] is deployed in Barcelona. Parking sensors update the information to Barcelona Serveis Municipals (B:SM) via parking meters which are connected with the existing fiber-optic network. Since 2014, 500 parking sensors equipped with long-range communication technology are testing as well.

Long-range communication technologies, namely cellular IoT, are designed for Low-Power Wide-Area Network (LPWAN). Because of its compatibility with the existing cellular network, no extra infrastructure is required. Two most famous standards are SigFox<sup>16</sup> and LoRa<sup>17</sup>. Thanks to Worldsensing<sup>18</sup>, SigFox is already commercialized in smart parking market and used in some cities, e.g., Moscow parking<sup>19</sup>. SigFox is an ultra narrow band technology to send small-size messages with a very small bandwidth via cellular link. LoRa has a longer transmission range than cellular network and provides different energy classes for different applications' needs. LoRa targets a wide range of applications but is not very popular yet in smart parking deployment. Libelium has implemented LoRa on some of their products. Another option, Vodafone M2M<sup>20</sup>, adopted by Smart Parking<sup>21</sup>, is deployed in London (ParkRight [13]) and Melbourne [93].

Table 2.4 gives some information of the budgets while deploying large-scale smart parking systems and services. Parkopedia<sup>22</sup> also provides some street parking information via parking meters and some existing city resident parking maps.

# 2.3.3 Parking Vacancy Prediction

Except reservation, parking prediction is most common way to forecast the occupancy rate of parking. From the prediction, smart parking service can provide a possibility of getting a parking place to drivers. That allows drivers to organize their transport

<sup>17</sup>www.lora-alliance.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>www.libelium.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>www.digi.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>www.sigfox.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>www.worldsensing.com

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$  parking.mos.ru/en/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>m2m.vodafone.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>www.smartparking.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>en.parkopedia.com

before their departures or even during their trips. Many different prediction models can be used to forecast parking demands. Y. Wu [141] introduced five forecasting methods: parking generation rate, vehicle population, land use and traffic impact analysis, trip attraction based on origin-destination data, and multivariate regression based on historical materials. Considering the lack of parking data and deficient survey precision, vehicle population model is selected to predict the parking demand of center area in Changping town in China. Author shows a parking demand forecasting from 2011 to 2015 according to car and motorbicycle populations. The parking demand is assumed to be directly proportional to vehicle population.

The most popular prediction theory undertakes a Poisson arrival process, and then predicate the system capacity by Markov Chain. Pullola *et al.* [132] modeled the availability of a parking lot by a Poisson process, and then proposed an algorithm to give the availability probability of each parking spot when s/he arrives. Klappenecker *et al.* [133] also presumed that vehicule's arrival follows a Poisson distribution and modeled the parking lot by a continuous-time Markov chains. Then, with the predicted occupancy status, each parking lot can provide cruising vehicles with the availability information via vehicular networks.

Some realistic datasets are collected from the large-scale deployments in urban areas. Vlahogianni et al. [135; 136] studied the on-street parking data from SmartSantander and showed that the occupancy and parking periods of four parking areas follow a Weibull distribution. Zheng et al. [137] analyzed two parking datasets from San Francisco (SFpark) and Melbournem and predicted the parking occupancy rate by three different methods, namely regression tree, neural network and support vector regression. X. Chen et al. [130] also studied the parking data from SFpark and tried to predict the parking occupancy status in order to provide a better service. Richter et al. [134] compared several different spatio-temporal clustering strategies by studying the parking availability data from SFpark project. Even the spatial and temporal clusterings cannot provide a more accurate fit than the 7-day model (from Monday to Sunday), they can reduce the required storage size. Demisch [142] also analyzed the parking data collected by smart parking meters. Since the lifetime of parking sensors is short, providing parking information on smart parkin meters is essential, especially for the dynamic demandresponsive pricing. That is to say, city uses historical data to develop a estimation model to predict parking occupation and adjust parking rate based on a sensor independent rate adjustment model. Rajabioun et al. [6; 139] used real-time parking data from San Francisco and Los Angeles and then proposed a multivariate autoregressive model to predict the temporal and spatial correlations of parking availability. The prediction errors are used to recommend the parking location with the highest probability of having at least one parking spot available at the estimated arrival time. Ji et al. [140] collected the parking availability data in several off-street parking garages in Newcastle to inverstigate the changing characteristics of short-term available parking spaces. This forecasting model is based on the wavelet neural network method and compared with the largest Lyapunov exponents method in the aspects of accuracy, efficiency and robustness.

Besides, drivers' decision can also be influenced by the prediction. E. Wu *et al.* [138] proposed a cost model to influence user's parking choice. The cost model is based on a probability of parking successfully and distance from the current location. Since the successful parking probability varies with time, a probability estimation method is proposed by using remaining available space count. Koster *et al.* [71] used smartphones as parking detection sensors and then studied the traffic of NYC departement in order to estimate the occupancy status of parking lot. Then to calculate the availability probability of each parking space, the estimator considered all the properties of parking spaces (shade, sun, garage and cloudy) to know if a space has a higher chance to be taken. The smart parking system can then use the information to recommend drivers the most favorable parking place. David *et al.* [55] designed an event-oriented forecasting model as part of MOBINET project<sup>23</sup>. The forecasting model considers the detected information (mainly for off-street parking) and estimated information from the online traffic data (mainly for on-street parking).

# 2.4 Parking service dissemination

In the end, we will introduce how to disseminate the parking information and how drivers react according to the information they receive. We divide service dissemination into three parts as well: information dissemination, parking competition and driver's behavior, and dedicated in 2.5.

# 2.4.1 Information Dissemination

In Section 2.3.2, all the existing large-scale deployment adopts a centralized method to provide parking information via cellular link or WiFi. Fig. 2.3 shows the classification of different parking information dissemination.

Except the existing cellular network and WiFi, a centralized information flow supported by roadside infrastructure and vehicular network is also very common. CBPRS [170], namely city-based parking routing system, proposed a centralized parking system which links intelligent lampposts and parking sensors by power-line communication. The central parking service run an ant colony optimization (ACO) to guide drivers from their current locations to parking places. The results show that ACO outperforms the Dijkstra's algorithm in reducing the traffic congestion and increasing the city flow. Moini *et al.* [63] evaluated the impact of the parking guidance system by varying its market saturation rate and car park demands. The results show that the popularity of parking guidance system can really ease the pain of finding parking in urban areas. SmartPark [145] used TinyNodes<sup>24</sup> as parking sensors. Sensors send periodically available parking information to vehicles so that vehicles can find parking places from nearby ones. Alhammad *et al.* [149] also proposed a smart parking based on sensing vehicles. The difference is that plenty of infostations are installed for each parking area

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ www.mobinet.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>www.tinynode.com

<b>—</b>		In	fo source	ource Deployment		Storage			Service				Parking game			Network	
	Reference	Type	S/P	NetS NetU		$C D: \frac{s}{v} D$		D:I	AU	EP Rsv		UB SG		PD	NP	OT	
	SmartPark [145]	3	25/25	X	E1205	-	S	-	2	VN	1	-	_	-	_	_	_
	Lochert [146]	3	*/real map		02.11	-	ŝ	-	10K	VN	-	-	-	-	-	-	AG
	SPARK (Lu) 1147: 148	12	*/1000	8	02.11	-	v	3	Pois(6)	VN	1/	1/	1/	-	-	-	SC
	Alhammad [149]	12	-	8	02.11	1	-	Ň		-	V V	v	-	-	-	-	-
_	Bessghaier [150]	12	-	8	02.11	-	V	-	<300	VN	-	- -	-	MAS	-	-	-
OL	edPAS [151]	mob	*/50000	8	02.11	1	-	1000	100K	-	1	-	-	SH	-	-	-
ati	Panavappan [152]	mob	-	802.11		-	-	2000	-	-	V V	-	-	-	-	-	SC
inä	iPark (Zhao) 153	mob	*/2000	802.11		-	V	-	<2K	VN	V	-	1	-	-	-	-
E	Delot  154–158	14	*/60	802.11		-	V	-	60-240	VN	-	1	-	-	-	1/	-
SSE	Kokolaki 94: 95: 159: 160	fixed	*/25	802.11		1	S	-	5-70	VN	-	-	1	-	-	-	-
dis	Tasseron [161]	3.14	*/96	S2V,V2V		-	S.V	-	<96	VN		-	Ň	-	-	-	-
F	Caliskan [162: 163]	fixed	*/~129.70	-	802.11	-	V	129	10K	VN	1/	-	-	MC	1	1/	AG
io	Horng [164: 165]	-	*/200-1200	-	802.11	1	-	100	300-1.8K	VN	V	-	-	CA	-	-	-
ıat	PMNET [20: 21]	$1^a$	-	-	802.11	-	-	1	-	VN	-	1	-	-	-	-	-
rn	Vaghela [166]	-	-	-	802.11	-	-	100	100	-		-	-	AD	-	-	-
fo	Kim  167	-	-	-	VLC	-	-	-	-	VN	-	-	-	-	-	-	LQ
In	PhonePark [67: 168: 169]	14	*/16	BT	802.11	-	V	-	-	VN	1	-	-	-	1	-	-
	Wang 23	2,7	*/real map	802.15.4	Wifi,CN,BT		S	-	Real trace	VN	V		-	-	V	-	-
	CBPRS 1170	fixed	-	WSN	802.11.PLC	Ň	-	V	7.5K-10K	VN	Ň	Ň	-	ACO	-	-	-
	Geng [171]	3,5	*/2611	WSN	802.11,CN	v v	-	-	Pois(0.4)	MS	Ň	V	1	_	-	-	-
	Draskovic 172	3,4	-	WSN	BT	Ň	-	-	-	-	Ň	-	-	ES	-	-	-
-	7 [21]	2	* /6200	WON	WE ON	• /				T	· /			MCDD			
	Millard Dall 142	3 2	11000/8200	WEN	WIII, CN	$\mathbf{v}$	-	-	-	-	V,	-	-	MC,DF	-	-	-
	$\begin{bmatrix} \text{Millard-Ball} & [143] \\ \text{Same } & [172] \end{bmatrix}$	3	11900/8200	WSN	WIE,CIN	$\mathbf{v}$	-	-	-	-	$\checkmark$	-	-	DP		-	-
	Varraina (64)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- 20h. /l	-	-	-	-	CTTED	-	-	-
	Avala [174, 177]	12	* /20 80	803	02.11 11 CN	-	V	-	20 Ven/km	-	V	-	$\mathbf{v}$	CT SM CPA	-	-	-
	Ayala [174-177]	14	/ 20-80	802	2.11,ON	$\mathbf{v}$	v	-	40-80	-	V	-	-	GI,SM,GFA	-	-	-
ц	Doll'Orgo [170: 180]	-	-	-	802.11,CN	V	-	V	-	-	V	V	V	MAS EZ DD	-	-	-
tic	Kamplionoulos [181, 182]	-	-	-	Wife CN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	V	MAS,FZ,DF	-	-	-
eti	Di Napoli [184]	10	-	-	Wifi CN	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	-	-	-	-	V.	-	V	MAS	-	-	-
đ	Sablota [185]	10	*/100.160		Wife CN	v	-	-	Poin(6)	- VN	V	V	_	SU	-	_	-
HC	Jin [186]		/100-100		will, on	-	-	v	1500	VIV	-	-	_	SH	v	_	
Ŭ	PELBS [187]	-	*/73+32		_	V	_	_	1500	_	V,	V	_	FZ	-	_	_
	Teodorović [188]	_	*/100-350			V	-			-	V	-		FZ DP	V	-	
	Sarasua [189]	_	*/5567		_	. /	_	_	5567	-	./	V	-	HTA	_	_	_
	CGPS [190]	mob	*/20-80	- 8	02.11	v	V	_	25-85	_	V.	v	./	GT	_	_	_
	Doulaims [191]	mob	/20-00	8	02.11	./	-		-	_	- V	./	v -	MIS DP	_	_	-
<u> </u>		C 1		0	02.11	V		V		MC		v	/	CIA CIA			
	Mei [192]	nxea	-	-	-	-	-	-	- D::/20.00)	MS	-	-		GA	-	-	-
	Calcedo [193; 194]	3	*/~600	-	-	-	-	-	Pois(38-98)	-	-	-		-		-	-
	PARKAGEN I [195]	-	*/10340	-	-	-	-	-	11.6K	-	-	-		MAS	-	-	-
ы	Josse [196]	-	*/5-20	-	-	-	-	-	100	-	-	-	V	-	-	-	SA
io	п. Guo [197] I. Cuo [108]	-	*/112 596	-	-	-	-	-	2K		-	-		CA	-	-	-
av	L. Guo [196]	-	/113+320	-	-	-	-	-	2000	<u> </u>	-	-	$\vee$	-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	-
eh	M Chop [200]	-	*/199	-	-	-	-	-	-	<u> </u>	-	-	V	-	-	-	-
В	Numul Habib [201]	-	./100	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	V	-	-	-	-
	Classer [202]	- 2	*/6200	WCN	Wife CIN				401		-	-	V	- DP	-	-	-
	Chaniotakis [203]	3	. / 0200	NIG W	win, on	$\mathbf{v}$	-	-	- 307	<u> </u>	$\vee$	-	V	DF	$\vee$	-	-
			-	-	-	-	-	<u> </u>	391	<u> </u>	-	-	V	-	-	-	
L	1u [204]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	$\vee$	-	-	-	-

Table 2.5: Smart Parking solution for service dissemination

†In the Type column: the type id is referred to Table 2.1.
†In the Info source coumns: S/P is the ratio of sensors to parking places.
†In the Deployment columns: NetS is the network of sensors. NetU is network of users (CN: cellular network; CB: cable; BT: bluetooth; PLC: power-line communication; VLC: visible light communication)
†In the Storage columns: C is centralized. D is distributed (S/V/I: sensor/vehicle/infrastructure).
†In the Service columns: AU is amount of service users (Pois: poisson - unit: vehicles/minute), BC is broadcast (MS: variable message sign, VN: vehicular network), EP is E-Parking (namely drivers can find parking through telephone or internet). RSV: reservation.
†In the Parking game columns: UB is user behavior, SG is strategy (ACO: ant colony optimization; AD: agent discovery; CA: cellular automata; CT: clustering algorithm; DP: dynamic pricing; ES: Expert System; FZ: fuzzy logic; GA: genetic algorithm; GP: gravity
-based parking algorithm; GT: game theory; HTA: Hitchcock transportation algorithm; MAS: multi-agent system; MC: Markov chain; MIS: maxima interval scheduling; SH: scheduling algorithm; SM: stable marriage; TSP: travelling salesman problem). PD is prediction.
†In the Network columns: NP is network protocol, OT is others (LT: lifetime; SC: security; AG: aggregation; LQ: link quality; FW: framework; SA: search algorithm)



Figure 2.3: The diagram of parking information dissemination classification. BTS: base transceiver station; AP: access point; V2I: vehicle-to-infrastructure; I2V: infrastructure-to-vehicle; V2V: vehicle-to-vehicle; S2V: sensor-to-vehicle; V2S: vehicle-to-sensor; VMS: varibale message sign.

in order to gather/provide information from/to vehicles. Horng et al. [164] proposed a V2I communication model between roadside infrastructure and vehicles to deal with parking demands. A cellular automata mechanism is used to describe the car society under a smart parking environment so as to allocate parking places more efficiently. Wang et al. [23] proposed a smart parking reservation system in an half distributed manner. Drivers get parking information from the central server but reserve their parking places directly with the nearby parking places. To test this system, the authors used a real-world traffic trace to generate the parking demand. The authors took a general assumption that real total traffic for parking is proportional to the highway traffic, and then classified the total highway traffic into incoming traffic and outgoing traffic, which represent that traffic approaching to and leaving from the target area. The incoming traffic serves as the reference of parking demand. After that, a real-world map in Los Angeles Downtown is imported into the simulator for the calculation of distance and path. Geng et al. [171] formulated a mixed-integer linear programing problem for smart parking demands and solved it with an optimal parking allocation method. Draskovic et al. [172] introduced a smart parking system using search algorithm to find the most suitable parking spaces as soon as possible.

Since the information delay caused by network retransmission is somehow long, the distributed information system is considered as an appropriate solution to reduce the network distance and network traffic. VMS is an instinctive way to indicate the vicinal

available parking information to drivers. Here, we classified VMS as distributed manner because VMS only shows the information in a certain nearby area. Alternatively, drivers can also receive information from roadside infrastructure in one-hop. Panayappan *et al.* [152] proposed a VANET-based infrastructure to provide available parking information, thus the deployment of roadside units is very important in order to cover each public or private parking area. Each vehicle can detect the occupancy status and send it to the roadside units. Each vehicle can also get the update occupancy from roadside units. The data storage is distributed among different roadside units which can be better protected to avoide some security problems.

To extend the information popularity (more accessible), messages can travel for more than one-hop from infrastructure in order to reach some vehicles which are not in the transmission range of the city infrastructure. We have seen the importance of parking meters for the industrial cycles in Section 2.2.3. Most vehicle-to-vehicle communications can benefit from these existing roadside parking meters to increase their packet transmission rates. Caliskan et al. [162; 163] presented a decentralized parking discovery method supported by automats, namely roadside parking payment terminals. Since automats deal with the payment, they also has the current occupancy information and can broadcast available parking information to vehicles periodically. Each vehicle aggregates received information before it distributes it to other vehicles. Vaghela et al. [166] also used parking meters (automat) to distribut parking information for passing vehicles. PMNET [20; 21] means parking meter network. Infra-red sensor is installed on parking meter to detect the occupancy status, and then parking meter can announce the available parking information via direct communication with vehicles. Vehicles can also forward this information to farther vehicles for increasing the parking usage rate. Another new highly anticipated technology is visual light communication (VLC) which exchanges message through light. The VLC module includes a LED as a light transmitter and a photo detector as a light receiver. Since light travels in straight lines, the VLC modules can communicate in the light-of-sight. Kim et al. [167] proposed a smart parking information system supported by VLC. Authors installed these VLC modules on vehicles and in the entrance of parking lots, and then drivers can obtain parking information while passing the entrance. The packet reception rate is about 80%and the transmission range is limited to 1.7 meters.

However, the installation of urban infrastructure is costly, so that vehicles can also choose to communicate directly with the sensors themselves. Lochert *et al.* [146] implemented an aggregation mechanism for data dissemination in vehicular networks. A real map is taken and TinyNodes parking sensors are supposed to be deployed on it. Similarly to [145], the parking availability information is broadcasted periodically. SPARK (Lu *et al.*) [147; 148] proposed that sensor-mounted vehicles can sense the parking status and disseminate it by their owns. Tasseron *et al.* [161] compared two kinds of sensing methods in vehicular networks: sensor-to-vehicle (S2V) and vehicle-tovehicle (V2V). In S2V scenario, sensors are installed on parking places and transmit the occupancy status to nearby vehicles. In V2V scenario, vehicles can detect their own status (parking or unparking) and send the information of an available parking place while unparking. The results show that S2V can improve the parking search efficiency under almost all conditions. V2V can only outperform S2V in situations with almost full on-street occupancy levels.

As previously mentioned, multi-hop can increase the information popularity. Bessghaier et al. [150] studied a full-distributed inter-vehicular network to see if the parking search time descreases, compared to the current blind search. edPAS [151] stands for eventdriven parking allocation system. Drivers can subscribe to an event place and then get the update from communicators if there is any change on the information they ask for. Authors compared two different parking demand allocations: first come first serve (FCFS) and priority (PR). The results showed that PR outperforms FCFS. iPark (Zhao et al.) [153] benefited from the parked vehicles which have searched available parking places and then other vehicles can inherit the information in order to reduce parking time. Delot et al. [154–158] proposed a reservation protocol to allocate the parking spaces in a fully distributed environment. Each vehicle can release the available parking message to the network and look for a potential parker. If this vehicle gets a response, this parking place is reserved for it. Otherwise, a new coordinator shall be chosen in order to look for a potential parker in a farther area. PhonePark [67; 168; 169] used sensors on drivers' smartphone to detect their activities, e.g., accelerometer, bluetooth and GPS. The accelerometer can sense driver's movement to know if s/he is in the car, stationary or walking. Bluetooth pairing between vehicular on-board unit and smartphone can indicate if driver is in the car or not. GPS can provide driver's spatial and temporal information in order to charge the parking fee. Since a driver enter his/her car and is ready to leave, the parking place will be available for someone else. Thus, the car will advertise this information with other vehiculars and a vehicular network is then formed to share parking information according to the detected drivers' behavoirs on their smartphones. Kokolaki et al. [159; 160] proposed an opportunistically assisted parking search (OAPS) in S2V and V2V communications. Some results are shown by comparing with the blind and centrally assisted ways. The central parking search can help drivers to find parking faster but OAPS can help drivers to find a closer parking place. Since the information dissemination is supported by drivers themselves, it is considered as a crowdsourcing dissemination network. Drivers can decide to distribut the information they received (forwarder), to falsify the information and distribut it (selfish liar), or do nothing (freerider) [94; 95].

# 2.4.2 Parking Competition

Dynamic pricing is currently the most efficient to regulate the parking occupancy status and traffic congestion. Unlike the dynamic pricing policy of SFpark, which changes the parking price on the average occupancy in a review period, Zoeter [31] took the deployment of LA ExpressPark and proposed a dynamic pricing policy with a Markov Chain model. The model can then predict the amount of parking demands and adjust the price before the car park is congested (occupancy rate > 90%) or underused (occupancy rate < 70%). Doulaims *et al.* [191] improved the smart parking resevation policies by using maxima interval scheduling and dynamic pricing.

Dynamic pricing is often combined with multi-agent system, allowing to describe the behaviors of different individuals and interactions among them. Chou *et al.* [178] modeled the parking price negotiation in a multi-agent system. Each parking manager announces the parking places and waits for the bids from potential parkers. Thus, the parking price will change dynamically according to the intensity of competiton. Dell'Orco *et al.* [179; 180] also proposed to match the parking demand and supply under dynamic parking pricing by using a multi-agent system. The drivers' perceived parking cost is described by a fuzzy set in order to present their imperfect knowledge on both parking and system status. Di Napoli *et al.* [184] adopted a software agent negotiation mechanism, which establishes an agreement between drivers and parking manager considering drivers' preferences, e.g., location and cost.

Fuzzy logic system can be used to describe drivers' decisions. PFLBS [187], namely parking finding location-based service, is developped based on a case study of the Oats Street and Carlisle PnR facilities in Perth, Western Australia. Fuzzy logic forecast models were used to estimate the uncertainty of parking availability during the peak parking demand period. Teodorović *et al.* [188] referred to the municipal parking projets, such as in San Francisco, Chicago, Seattle, and proposed a fuzzy logic system in order to know when to accept or reject a new parking request for the pricing policy.

Drivers might get a list of potential parking places and visit them one by one until they get one. Thus, the path between different parking places is quite important according their locations and availability probability. Verroios *et al.* [64] targeted the traveling path planning while driving to parking places. Since street parking places have no barrier to keep available for reserved drivers, drivers have to visit the available places one by one until they can park. When drivers send their parking requests to roadside infrastructure, they get a list of available parking places with the probability of still-free. Each vehicle uses a clustering algorithm to classify the parking places and then plan the trip as a time-varying travelling salesman problem.

However, parking competition is interactive. If we try to look the entire system from bird's eye view, each driver is involved in a parking game and each decision might have a butterfly effect. Song *et al.* [173] modeled the parking search as a game and then analyzed if the municipal parking policy is suitable. Ayala *et al.* [174–177] focused on the parking competition. Each driver shall be assigned a parking place s/he prefers, or the parking assignment will not be stable, to wit, stable marriage problem. Authors modeled the parking decision by a gravity-based parking algorithm and a game theory model. That is each driver will calculate the gravity value of each parking place with respect to him/herself and his/her neighbors. If his/her gravity value is higher than others, s/he will take this parking place. Karaliopoulos *et al.* [181–183] analyzed the parking choice between on-steet parking and car park. By assuming that each driver can know how many competitors he has for on-street parking, drivers might change their mind and provoke a chain reation. A game-theoretical model is formulated for the drivers' decisions. Authors show the parking search efficency between optimum, priority heuristic and Nash equilibrium. CGPS [190] stands for collaborative game in parking lot search. Authors evaluated CGPS based on game theory in a distributed vehicular network. To collaborate, all vehicles received not only their own cost but also the extra cost of opponents. Based on this, Nash equilibrium is derived to raise the parking search efficiency. Sarasua et al. [189] presented a parking distribution way using the Hitchcock transportation algorithm. Since it considers the network cost, very realistic solutions were given and the system equilibrium could achieve through optimal parking assignment combined with pre- and post-game traffic control strategies. Jin et al. [186] considers the fairness of parking space assignment. Since most drivers cannot arrive the assigned but too far parking spaces on time, the assignment scheme is not fair and shall take the real-time traffic information into account. The traditional First-Come-First-Serced manner is not suitable to cope with the parking competition in rush hours. Authors propose an alogrithm considering walking distance, driving direction and a time limit of arrival. Schlote [185] proposes a parking space assignment based on  $\text{RED}^{25}$ like scheduling algorithm. Authors assume that vehicles only listen to broadcasts from car parks and then estimate the availability of a parking place based on the broadcast information. Authors extended the estimation model from single car park to several distributed car parks considering the effort of feedback on the choice of car park.

# 2.4.3 Driver's Parking Behavior

Parking behavior is an important criterion for smart parking system. Fig. 2.4 shows the different classifications while considering parking behaviors. The parking behavior is firstly concerned with parking system. H. Guo *et al.* [197] formulated the numerical models for through, parking and unparking vehicles and executed them in Monte-Carlo simulation. By changing the probabilities of (un)parking and vehicle arrival rates, the traffic and system capacity are also affected.

Continuing the parking game, each driver has his/her own preferences. PARKA-GENT [195] an agent-based, spatially explicit model for parking in the city. It simulates the behavior of each driver in order to generate distributions of key values like search time, walking distance, and parking costs over different driver groups. It also shows that additional parking supply linearly affects the occurrence of extreme values, but has only a weak impact on the average search time for a parking place or the average walking distance between the parking place and the destination. Jossé *et al.* [196] worked on the search algorithm while coping with parking queries. Authors generated 100 test cases on real world street map data in Munich containing 40186 nodes and 96047 links. The authors compared the greedy and brute-force search algorithms. Greedy search algorithm outperforms on runtime under all conditions and on accumulated vacancy probability when there are more than 20 parking spots. Glasnapp [202] defines an intercept and online surveys in the context of LA Express Park. The results show an ethnographic study and if drivers are aware of dynamic pricing policy and mobile apps.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>RED: random early dection, a scheduling algorithm which accepts all the requests when the buffer is almost empty. But if the buffer grows, the probability of dropping an incoming packet increases as well.



Figure 2.4: The diagram of parking behavior classification according to different focuses of drivers' behaviors.

Depending drivers' preferences, they might choose a parking place or not. If not, they will repeat parking search until they get one or they give it up. M. Chen et al. [200] firstly introduced the key factors influencing parking space choice and evaluated drivers' microbehaviors in parking lots. Then, authors modelled an optimal parking space choices according to fuzzy multiple attribute decision making. Mei et al. [192] described a parking choice behavioral model incorporating drivers perceptions of waiting times at car parks based on VMS near Shanghai. Then the arrival rates were estimated based on driver characteristics, car park attributes and availability information. By using a genetic algorithm, queue length and total travel time are reduced. Caicedo et al. [193] introduced a PARK (parking access and revenue control) system and tried to change the information for drivers, in VMS, to see how drivers change their decisions and if drivers' search time reduced. Authors also proposed a methodology for predicting real-time parking space availability [194]. L. Guo et al. [198] proposed two kinds of parking choice models: a static game-theoretic model and a dynamic neo-additive capacity one in order to capture the competition between drivers for limited parking spaces. The static game assumes that drivers make decisions simultaneously with perfect knowledge about the characteristics of the parking system. The dynamic model considers individual drivers psychological characteristics under uncertainty, i.e., optimistic and pessimistic attitudes, and captures the impacts of the irrational side of parking behavior in addition to the rational aspect. The results show that the dynamic neo-additive capacity model has higher predictive accuracy to the parking system. Ma et al. [199] used six parking facilities in Beijing Lama Temple to investigate the parking behavior around the tourist site.

Authors developed a multinomial logistic regression model which reveals the relationship between parking decision and influential factors. Nurul Habib *et al.* [201] used a sample data set collected in Montreal, Canada. Since travel demand modelling has been undergoing a paradigm shift from the traditional trip-based approach to an activity-based approach, authors gived strong evidence that parking type choice influences the activity scheduling process. Yu et al. [204] focused on drivers' parking choice behavior while choosing an on-street or off-street parking place. Authors studied two groups of survey data. The first group was collected from drivers with complete parking information, and the second one from drivers with incomplete parking information. The results showed that compared with completely-informed drivers, incompletely-informed drivers prefer to pay less attention on walking time and safety but more on parking fee and some other factors. Chaniotakis [203] made a survey to see how drivers choose their parking places according to the probability of having it. A higher availability of parking after 8 minutes of search time is more important than a lower parking availability upon arrival. Four essential factors in determining parking place decision are parking costs, uncertain parking availabilities (availability after 8 minutes), walking distance to destination, and parking availability upon arrival in the order of importance.

# 2.5 Outlook

The results presented in the previous sections are many and diversified, covering different disciplines and topics. We see that the importance of working on smart parking solutions and it provokes many open questions. Our comprehensive survey puts us in a particular position to conclude the existing works and to provide some open questions. In this section, we give a summary and discussion along the line of our classification: information collection, system deployment and service dissemination.

# 2.5.1 Information collection

# 2.5.1.1 Parking detection sensor

In Section 2.2.1, magnetometer and smartphone are obviously the most common parking detection sensors. Although there are some non-governmental smartphone apps to gather parking information from everywhere in the world, such as Parkopedia, Crowdsourcing (e.g., Apila) and parking auction (e.g., ParkingAuction and mobypark), their popularity and convenience are still very limited. Most municipal deployment projects embedded plenty of magnetometers on on-street parking places, and then gather parking availability information via wireless sensor network or cellular link. Fixed sensors can help the government to monitor and manage city's resource anytime. Smartphone app is common for commercial use thanks to the popularity of smartphone (deployment-free). The large-scale sensor deployment requires a big financial expense but the city's revenue from parking ticket seems to be able to compensate the expense and give a promising future extension for smart city.

# 2.5.1.2 Wirless sensor network

Sensors deployed in cities have to be managed through network. Thus, short-range and long-range communication techniques are both used in the municipal deployments in Section 2.3.2. Both of them emphasize the importance of sensor's lifetime and autonomy, and information delay. The long-range communication can benefit from the existing radio access network and gives a promptly connection when needed. But to be energy-efficient, the amount and the size of data transmission are very restricted. The future extension requires the mature technology of the future generation of mobile network, and also the packets often travels farther among many different central units and are all billed. Short-range communication allows some small-size deployment for local service. The data transmission is often unlimited and compatible with present wireless networks. Else, it gives interesting features to maintain local information and can be the preliminary framework of smart cities.

# 2.5.2 System deployment

#### 2.5.2.1 Software system

Smart parking system is an essential part to deal with all the parking resources and requests between parking information, drivers and cities. A framework or architecture for the integration of different technologies is usually presented and then software packages are proposed for reservation, payment, anti-thief, prediction, smart parking app and even the system agility. Municipal projects are often led by big companies and often proposes a system with the similar visions from the trade-offs between business advantages and technical reliability. The software systems are varied according to different commercial solutions, however, the user interface and the way to present parking information is quite similar. A group of parking places is aggregated and simply gives a probability of availability to drivers.

# 2.5.2.2 Data Analysis

Since city owns the spatio-temporal information of parking places, to study the characteristics of data is essential to improve the system efficiency and parking policy. The first purpose is often to propose a vacancy prediction model from collected data so as to show drivers the simplified and understandable information. Besides, the information can be also applied in service dissemination while drivers are completing limited parking spaces. Parking is a problem related to land use, vehicular traffic, city's revenue and human flow. The statistics of parking data will be able to indicate key factors for urban development from technical, economical and environmental perspectives. Since there are few large-scale deployment, the data analysis is still not easily accessible. But we can still see the increasing needs on data science.

# 2.5.3 Service dissemination

# 2.5.3.1 Information dissemination

Information dissemination hesitates if the infrastructure is required for urban services. An infrastructure-based system usually replies on roadside infrastructure or cellular basestation to provide information from parking detection sensors. Otherwise, sensor needs to be able to communicate directly with drivers in order to tell their own status with more anticipated battery capacity in a infrastructure-free mode. Whether infrastructure-based or infrastructure-free, both of them can increase their transmission opportunities by vehicle-to-vehicle communications in multi-hop network. In this case, how to guide messages via geographical multicast is an important question for the emerging vehicular networks.

36

# 2.5.3.2 Parking competition

Large-scale deployment gives some real-world examples while integrating parking sensors with software system. However, most drivers still have problem on finding parking because all drivers who have the same information always chase the same parking place. Also, drivers often do not get the appropriate information, e.g., parking places not on their ways. Thus, the information dissemination shall reduce the traffic flow instead of making drivers cruising for parking. Parking competition is then addressed to understand how the drivers' decisions and decisions can affect the parking system performance. Most systems proposed drivers to make a reservation to avoide conflicts. Besides, dynamic pricing and game theory are currently the two most instinctive methods. To define the parking game, each driver's individual behavior is significant, e.g., vehicle's arrival and departure, user interaction with the parking system via smartphone or VMS, parking decision and drivers' interests. Vehicle's arrival and departure are often linked with markov chain model and combined with parking prediction from historical data.

In this thesis, I mainly focus on the smart parking service from the viewpoint of the city. That is, the information accuracy, timelineness and reliability shall be equally important. Two following parts are urban sensing and urban service in which we will explain our insight and solution for smart parking system deployment.

# Part II

Urban Sensing: An Engineering Insight for Wireless Sensor Network

# **Network Architecture and Protocols**

# 3.1 Introduction

As the urban population is increasing, it brings economic growth and denser urban mobility. Thanks to the smartphone technology, drivers can get diverse urban information simply from mobile apps. Thus, the availability and quality of urban information become one of the most important criteria for smart cities. User-generated urban information is the first proposed and enriches the information sources at different Various interesting information can also be shared according to users' prospects. sudden or periodic urban mobility. The published content could, however, be outdated or false because of insufficient participants or malicious users, as well as limited to human's observation. In view of this fact, wireless networked sensor devices help obtain more types of information and assure of the accurate measurement. According to information types, sensor devices send updated information periodically or on-demand. That is, a network packet which consists of certain information, shall be treated with its corresponding priority in order to respect an acceptable information delay. The increasing mobility motivates new urban services to be carried out by networked sensor devices. In particular, traffic congestion is one of the major issues of metropolis and a huge percent of traffic jams are caused by vehicles looking for parking spaces. So far as urban drivers are concerned, smart streetside parking system assisted by networked sensor devices is needed to shorten the parking search time and the parking distance to destinations.

These networked parking sensor devices detect the availability of parking spaces and form a wireless sensor network (WSN). Such a so-called parking sensor network (PSN) has the following characteristics.

- Parking sensors are stationary, in-ground and scattered with a minimum adjacent distance.
- The network topology is linear and limited by the urban street layout.
- The sensing areas of the parking sensors do not intersect to avoid multiple detection.
- Packet generation rate depends on the vehicle's arrival and departure.
- The availability of parking places should be delivered as a real-time service.

Based on these, we see the importance of device lifetime considering their maintenance and latency while providing real-time service to urban citizens. PSN is a specialized

form of WSN and inherits its energy and delay constraints. To optimize network parameters for best performance, the network traffic is significant. Three mainstream traffic models are request, event and time-driven. Request-driven models are irrelevant for parking sensor networks since continuous recording is required for municipalities. Time-driven or periodic application is often used in testing the performance of network protocols because of its low dependence to the environment. Event-driven application is tricky due to its variety on different types of observed events.

Considering different configurations of parking sensor networks, the MAC protocol, which deals with the bandwidth allocation, will be the first to be confronted. The WSN MAC protocols are mainly classified as contention-based and schedule-based. Contention-based protocols, such as CSMA/CA, are widely used for sensor nodes. Schedule-based, also known as contention-free, protocols require at least one central node time-synchronized or asynchronized networks. Asynchronous methods need to perform a low power listening (LPL) before transmitting each packet, thus its cumulative energy dissipation is not favorable for parking sensor network. From our survey, we focus on the impact of traffic intensity on time-synchronized MAC protocols. Our body of work is to simulate the traffic influence on stationary WSN with the aim of improving the design of network architecture.

Our contributions are summarized as follows: First, we model the periodic and eventdriven urban parking sensor applications by observing vehicle's arrival and departure. Second, we evaluate the energy and delay performance of two different applications through extensive simulations on urban scenarios, so as to compare two fundamental MAC protocols. Third, we provide some key thresholds which help to find a best configuration, and highlight the importance to develop an adaptive MAC protocol which can detect the traffic intensity and switch between different configurations when required. Fourth, we also highlight some remarkable issues for deploying multihop parking PSN.

# 3.2 Related works

Smart on-street parking's main mission are to collect the real-time parking availability information and to disseminate the information to mobile users through a smart-parking app. Two types of collection methods are mobile and stationary. The former is to take advantage of vehicle's mobility to collect information along the route. In which, the most economical is crowdsourcing based mobile application. It is obvious that crowdsourcing parking assistance system cannot provide a reliable real-time service required by municipalities [205]. Neither does the mobile sensor side-mounted on a taxicab or bus for detecting an on-street parking map. For example, the ParkNet system in San Francisco [11], collects data with the location information from GPS receiver and then transmit it over a cellular uplink to the central server. Such a mobile parking sensor system requires much less installation, yet needs a longer average inter-polling time, to wit, 25 minutes for 80% of the cells in busier downtown area with 300 cabs. Stationary collection method is to install on-site vehicle detection sensors, as described in Chapter 2, to monitor the occupancy status of parking spaces. Based on this, large-scale road-side parking sensor network has been implemented in many cities, e.g., SFPARK project [1] in San Francisco, LA EXPRESS PARK [24] in Los Angeles, FASTPRK in Barcelona, CON-NECTED BOULEVARD in Nice and so forth. Among them, the efficiency of parking sensor network is the first concern. A lot of protocols have been proposed for urban WSN applications. We sort them out as the following three groups.

- CONTENTION-BASED protocols are much widely studied in WSN and generally based on or similar to CSMA/CA. When one node has a packet to send, it will have to struggle with the other competitors to get permitted of using the medium. The winner selection is somehow randomized. The synchronous MAC protocols are generally duty-cycled and require time-synchronized, such as S-MAC, T-MAC, CONTI [206], SIFT [207] and so forth. The state-of-the-art synchronization method is to be done through hardware or message exchange, and then a piggybacked acknowledge can be used to solve the clock shifting effect [208]. The asynchronous versions use *low-power listening*(LPL) or its preamble-shortened approach to match up the transmission period between transmitter and receiver end, such as B-MAC, WISEMAC, X-MAC, SCP-MAC [209], RI-MAC [210] and so on. Among them, [211–213] compared the power dissipation between asynchronous and synchronous contention-based protocol. In which, LPL method is interesting in very low traffic intensity (less than one packet per day) or dynamically changing topologies. Otherwise, synchronous protocol outperforms asynchronous one. The drawback of such protocols is the packet collision caused by increasing network density and hidden terminal.
- SCHEDULE-BASED protocols are generally centralized and suitable for static topologies. Assigned nodes play the master role to allocate slotted network resource to their slaves. The mechanism is generally based on TDMA or CDMA. The clock of each node must be time-synchronized. Scheduled slots can be fixed or ondemand. Some noted protocols are like DRAND [214], LEACH [215], TRAMA [216] and TSMP [144]. They use TDMA as the baseline MAC scheme, and then take CSMA, ALOHA or CDMA for improving their join/leave/synchronize messages. The main drawback is the difficulty to adapt to the dynamics of network. In particular, the signaling volume and time to get a response of the centralized control adapting the schedule to the traffic variation.
- HYBRID CONTENTION-BASED & SCHEDULE-BASED is to combine the advantages of both protocols in order to reach the best performance. Z-MAC [217] behaves like CSMA under low competition and under high competition, like TDMA. FUNNELING-MAC [218] uses CSMA as the baseline, and changes to TDMA while receiving on-demand beaconing from the sink, that is to say, nodes close to the sink performs TDMA. FUNNELING-MAC works in the application of data collection. IQUEUE-MAC [219] runs in CSMA in light load and then uses queue-length piggybacking as accurate load information to ask for additional variable TDMA time slots if needed.



Figure 3.1: Multihop parking sensor network

The occupancy and vacant durations are different to get due to the constraint of real PSN implementation. In the past literature, arrivals and departures were generally assumed Poisson distributed, and the occupancy rate of the parking system was analyzed by Markov processes. However, the report of SmartSantander has shown that the vehicle's occupied time can be described by a Weibull distribution [135]. Therefore, which type of MAC protocol suites best the urban smart parking application in terms of network density and traffic intensity? In this chapter, we simulate several different scenarios with different network density, traffic intensity and two mainstream MAC protocols and their hybrid versions in order to find the best configuration while constructing urban WSN applications.

# 3.3 Multihop mesh network

# 3.3.1 Urban sensor topology

The topology of urban sensors is strongly related to the sensor type and city map. In PSN, sensors are installed on parking places. From the real implementation in SFpark project [1], the network deployment is quite consistent. All the wireless parking sensors are in-ground and have limited communication among themselves because of the soil meduim [220] and vehicular obstacles. Thus, sensors regarded as RFD (reduced function device) can only communicate with routers or gateways which are FFD (full function device) and generally mounted on the streetlights or traffic lamps in crossroads. We illustrate an example of topology that could be deployed in a quarter of Lyon in Fig. 3.1. Packets generated on parking sensors have to travel from the closest routers hop by hop until they reach the gateway. The typical topologies of parking sensor networks can be categorized into three groups:

• CROSSROAD: Most routers or gateways are installed crossroads in order to reach their maximum coverage, i.e., each router or gateway can manage more sensors while installing in crossroads.



Figure 3.2: (Left) Timeline of sensor's occupancy status. (Right) Sensor state transition diagram.

- LINE: For some long road segments, routers might be needed to guarantee sensors' connectivity.
- MESH: When enlarging the deployment scale, the network will be constituted of many small crossroad and line-type topologies. Thus, a mesh network between routers and gateway will be formed.

# 3.3.2 Routing protocol

In a multihop mesh network, the impact of a routing protocol on the performance is important. In our situation in which fixed sensor network gathers their packets in gateways, Gradient [221] routing is currently the most energy-efficient routing protocol. To start the routing discovery, the gateway sends a hello message to the network with an height value 0, sequence number, gateway address, and the last sender address. Each device, who received this hello message, increases the height value by one and then store it to their own cost table. If the lifetime of this message is not expired yet, it will be forwarded again to the Internet. Each device might receive several hello message, however, it will choose who has the smallest height value (closest path) to send its packets if needed. Gradient routing guarantees a single-direction route discovery from gateway and it conserves a half of control messages. Numbers in Fig. 3.1 stand for the height value of each device in a packet flow by using the gradient routing.

# 3.4 Parking intensity model

In urban sensor network, sensors are often stationary to monitor certain events, and hence the packet transmission shall always happen and never end. In other words, the key point of modeling an event-driven application will be to find an appropriate distribution to define the traffic interval, namely inter-event interval. Next, we present the modeling of the event occurrence and the definition of information delay with respect to urban smart parking applications.

#### 3.4.1 Vehicle's arrival and departure

In PSNs, the main observed event are vehicles' arrivals and departures. For any parking sensor, each vehicle arrival accompanies exact by one departure prior to next arrival. To model it, we first look at the event occurrence sequence on one parking sensor. We suppose that each parking sensor is precise enough and provides merely two states, namely occupied and vacant, as shown in Fig. 3.2. The occupied time from vehicle's

arrival to departure is so-called parking time  $T_{p,t}$ , conversely, the vacant time is available time  $T_{v,t}$ . During which, each sensor detects the vehicle's presence or absence. Both  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  shall be described by a fitting distribution in order to approximate their randomness. From Vlahogianni's report [135], the massive real-time parking availability data, obtained by four on-street PSNs in Santander, shows that the occupied duration is best described by a Weibull distribution. Besides, the findings in [135] show that the duration of free parking space follows a Weibull distribution as well. By assuming that  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  are both Weibull distributed, the PDF of  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  is given by:

- $f_{X_1}(x_1) = \frac{\alpha_1}{\lambda_1^{\alpha_1}} x_1^{\alpha_1 1} e^{-(\frac{x_1}{\lambda_1})^{\alpha_1}}$  stands for the probability of choosing a parking time  $X_1$ .
- $f_{X_2}(x_2) = \frac{\alpha_2}{\lambda_2^{\alpha_2}} x_2^{\alpha_2 1} e^{-(\frac{x_2}{\lambda_2})^{\alpha_2}}$  stands for the probability of choosing a vacant time  $X_2$ .

where  $0 < \alpha_i < 1$  is a shape parameter and  $\lambda_i$  is a scale parameter, for i = 1, 2. Let X be the sum of two i.i.d. Weibull variates  $X_i$ , i.e.,  $X = X_1 + X_2$ . The approximate PDF and CDF of X proposed in [222] are given by:

$$f_X(x) = \frac{\alpha}{(\lambda^{\alpha)^{\mu}}} \frac{\mu^{\mu}}{\Gamma(\mu)} x^{\alpha\mu-1} e^{-\mu(\frac{x}{\lambda})^{\alpha}}$$
(3.1)

$$F_X(x) = 1 - \frac{\Gamma(\mu, \mu(\frac{x}{\lambda})^{\alpha})}{\Gamma(\mu)}$$
(3.2)

where  $\alpha$  is a shape parameter,  $\lambda$  is a scale parameter such that  $E[X^{\alpha}] = \lambda^{\alpha}$  and  $\mu = E^2[X^{\alpha}]/Var(X^{\alpha}) > 0$ .  $\Gamma(\cdot)$  is the gamma function and  $\Gamma(\cdot, \cdot)$  the incomplete gamma function. If we take  $\alpha_1 = 0.4$ ,  $\lambda_1 = 3600(s)$ ,  $\alpha_2 = 0.7$  and  $\lambda_2 = 900(s)$  referring to [135], and then the vehicle interarrival time of one parking place is obtained as  $T_p + T_v = X_1 + X_2 = X$  in Figure 3.3. From the survival function of vehicle interarrival time, we see that X is also heavy-tailed, i.e.,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .  $\alpha, \mu$  and  $\lambda$  can be obtained by equations (3.3)–(3.5) written in [222].

$$\frac{\Gamma^2(\mu + \frac{1}{\alpha})}{\Gamma(\mu)\Gamma(\mu + \frac{2}{\alpha}) - \Gamma^2(\mu + \frac{2}{\alpha})} = \frac{E^2[R]}{E[R^2] - E^2[R]}$$
(3.3)

$$\frac{\Gamma^2(\mu + \frac{2}{\alpha})}{\Gamma(\mu)\Gamma(\mu + \frac{4}{\alpha}) - \Gamma^2(\mu + \frac{2}{\alpha})} = \frac{E^2[R^2]}{E[R^4] - E^2[R^2]}$$
(3.4)

$$\lambda = \frac{\mu^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \Gamma(\mu) E[R]}{\Gamma(\mu + \frac{1}{\alpha})}$$
(3.5)

where  $E[X^n]$  is the  $n^{th}$  moment of X and given by  $E[X^n] = \sum_{n_1=0}^n \sum_{n_2=0}^{n_1} {n \choose n_1} {n_1 \choose n_2} E[X_1^{n-n_1}] E[X_2^{n_1-n_2}]$ .  $X_i$  is Weibull distributed so that its  $n^{th}$  moment is  $E[X_i^n] = \lambda_i^n \Gamma(1 + \frac{n}{\alpha_i})$ . The count model based on Weibull interarrival times is studied in [223]. The probability of k arriving vehicles in a given interval is given as below:

$$P(N(t) = k) = \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{j+k} (\frac{t}{\lambda})^{\alpha j} \Delta_j^k}{\Gamma(\alpha j + 1)} \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots$$

$$(3.6)$$

where  $\Delta_j^{k+1} = \sum_{m=k}^{j-1} \Delta_m^k \frac{\Gamma(\alpha j - \alpha m + 1)}{\Gamma(j - m + 1)}$  for  $k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$  and  $j = k + 1, k + 2, k + 3, \cdots$ .  $\Delta_j^0 = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha j + 1)}{\Gamma(j + 1)} \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$ . In a business area or on weekdays, the average free time can be shorter according to the area hourely activities or parking policy. Its impact on the network traffic will have to be considered as well. The vehicle's interarrival duration can be expressed as  $Z = T_{p,t} + T_{v,t}$  in which, one turnover is counted. The occupancy rate will be  $E[T_{p,t}/(T_{p,t}+T_{v,t})] = \lambda_1 \Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha_1})/(\lambda_1 \Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha_1})+\lambda_2 \Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha_2}))$ . From literature, Pareto and Weibull distribution have been discussed to describe the burstiness of network traffic. While looking at the Figure 5 in [135], the occupancy duration in four different regions follow the Weibull distribution with the shape parameters approximately  $0.4 \sim 0.7$ . When the shape parameter is smaller than 1, the occupancy duration is heavy-tailed [224]. We took the Weibull parameters in [135] and then get its CDF and survival of Z in Fig. 3.4. Hence, if  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  are both heavy-tailed, so is  $T_{p,t} + T_{v,t}$ . From [225], the CDF F(t)of interarrival time Z has regularly varying tail such that:  $1 - F(t) \sim t^{-\varepsilon} L(t)$  as  $t \to \infty$ . L(t) is a slowly varying function at infinity, that is,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} L(tx)/L(t) = 1 \quad \forall x > 0$ . From Mitov's model, the distribution function of the interarrival times is Weibull with  $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ , the shape parameter  $\nu = 1 - \varepsilon$  and scale parameter  $\gamma = C \sin \frac{\pi \varepsilon}{\pi (1 - \varepsilon)}$ , provided that  $Nt^{1-\varepsilon} \to C$ ,  $0 < C < \infty$  and N is the number of traffic sources, the parking sensors in our case. If we increase the amount of observed parking places, i.e., N, the vehicle interarrival time is shown in Fig. 3.5 and the shape parameter is approximately 1.

# 3.4.2 Event-Driven versus Periodic

# 3.4.2.1 Event-driven traffic

If each parking sensor sends a packet when its sensing state changes, the packet interarrival time Y is confined to the vehicle's interarrival time and will be also heavy-tailed with the shape and scale parameters A and  $\Lambda$ , where  $A = \alpha$  and  $\Lambda = 0.294\lambda$  in Fig. 3.3. Next, we look at a group of parking sensors and evaluate the vehicle interarrival time for a parking area. Here, the vehicle interarrival time stands for the interval of any two consecutive vehicle arrivals of different parking spaces in this area. When the network size increases, the vehicle interarrival time tends to an exponential distribution, shown in Fig. 3.4, i.e.,  $\alpha \rightarrow 1$ . In which, the relationship between vehicle and packet interarrival time varies from  $\Lambda = 0.25\lambda$  (2 sensors) to  $0.225\lambda$  (24 sensors). Fig. 3.5 shows that the packet and vehicle interarrival times of a 24-parking-sensor network follow an exponential distribution (the Weibull's shape parameter is equal to 1). The average interarrival of network packets from parking sensor *i* is  $\frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1,i}\Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha_{1,i}})+\lambda_{2,i}\Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha_{2,i}}))$  per second. While considering N parking spaces, the count model of total generated network packets is:

$$C_N(\Delta t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{2\Delta t}{\lambda_{1,i}\Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{\alpha_{1,i}}) + \lambda_{2,i}\Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{\alpha_{2,i}})}$$
(3.7)



Figure 3.3: The CDF and survival function of vehicle and packet interarrival times of one in-ground parking sensor



Figure 3.5: The CDF and survival function of vehicle and packet interarrival times of 24 in-ground parking sensors



Figure 3.7: Generated packets by eventdriven traffic model while all sensors have the same scale parameters( $\gamma$ ).



Figure 3.4: The survival function of vehicle interarrival times of 2, 5, 10 and 24 inground parking sensors



Figure 3.6: Periodic and Event-driven mixed application with different  $\tau$  and  $\omega$  combinations.



Figure 3.8: Traffic difference between sensor nodes while all the sensors have the same mean of interarrival time( $\frac{Z}{2}$ ) but different shape parameters(0.5 and 1).

Where  $\Delta t$  is the observation period. When  $C_{N_1}(\Delta t) = C_{N_2}(\Delta t)$ , the packet and vehicle interarrival durations are the same. However, in such a case, even though  $N_1 = N_2$ ,



Figure 3.9: Timeline of Network Traffic when having the same scale parameter but different shape parameters 0.5 and 1

we can still find several sets of different combinations of  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\lambda_2$  and  $\alpha_2$ . These parameters decide the variation of  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  which give the information about the utilisation of street parking.

Exponential distribution has been widely used for simulating the vehicle's arrival. It is a Weibull distribution with shape parameter equals to 1. Next, we try to compare the performances while applying Weibull distribution in the network traffic model with respect to Exponential distribution. Fig. 3.7 shows that the packet generation rate is strongly decided by the sum of  $T_{p,t}$  and  $T_{v,t}$  from equation (3.7), and also proportional to the shape parameter(A) when the scale parameter( $\Lambda$ ) is fixed. The reason of reducing packet generation rate is caused by part of longer parking occupancy time, which is well described by heavy-tailed distribution.

Then we fix the average of vehicle interarrival time and compare two different shape parameters 0.5 and 1. In Fig. 3.8, we see that the non-uniform property is more obvious when the shape parameter is smaller than 1. This is because the infinite mean and infinite variance which make a larger variation among parking sensors. Moreover, what is the impact to the gateway, namely network coordinator? Fig. 3.9 shows the network load while managing 24 parking sensors. We can see clearly that when the shape parameter is 0.5, the burstiness of network traffic is more significant and cannot be considered as an Exponential distribution.

#### 3.4.2.2 Periodic/Time-driven traffic

On the contrary, periodic application is only affected by the traffic interval  $\omega$  instead of event occurrence frequency. The amount of generated packets is inversely proportional to the traffic interval. While using periodic traffic model, the amount of network traffic is unaffected by the sensory information. It simply sends out a packet with the current time-stamped status when the time is up.



Figure 3.10: Radio behavior of sensor device

#### 3.4.2.3 Hybrid periodic and event-driven traffic

By assuming that the sensory information is small enough to merge into the packet with energy status information, we define a time parameter  $\tau$  as the threshold to decide when the information is going to be sent. When the sensing state changes at the time point  $t_{now}$ , it will check the delivery time of next periodic packet  $t_{next}$ . If  $|t_{now} - t_{next}| < \tau$ , the occupancy information will be put into the periodic packet to reduce the transmission frequency. Otherwise, this information will be canned into a packet and sent immediately. This way, all the parking information shall be delivered within  $\tau$  seconds. In PSNs, we evaluate the information delay to estimate if the protocol is efficient enough. Information delay is the required time to know a changed occupancy status of a parking sensor. Figrue 3.6 shows the CDF of information delay while applying hybrid periodic and event-driven application. For the generated information such that  $|t_{now} - t_{next}| < \tau$ , the packets will be sent within  $\tau$  seconds uniformly. Otherwise, the packets will be sent right now and will arrive at the destination in  $1^{st}$  duty cycle  $(T_{cycle})$  since the network traffic is not that heavy. The probability of packet arriving in  $1^{st}$  duty cycle is given as  $Pr\{I_i|t_{next} - t_{now}(I_i) > = \tau\} = \frac{\omega - \tau}{\omega} + \frac{T_{cycle}}{\omega}$ , and the probability of packet arriving between  $1^{st}$  duty cycle and  $\tau$  is  $Pr\{I_i | t_{next} - t_{now}(I_i) < \tau\} = \frac{\tau - T_{cycle}}{\omega}$ , where  $I_i$  is the  $i^{th}$ sensed information. Hence, the smaller  $\frac{\tau}{\omega}$  is, the shorter information delay we expect.

# 3.5 Bandwidth allocation

#### 3.5.1 Radio and energy models

#### 3.5.1.1 Energy models of different sensor boards from different providers

For maximizing the sensor's lifetime, each device applies a duty-cycled bandwidth allocation. That is, when devices have packets to send or receive, it simply turns its radio on. Otherwise, the radio shall be off. To implement this, four different radio states emerge to meet the requirement in Fig. 3.10: transmission (radio\_tx), reception (radio\_rx), carrier sensing (radio\_cs) and radio off (radio\_off). The total energy consumption of a device shall be:

$$E_{total} = E_{tx} + E_{rx} + E_{cs} + E_{off} + E_{radio.switch}$$
$$= P_{tx} \cdot T_{tx} + P_{rx} \cdot T_{rx} + P_{cs} \cdot T_{cs} + P_{off} \cdot T_{off} + E_{radio.switch}$$

Where E and P stand for energy and power.  $P_{tx}$ ,  $P_{rx}$ ,  $P_{cs}$  and  $P_{off}$  are restricted by manufacturers.  $T_{tx}$  and  $T_{rx}$  are determined by data rate of radio. Thus, to maximize  $T_{off}$ , the only way is to minimize  $T_{cs}$ . We will introduce how the scheduling is made in order to reduce  $T_{cs}$  period.

# 3.5.2 MAC layer scheduling

Considering that WSN is often bandwidth-limited, the only medium resource is time divisions in a single-channel scenario. From literature, we found that choosing a MAC protocol has been the subject of much controversy in urban sensor networks. We have selected four different types of MAC protocols in order to evaluate the network performance. They are contention-based, schedule-based and hybrid from both of them respectively. From the reason mentioned in Section 3.2, these MAC protocols are all duty-cycled, time-slotted and run in a time-synchronized environment. To minimize the idle listening period in each data slot, each transmitter sends a very small beacon to reserve the medium before starting the data transmission. If the reservation fails, the transmitter will put back the packet into its queue, turn off its radio and wait for the next time slot. Instead of wasting energy to do a vain transmission, sensor nodes prefer to evaluate the receiver's availability through these very small beacons. Our work is to find the most appropriate MAC protocol to deal with the data transmission in the CAP (contention access period) of IEEE 802.15.4 MAC standard [226]. For a better comparison in CAP, these four MAC protocols apply the same amount of time slots and the hybrid versions will adjust the percentage of TDMA or CSMA slots in order to combine the advantages of TDMA and CSMA in one protocol.  $T_{cycle} = (n_{csma} + n_{tdma}) * s_D + T_{GTS} + T_{inactive}$ for n is the slot number.

#### 3.5.2.1 Contention-based bandwidth allocation

CSMA is the default version of CAP in the MAC layer of IEEE 802.15.4. CSMA is the typical contention-based protocol and widely applied in practice. The principle is that the node gets its part of the network resource when it asks for. If more than two nodes declare their demands simultaneously, a competition will happen to decide who is the actual transmitter. Each candidate transmitter chooses a backoff time, after which it sends a reservation beacon. While waiting it listens to the medium. If it hears any beacon in the meantime, it will turn off the radio and wait for the next time slot. The advantages of contention-based resource allocation are the better use of network resource and a short network delay. The drawbacks is the inevitable packet collision which causes arbitrarily high energy consumption and latency on grounds of endless competitions triggered by high node density. If there is a new node which intends to join this network, it will just join the competition and increase the packet collision rate.



\*GTS: Guarantee time slot

\*vTDMA slots: variable amount of TDMA slots

Figure 3.11: Slot allocation methods of CSMA, TDMA, Funnelling-MAC and i-Queue MAC protocols

# 3.5.2.2 Schedule-based bandwidth allocation

TDMA, the typical MAC protocol for schedule-based B.A., is based on a preassigned schedule managed by the network coordinator. Each node arrived in the network will send a request in order to be preassigned to one partition of medium resource to transmit their packets. While the network coordinator does not know in advance the traffic model and node position, it preallocates one partition to all the nodes in his subnet. If a node has no packet to send in its item, the other still cannot seize this occasion to send their packets out. TDMA can achieve a very little packet collision rate but is inflexible for its central schedule control. A signaling process is always needed when the network topology changes. The advantages of schedule-based B.A. are the nearly very little packet collision rate and lower energy consumption since nodes only send beacons in certain slots. If sensor nodes' traffic model is given, schedule-based B.A. can optimize the resource assignment to reach a better performance. The drawbacks are that many time slots are wasted and a longer delay time is caused, also the urban traffic model is dynamic and time-variant. Moreover, if there is a new node which intends to join this network, the gateway will have to reallocate the resource while there is no enough time slots.

# 3.5.2.3 Hybrid contention and schedule-based allocations

We choose two adaptive hybrid MAC protocols, Funnelling-MAC and i-Queue, in order to find a balance between contention and schedule-based methods. Fig. 3.11 explains the differences between CSMA, TDMA, Funnelling-MAC and i-Queue.

**49** 

Simulation time	86400 seconds
Batch experiences	#20
Sensor number	$12 \sim 120$
Gateway number	1
Distance	Between two adjacent sensors: 5 meters
Distance	From the gateway to its vicinal sensors: 10 meters
Transmit power output	3 dBm
Receive sensitivity	-85 dBm
Radio	802.15.4 with data rate $250$ kbps
Power	$P_{tx}$ =65.7mW, $P_{rx}$ =56.5mW, $P_{cs}$ =55.8mW, $P_{off}$ =30 $\mu$ W
Tower	$E_{radio.switch}{=}0.16425 \mathrm{mJ}$
MAC	Duty-cycled schedule & contention-based bandwidth allocation
MINO	Slot duration $(s_D)=0.1s$ . Retransmission & Piggyback
Application	Event-driven - $\lambda_1, \lambda_2$ & $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 0.5$ , Periodic - $\omega$
(scenario  1 & 3)	Packet size 84 bytes
Application	$T_p$ parking time ~ Weibull( $x_1; \alpha_1, \lambda_1$ ). $\alpha_1 = 0.4$ . $\lambda_1 = 60 * 60$ .
(scenario 2)	$T_v$ vacant time ~ Weibull( $x_2$ ; $\alpha_2$ , $\lambda_2$ ). $\alpha_2 = 0.7$ . $\lambda_2 = 15 * 60$ .
	Packet size 84 bytes
	Hybrid event-driven and periodic: $\omega = 120s$ . $\tau = 30s$
Routing	Gradient [221] with an update period of 8000 seconds
Propagation	Corner pathloss( $\lambda = 0.125$ ) [227] + Rayleigh fading

Table 3.1: Simulation parameters for contention-, schedule-based, and hybrid bandwidth allocation methods

- Funnelling-MAC [218] is a hybrid version of TDMA and CSMA. All devices run CSMA by default. The devices, which are N-hop away from the gateway, will change to TDMA and then ask for a time slot to the gateway. When N = 1, Funnelling-MAC works nearly like TDMA in one-hop scenario. Funnelling-MAC is equal to TDMA when N = #Max Hop.
- i-Queue [219] sets a one-byte queue indicator in the MAC header, so that the gateway will be informed of the additional demands from data packets and reply with some additional time slots from vTDMA (variable TDMA) slots. If the gateway receives no request of vTDMA slots, the duration of vTDMA slot will become inactive and useless for sensor nodes. Since the packet interarrival time is scattered in PSNs, i-Queue MAC behaves nearly like CSMA. Here, we assume that only the gateway can issue an additional vTDMA slots to the nodes one-hop far away.

# 3.6 Evaluation

Our simulations, performed with the WSNET simulator [228], use the simulation parameters in Table 3.1. We first take one small cell in a crossroad with different network density for scenario 1. The topologies are depicted in Fig. 3.12. Then we configured 3 different topologies by referring to the three regions in [135] with traffic parameters for scenario 2. To clarify the influence of four different MAC protocols, we choose one set of parameters from them for scenario 2. The topologies are depicted in Fig. 3.22. Finally,



Figure 3.12: Topologies of different numbers of sensors. Increase the node density by adding one more line or one more side of curb parking.

we reuse the R3 to produce the scenario 3 in order to see the impact of transmission power. We set the slot durations are both 0.1 seconds in order to have the same active time and so does the throughput.

# 3.6.1 Impact of traffic intensity and node density - scenario 1

# 3.6.1.1 Impact of network density

Figures 3.13 and 3.14 shows the per-node energy consumption using periodic and eventdriven network traffic models. The x-axis stands for the sensor number in the network. In schedule-based B.A., the minimum energy depletion is required to arrange the schedule. As the network dimension increases, each sensor also consumes more energy. Contentionbased B.A. suffers from packet collision when the network competitors increase. Else, periodic traffic, which generates one packet per 60 seconds, has too much interference and cannot send more packets after there are more than 84 network competitors. Figures 3.15 and 3.16 show the information delay of event-driven application under schedule- and contention-based B.A.. The information delay of periodic application is strongly related to the traffic interval and not appropriate for real-time urban application. We will show the result in next subsection. Event-driven application is more sensitive to the bandwidth allocation methods and generally proportional to the duration of duty cycle  $T_{dc}$ . From the result, we know that: First, the probability of a packet arriving in  $k^{th}$  duty cycle is  $p_k \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} (1-p_i)$  where  $p_i$  is the probability that the packet is received in  $i^{th}$  cycle. Second, when a packet arrives in  $k^{th}$  duty cycle, the arriving time point is uniformly distributed with the mean  $\frac{T_{dc}}{2}$ . The expectation of information delay of event-driven



Figure 3.13: Per-node energy consumption of (left) periodic and (right) event-driven applications while varying N and traffic parameters under *schedule*-based B.A.



Figure 3.14: Per-node energy consumption of (left) periodic and (right) event-driven applications while varying N and traffic parameters under *contention*-based B.A.

application is calculated as below:

$$E[T_{delay}] = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (p_k \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} (1-p_i))(k-\frac{1}{2})T_{dc}$$
(3.8)

$$= \frac{p_1 T_{dc}}{2} + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} (1 - p_1)(1 - p_2)^{k-2} p_2(k - \frac{1}{2}) T_{dc}$$
(3.9)

Here  $p_i$  is mainly a function of the network load, duty cycle and resource allocation method. In contention-based protocol, we see that packets have a very low chance to arrive the destination if they do not arrive in first duty cycle. When the network load is affordable for the network,  $p_1$  is quite high and  $\{p_i\}_{i=2}^{\infty}$  are all similarly very low. If packets do not arrive within first duty cycle, the delay time starts to be arbitrarily large. That is the drawback of CSMA. In schedule-based protocol, if packets do not arrive in first duty cycle, they still have a good chance to arrive in the coming cycles. In a word, we can get the following equations to calculate the information delay from the results:



Figure 3.15: Information delay of *event*-driven application while varying traffic parameters and node number under *schedule*-based B.A.



Figure 3.16: Information delay of *event*-driven application while varying traffic parameters and node number under *contention*-based B.A.

$$E[T_{delay.contention}] = T_{dc}(\frac{1-p_1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{2})$$
$$E[T_{delay.schedule}] = T_{dc}(\frac{1}{p_1} - \frac{1}{2}) \quad \text{for } p_1 = p_2$$

Cette thèse est accessible à l'adresse : http://theses.insa-lyon.fr/publication/2015ISAL0138/these.pdf © [T. Lin], [2015], INSA Lyon, tous droits réservés



Figure 3.17: Per-node energy consumption: *Periodic* application under (left) contentionand (right) schedule-based B.A. while N = 24



Figure 3.18: Information delay: *Periodic* application while varying traffic parameters (N = 24) under (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A.



Figure 3.19: Per-node energy consumption: *Event-driven* application under (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A. while N = 24

# 3.6.1.2 Impact of traffic intensity and burstiness

The simulation we ran in this section used the topology depicted in Fig. 3.12(b) with 24 nodes. Fig. 3.17 shows the relationship between traffic interval  $\omega$  and per-node energy



Figure 3.20: Information delay: *Event-driven* application while varying traffic parameters (N = 24) under (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A.



Figure 3.21: Per-node energy-delay trade-off of event-driven application in (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A. while N = 24

consumption, we see that periodic traffic is less affected by the B.A. method and strongly related to the traffic interval. The periodic traffic is equivalent to constant bit rate so that the traffic is known and uniform among all sensor nodes. Hence the deviation of consumed energy is not apparent. In Fig. 3.18, we see that the information delay between periodic and event-driven applications is not that different. Since the arriving time point during the traffic interval is uniformly distributed, its expected value can be calculated by the summation of the application-layer delay and MAC-layer end-to-end delay, that is,  $\frac{\omega}{2} + T_{dc}(\frac{1-p_1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{2})$ . If the event occurrence frequency is much higher than traffic interval, the sensory status could change more than one time in  $\omega$  seconds. In this way, some update information will be missed if the sensor does not store it into packet and the information delay will be also shorter and exponentially distributed. However, it is obvious that the consumed energy is extremely low while  $\omega > 1200$ . In other words, the information delay which is more than 1200 seconds will not be acceptable for real-time urban services. But it is interesting to assign a periodic traffic with a long interval on sensor nodes simply to inform gateways of their existences and current battery status. On the contrary, event-driven application, affected by Weibull distribution, has a larger variation on packet generation rate, and so does the energy consumption, shown in

Fig. 3.19. The burstiness of Weibull traffic model creates a strong non-uniform traffic on each sensor node because of its infinite variance. Fig. 3.20 shows the information delay while the network dimension is fixed. When the network load is affordable for the network  $(p_1 \rightarrow 1)$ , the information delay is generally proportional to  $T_{dc}$ . When we increase the event occurrence rate  $(T_{p,t} + Tv, t = 4800 \rightarrow 320)$ , p1 starts to reduce from 0.96 to 0.88 in schedule-based B.A. and from 0.99 to 0.96 in contention-based B.A.. Even the network load is high, contention-based protocol can still delivery more packets (79%) than schedule-based (68%) in first duty cycle thanks to its dynamic bandwidth allocation method. Schedule-based protocol requires more central information exchange between sensors and network coordinator so that it is much less adaptive to the traffic variation and not preferable for distant sensor nodes.

#### 3.6.1.3 Impact of duty cycle

From Fig. 3.21, duty cycle is generally determined by slot duration which is, however, bounded by traffic model. The minimum slot duration  $T_{slot.min}$  shall be long enough to complete a reservation and a piggybacked packet transmission so that packet size and data rate are the important factors. Nevertheless, the maximum slot duration  $T_{slot.max}$  is limited by the minimum required throughput according to applications carried out in the network. That is to say, if the slot duration is equal to  $T_{slot}$  seconds, the maximum throughput will not exceed  $\frac{1}{T_{slot}}$  packets per second by assuming that the inactive period is zero. We varied slot duration from 0.1 to 1.2 seconds by applying the topology in Fig. 3.12(b) with 24 nodes and then got the energy-delay trade-off. For  $T_{p,t} + T_{v,t} = 160, T_{slot.max} \ll 3.33$  considering the routing overhead. Hence, we can see that the energy deviation is more obvious when the slot duration is approximating to  $T_{slot.max}$  in contention-based B.A.. That is because the number of data slot decreases with  $\frac{1}{T_{slot}}$  and results in more network competitors in each data slot. However, thanks to the extremely low collision rate in schedule-based B.A., the energy deviation is still low even though we increase the slot duration. Accordingly, while having the same slot duration, the energy consumption in contention-based B.A. is a bit higher, yet the information delay is much shorter. In other words, subject to the throughput conditions, for the same information delay, contention-based B.A. consumes significantly less energy than schedule-based one.

#### 3.6.2 Impact of network topology - scenario 2

#### 3.6.2.1 Packet interarrival time

Figures 3.23 and 3.24 show the packet interarrival time of 24 wireless parking sensors in two different topologies, namely crossroad and line types. Compared with Fig. 3.5, the interarrival time is reformed and the average value is until 30 according to the traffic threshold  $\tau$  which decides when an updated information is delivered. The contentionbased protocols restore better the curves to the original form which is the exponential distribution, thanks to its traffic adaptive property. In the topology R2, parts of parking sensors are far away from the gateway and can only reach the gateway by the router in the middle of the street through two-hop. This way, we see that CSMA and i-Queue



R1 – Crossroad: 1 gateway & 24 parking sensors

R2 – Line: 1 gateway, 1 router & 24 parking sensors

R3 – Mesh: 1 gateway, 5 router & 60 parking sensors

Figure 3.22: Three different topologies for our simulations



Figure 3.23: The survival function of packet interarrival time on the gateway side: Crossroad

Figure 3.24: The survival Figure 3.25: The survival function of packet interar- function of packet interarrival time on the gateway rival time on the gateway side: Line

side: Mesh

MAC both give similar interarrival time which is close to the original form in Fig. 3.24. On the contrary, TDMA and Funnelling, applied schedule-based around the gateway, have a longer delay time and differ from the other two. Also some packet interarrival times are over 30 seconds because of the longer transmission distance. Fig. 3.25 can be regarded as a mix-up of crossroad and line types. As the network size increases, so does the probability of packet arrival. It is obvious that the different MAC protocols cause a slight difference. However, the interarrival time is still approximately an exponential distribution. Hence, the Markov's queueing model may be possible to apply.



Figure 3.26: The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status: Crossroad





Figure 3.27: The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status: Line





Figure 3.28: The information delay of a changed parking occupancy status: Mesh



6.3Ah: Crossroad

Figure 3.29: The lifetime of Figure 3.30: The lifetime of Figure 3.31: The lifetime of parking sensors while  $s_D$  = parking sensors while  $s_D$  = parking sensors while  $s_D$  = 0.1s and battery capacity 0.1s and battery capacity 0.1s and battery capacity 6.3Ah: Line

6.3Ah: Mesh

#### 3.6.2.2Information delay

Smart parking service provides real-time information to drivers thanks to the unceasing parking sensing. Thus, the change of parking occupancy status must arrive at the gateway at a shortest delay. In the topology of R1, each parking sensor can reach the gateway in one hop. In Fig. 3.6 we showed the two turning points of periodic and eventdriven hybrid application, namely at the time point of one-time duty-cycle and switching threshold  $\tau$ . The information delay of the topology R1 is shown in Fig. 3.26, and only TDMA shows clearly the two turning points since its duty-cycle period is longer than the others. While changing to the linear topology R2, TDMA has almost no difference but prolongs its information delay by one-hop more communication. Contention-based protocol basically performs a better delay time in the beginning but then less good that TDMA in the end. Funnelling-MAC assigns the nodes one-hop around a guaranteed time slot uniformly but it does not consider the different traffic loads among them. In R2, the router and all the parking sensors, between the gateway and the router, are all assigned their exclusive time slot once. However, the router, who has to forward all the generated packets in its right side, will have much more packets to send than its neighbors. In a word, there is a bottleneck on the router and it prolongs the network delay time distinctly. i-Queue MAC basically adapts to the network traffic according to the queue indicator. But restricted to the vTDMA period, the contention access period is shortened and it provokes more packet collisions. Normally, the vTDMA period is expected to help to reduce the CSMA-slot competitors, but it is less common that a node has two consecutive packets with the sporadic traffic in PSNs except the routers. Thus sensors compete in a shorter contention access period and packet collision happens more frequently. Then if we increase the network dimension, it implies that there are more routers around the gateways. The result in Fig. 3.28 shows that i-Queue MAC has a good performance as CSMA but the slot allocation still requires at least one packet transmission in the CSMA time slots of CAP. TDMA has a very long information delay because of its longer duty-cycle and also the construction of multihop scheduling. The schedule can be optimized when the network topology is known.

# 3.6.2.3 Lifetime

Finally, we look at the autonomy of parking sensor network. The most important is the energy depletion. If the parking sensor cannot live for a long time, the maintenance of the infrastructure will be expensive for the city. We limit the battery capacity to 6300mAh, the slot duration 0.1 seconds and  $T_{GTS} + T_{inactive} = 0$ , then compare the lifetime of parking sensors under different bandwidth allocation strategies. Fig. 3.29 shows the lifetime in the topology R1 crossroad. Since each parking sensor can reach the gateway through one hop, the packet collision rate is low and so does the energy deviation. Funnelling-MAC is between TDMA and CSMA according to the percentage of TDMA slots ( $n_{tdma}$ ) and CSMA slots ( $n_{csma}$ ). Here we added Rayleigh fading in the propagation model and some nodes can probably run in CSMA mode if they do not receive the slot allocation messages in the beginning. i-Queue MAC behaves like CSMA but consumes a bit more energy as a result of few contention time slots and additional size in the i-Queue MAC header.

Fig. 3.30 shows the energy consumption of the linear topology R2. It is obvious that all MAC protocols have a higher energy depletion deviation except TDMA. That is because TDMA is the only contention-free (schedule-based) MAC protocol in our scenarios and half of nodes have to run in multihop network which provokes an hidden terminal problem. Funnelling-MAC has a very bad performance in linear topology due to the unbalanced TDMA slot allocation for the router.

Fig. 3.31 shows the lifetime of parking sensor in mesh topology. The energy depletion variation of TDMA varies more than the other two topologies because the larger network dimension costs more energy during the signaling period. i-Queue MAC benefits from more routers around and reduces the competitors in the network. However, its energy variation is still as much as CSMA. Funnelling-MAC has a quite good energy efficiency in the mesh network if each linear path is not too long. Hence, to improve the Funnelling-MAC, the routing protocol will also be concerned.


Figure 3.32: Parking Map with 120 parking sensors



Figure 3.33: Per-node consumed energy and delay of event-driven application under (left) contention- and (right) schedule-based B.A.

## 3.6.3 Impact of transmission power - scenario 3

## 3.6.3.1 Impact of multihop

While deploying a large-scale parking sensor network, multihop is inevitable considering the complexity of urban environment and the limitation of transmission range. Since the transmission range is generally proportional to the transmit power output (TPO), to reduce TPO and transmit packets with a shorter transmission distance will be a good idea to extend the lifetime of parking sensors. The longer lifetime the sensor has, the fewer maintenance the municipality has. From the previously discussed in Scenario 1, we see the problem of energy hole and hop limit (delay). For a better consideration, we take a parking map from SFpark [1] and construct it in our simulation depicted in Fig. 3.32. Here, all sensors work as a reduced function device and can only communicate with repeaters or gateways. Only repeaters and gateway, namely full function device, can forward any received packets until the packet arrives the gateway. Since parking sensor is generally in-ground and repeater can be installed on the streetlight and powered by solar cell, this configuration is greatly preferable to municipalities. With the parking map we have, we first deploy repeaters in each intersection and in the middle of the road section when needed. In this simulation, we take four different  $TPO = \{3, 0, -3, -7\}$ dBm. In Fig. 3.32, the red repeaters are needed when TPO is equal to 3 and 0 dBm. When TPO is -3 dBm, the red, blue and grey repeaters are all needed as well. When TPO is -7 dBm, the grey repeater cannot provide a stable support and have to add some more repeaters to guarantee the quality of service. When TPO is smaller than -10 dBm, the density of repeater will be very high (at least 2 repeaters per road section). The energy and information delay results are shown in Fig. 3.33 while applying contentionand schedule-based B.A.. Also, we get some facts from this experiences: First, the update frequency of gradient routing, which affects the transmission path, shall be high enough according to the dynamic urban environment. Second, the network is divided into several small dimension cells so that contention-based protocol shall be favorable. Third, a minimum TPO is required considering the router deployment limited by the street layout. Fourth, the load of each router, labeled as a numeric in Fig. 3.32, shows that the load balancing is needed for gradient routing; otherwise, certain routers will run out of energy soon.

## 3.7 Summary

In this section, we summarize our results in Section 3.6 and provide engineering insights to streamline the WSN construction of urban smart parking application. The B.A. method is the utmost important key point of determining energy consumption and information delay when traffic and node densities are known a priori. We applied two fundamental types of B.A. to our simulations instead of choosing particular protocols. In this way, we can see clearly that how the traffic intensity and node density affect the network performance and the results could serve as guidelines for urban sensor network designers. We discuss it separately from the following viewpoints by referring to Fig. 3.34.

- NETWORK TRAFFIC MODELS We showed that the impact of the periodic traffic interval for selecting an appropriate  $\omega > 1200$ , and then the influence of event triggered application with Weibull distributed vehicle occupancy time. From [224], the shape parameter is always smaller than 1 and heavy-tailed. Weibull distributed packet interarrival time also shows the burstiness and non-uniform packet generation rate of network traffic comparing to exponentially distributed. The traffic characteristics requires a dynamic bandwidth allocation, e.g., contention-based MAC. When the event occurrence frequency is 2 times more than  $\omega = 1200$ , part of event-driven packets can be combined with the periodic traffic so as to reduce the network load and energy consumption after evaluating the information delay.
- INFORMATION DELAY From the results, the delay time can be calculated by equa-



Figure 3.34: Best configuration versus vehicle activity and network density

tion(3.8) and then mainly determined by the probability of arriving in 1<sup>st</sup> duty cycle  $(p_1)$  and the duration of duty cycle  $(T_{dc})$ . In schedule-based B.A., if packets do not arrive in 1<sup>st</sup> duty cycle, they can still have quite high chance to arrive in 2<sup>nd</sup> or 3<sup>rd</sup> duty cycle. In contention-based B.A., the packets, which do not arrive in 1<sup>st</sup> duty cycle, will probably never arrive or have a very long information delay due to the exponential backoff time. Thus, while the ratio of network dimension to network load is higher than 0.3, schedule-based B.A. shall be applied to ensure the packet delivery ratio.  $N = 0.3 * \frac{1}{2} * (T_{p,t} + T_{v,t}) = 0.3(\frac{1}{2}\lambda\gamma(1 + \frac{1}{\alpha}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu\gamma(1 + \frac{1}{\beta}))$ .

- ENERGY-DELAY TRADE-OFF The energy consumption is proportional to network dimension, traffic variation and duty cycle. The duty cycle is generally determined by slot duration and limited by  $T_{slot.max} < \frac{1}{N}(\frac{1}{2}\lambda\gamma(1+\frac{1}{\alpha})+\frac{1}{2}\mu\gamma(1+\frac{1}{\beta}))$ . While giving a desired information delay, contention-based MAC consumes much less energy. What will happen if the network traffic and node densities are both high?  $T_{dc}$  shall be greater than  $\frac{2}{T_{p,t}+T_{v,t}}$  or  $\frac{1}{\omega}$  respectively. Since  $\frac{2}{T_{p,t}+T_{v,t}} \ll \frac{1}{2\omega}$  to apply periodic application, certainly  $\frac{1}{\omega}$  exceeds  $T_{dc}$  faster than  $\frac{1}{2\omega}$ . By assuming  $N_m$  is the maximum number of nodes to apply periodic application in schedule-based B.A., we have  $((N+1)*T_{slot}+T_{inactive})^{-1} = \frac{1}{\omega}$ . Thus,  $N_m = \frac{\omega}{T_{slot}} 1$  if  $T_{inactive} = 0$ .
- TRANSMIT POWER OUTPUT The PSN architecture introduced in subsection 3.6.3.1 is good for extending the lifetime of in-ground sensor nodes. Based on this, the communication range is significant for router/gateway deployment. A minimum TPO is required for sensor nodes so as to reach these routers or gateways in cross-roads.
- LOAD BALANCING In multihop network, the routing path is maintained by gradient routing. From the results in Fig. 3.32, we see the network load in each router is highly non-uniform. The load balancing shall be considered into the implementation of routing protocol.

Then, we studied the wireless parking sensor networks from the viewpoint of network traffic and MAC protocols. The traffic model is generally affected by vehicle's arrival and departure which are both heavy-tailed. While looking at a group of parking sensors, the simulation shows that the packet interarrival time is no longer heavy-tailed but exponentially distributed, which might help the reuse of Markov's queueing model. Then we chose four different types of MAC protocols and evaluated them in 3 kinds of network topologies. The result show that an hybrid adaptive MAC can help to improve the network performance by providing a better energy-delay trade-off. However, it can also drop the network performance when the topology changes. Funnelling-MAC is a quite good choice for the crossroad and mesh topologies, but not for a long linear one. The other hybrid MAC protocol, i-Queue MAC, only works well in small cell and one-hop network because the burstiness of PSN is caused by increasing transmitters, not the traffic load of one sensor node. The important criteria of choosing an appropriate MAC protocol are to consider the deployment of sensors and routers which connect to gateway directly and their traffic models, like the packet interarrival time can presents the bursty network traffic on different groups of nodes. From the result, it also shows that the information delay is bounded by application and MAC parameters, even with the bursty traffic generated by Weibull distribution.

## **Deployment of Urban Infrastructure**

## 4.1 Introduction

As traffic congestion increases in cities, a smart parking system that assists drivers to find a parking place is of vital importance. There are plenty of low-cost off-street parking solution available in the market, but there is still not an optimal solution



Figure 4.1: Smart parking information flow

for on-street parking. Some cities have started their smart parking projects, e.g., SFpark (San Francisco) [1] and SmartSantander (Santander) [135]. These cities adopt a sensor-enabled on-street parking system that installed ferromagnetic parking sensor on each spot and indicate its vacancy. To obtain the parking occupancy status, sensors can send messages via either long-range communication, like Sigfox or LoRa, or short-range communication, such as 802.11ah, low-power WiFi or Zigbee. These parking detection sensors are mostly installed underground and it is costly to replace their battery. An common objective is that each sensor should be autonomous for at least 5-20 years. Long range low-power cellular networks give great energy efficiency thanks to the ultra-narrow band technology, but it is limited in terms of bandwidth and reactivity, e.g., Sigfox nodes can send at most 140 12-byte transmission messages a day. In a previous work [86], we have shown that the generated messages for smart parking application follow a heavy-tailed distribution [135]. The limits of low-power cellular networks can be overpassed by the sensors in the most dynamic parts of cities. In such settings, the short-range communication that provides more capacity at low-power energy levels is usually favorable. In this work, we consider a city-wide wireless mesh infrastructure (WMI) comprising mesh routers (MR) and Internet gateways (IGW). The deployment of WMI networks at a citywide level with reasonable costs [229] is the primary concern. Due to the limitation of the soil medium and battery energy [220], the underground sensors communicate directly with roadside overground MRs or IGWs. Sensors, MRs and IGWs form wireless parking sensor networks in metropolitan areas and provide real-time information to users in Fig. 4.1. The deployed sensors are generally scattered with a minimum adjacent distance of 2-5 meters (angle or parallel parking) in order to avoid multiple detections. The network topology is mostly linear and uniform along the street layout. In Fig. 4.2, we see that MR (repeater) and IGW (gateway) are mostly installed at crossroads in the real-life deployment because most traffic panels are installed at crossroads with electrical cable. Some sensors might be too far from MR/IGW, thus multispace parking meters are often used as a network relay. MR/IGW can also benefit from the line-of-sight situation to reach the maximum coverage. As IGW (2000  $\in$ ) provides more functionality as an Internet portal, it is more expensive than MR (10  $\in$ ), which simply serves as a relay or message collector [5]. There are three main characteristics of the deployment of smart parking sensor network: energy, connectivity and timeliness.

Our previous study [86] shows the essential issues when constructing parking sensor networks in urban areas: in-ground sensor lifetime, network connectivity, load balancing of WMI and sensing information delay. These issues correlate with the two following deployment problems: The first is the WMI deployment: Sensor lifetime is generally affected by the radio module on sensor boards, especially the wireless transmission power. The transmission power depends upon the transmission distance from a sensor itself to the closest WMI. To ensure its connectivity, a minimum transmission power will be applied. This means a denser WMI deployment will help extend a sensor's lifetime. Second is the IGW deployment: In a multi-hop mesh network, each MR has to process its own packets and those from their descendants. A longer route path increases network load, packet loss rate and information delay. Thus, load balancing and network delay both have to be both taken into account when deploying IGWs.

Our contribution is to formulate the problem of deploying a smart parking multi-hop mesh networks within city infrastructure and solve it with a multi-objective optimization approach. We also highlight the following insights on the design of parking sensor network: First, the sensor's total energy is determined by the amount of intersections and is inversely proportional to the number of active WMIs. Second, the sensing information delay is related to the average degree of complexity of the street-parking graph. Thus, the complexity of city street layout is an important factor while building urban infrastructure. Third, the IGW deployment can be seen as a cluster problem on parking sensors' geographical position. Once the selection of WMI is done, the cluster number will be the minimum amount of deployed IGWs. Fourth, we show the trade-offs between sensor's lifetime, information delay and the cost of city infrastructure to be provided as a guideline, and take it into account while integrating with the pre-existing infrastructure.

## 4.2 Related works

From literature, the network performance is strongly determined by the density of MR and IGW. Marks [230] highlights the most important objectives while deploying wireless sensor networks. He *et al.* [231] studied the relationship between MR/IGW capacity and deployed amount using two tree set partitioning approaches. Li *et al.* [232] proposed a grid-like gateway deployment to achieve the optimal throughput. This method is somehow similar to a crossroad-based deployment. Konstantinidis *et al.* [233] and Syarif *et al.* [234] both proposed a multi-objective evolutionary approach to aid the sensor deployment. [235] optimized the IGW deployment with a multi-objective problem as well. However, we do not see an actual map of real world street being considered in a multi-objective optimization. In this chapter, we are mainly interested in the impact of

the map on the deployment of city infrastructure. We consider a multi-objective problem and optimize it by using the real on-street parking maps.

## 4.3 Gateway & router deployment

To analyze the problem above, we propose the following methodology: We define four objectives in our scenario: energy, connectivity, cost and latency of the multi-hop mesh network. From these constraints, we can also get some parameters, which are relevant to sensor's lifetime and sensing information delay. We build two graphs: an on-street parking network and a wireless link set, to indicate the relationship between any two given intersections. We then consider two different maps, which have the same length of street parking area, but with completely different street layout. Finally, we take the adjacency matrices as the data inputs of our constraints and try to optimize them.



Figure 4.2: The deployment of SFpark[1]

#### 4.3.1 Multi-hop modeling

We define the graph of a city by the set of street

intersections (V) and the set of road segments (E) between them. Then, C = (V, E) represents city graph. For all  $v_i$  and  $v_j \in V$ , we give two binary variables to express the status of each crossroad  $v_i$  by Eqs. 4.1 and 4.2:

$$x_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if a WMI is installed in } v_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

$$y_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if an IGW is installed in } v_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

The amounts of deployed WMIs and IGWs are expressed in Eq. 4.3 and 4.4 respectively. In such a case, there are  $(\phi_x - \phi_y)$  MRs. For formulating our deployment problems, we define some variables in Table 4.1.

$$\phi_x = \sum_{i \in V} x_i \tag{4.3}$$

$$\phi_y = \sum_{i \in V} y_i \tag{4.4}$$

V	$\{v_0, v_1, \dots\}$ list of intersections
E	list of road segments where are parking places
W	list of wireless links between each intersection
$d_{i,j}$	segment distance between $v_i$ and $v_j$
$d_{max}$	maximum road segment length
$\Omega_s$	per-sensor energy consumption
$\Omega_{WMI}$	per-WMI energy consumption
$ ho_{i,j}$	sensor density uniformly distributed on the road segment between $v_i$ and $v_j$
$f_i$	packets aggregated from WMI in $v_i$ (packets/s)
$\Gamma_{i,j}$	the managed length on road segment $(i,j)$ on the WMI in the intersection $v_i$
$k_{i,j}$	the managed sensor amount of each road segment around the intersection $v_i$
$h_i$	path distance (hop count) from WMI in $v_i$ to the its corresponding IGW
$M_{ns}$	maximum sensor numbers per MR
$M_{mr}$	maximum capacity of MR (packets/s)
$M_{igw}$	maximum capacity of IGW (packets/s)
$M_{hop}$	maximum hop count

Table 4.1: Variable index for deployment constraints

#### 4.3.1.1 WMI deployment and sensor lifetime

If a WMI is installed in  $v_i$ , it can manage a part of the sensors deployed in the adjacent road segment (i, j). We assume that it manages a segment of length  $\Gamma_{i,j}$  starting at  $v_i$ . As a consequence, the sum of the partial segments managed by both intersections has to be greater than the length of road segment (Eq. 4.5). Moreover, the road length managed by each WMI cannot be greater than the road segment (Eq. 4.6 and 4.7). The density of parking sensors varies according to the parking type. For example, in a common parallel parking, the average distance between adjacent parking sensors is 5 meters, thus sensor density  $\rho_{i,j}$  is 0.2. In Eq. 4.8 the amount of sensors managed on each WMI can be calculated by the sum of each managed road length multiplied by sensor density.  $M_{ns}$  is limited by the bandwidth allocation/scheduling method, e.g., a contention-based MAC protocol cannot serve more than 70 sensor nodes simultaneously when the traffic intensity is high. In Eq. 4.9, if  $\Gamma_{i,j}$  is not zero, it implies that there must be one WMI in  $v_i$  which manages one part of road segment (i, j).  $d_{max}$  is a normalizing constant greater than all road segments.

$$\Gamma_{i,j} + \Gamma_{j,i} \ge d_{i,j} \quad \forall (i,j) \in E \tag{4.5}$$

$$\Gamma_{i,j} \le d_{i,j} \quad \forall (i,j) \in E \tag{4.6}$$

$$\Gamma_{i,j} \le (1 - 0.5 \cdot x_j) \cdot d_{i,j} \quad \forall (i,j) \in E$$

$$(4.7)$$

$$\sum_{(i,j)\in E} \Gamma_{i,j} \ \rho_{i,j} \le M_{ns} \quad \forall i \in V$$

$$(4.8)$$

$$x_i \ge \Gamma_{i,j}/d_{max} \quad \forall j \in V \tag{4.9}$$

$$k_{i,j} = \lfloor \Gamma_{i,j} \ \rho_{i,j} \rfloor \ \forall (i,j) \in E$$

$$(4.10)$$

Once we get  $\Gamma_{i,j}$ , the amount of parking sensors managed by  $v_i$  on the road segment (i,j) is  $k_{i,j}$  (Eq. 4.10). In [86], we remarked that sensor's power consumption mainly comes from the transmission packets correlating with the traffic intensity. Sensors mainly

transmit their sensed information to WMI and only receive control messages from WMI, thus each sensor has a similar reception power  $P_{rxmw.s.i}$ . Since each sensor has to be aware of any happening around itself, it always applies a sensing cycle for event detection. It costs  $P_{sensingmw.s.i}$ , which is similar in every sensor because it is very low. We assume that each sensor (initialed s) has a transmission power determined by the transmission distance so that the total energy consumption is shown in Eq. 4.11. Obviously, to minimize  $\Omega_{s.total}$ , we shall optimize  $k_{i,j}$ , which is proportional to  $\Gamma_{i,j}$ . That is why deploying more WMIs can improve the energy efficiency of in-ground sensors.

$$\begin{split} \phi_{\Omega_s} &= \Omega_{s.total} = \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{s \in v_i} \Omega_{s.i} = \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{s \in v_i} \Theta(P_{txmw.s.i} + P_{rxmw.s.i} + P_{sensingmw.s.i}) \\ &= \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{s \in v_i} \Theta(10^{\frac{P_{txdbm.s.i}}{10}}) = \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{s \in v_i} \Theta(d_{s,i}^{\frac{1}{10}}) = \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{(i,j) \in E} \sum_{l=1}^{k_{i,j}} \Theta((\frac{l}{\rho_{i,j}})^{\frac{1}{10}}) \\ &= \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{(i,j) \in E} \sum_{l=1}^{k_{i,j}} \Theta(l) = \sum_{v_i \in V} \sum_{(i,j) \in E} \Theta(\frac{1}{2}k_{i,j}(k_{i,j}+1)) \end{split}$$

$$(4.11)$$

#### 4.3.1.2 IGW deployment and sensing information delay

The establishment of a multi-hop network is the main concern in this part. Here, we first define some binary variables to express the relationship between intersections in Eqs. 4.12–4.14. For a node, its parent is the node that has direct communication and forward its packets to the Internet; its ancestor is the node which involves in forwarding its packets to the Internet; its IGW is its portal of the Internet.

$$b_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if WMI in } v_j \text{ is parent of the one in } v_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.12)

$$a_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if WMI in } v_j \text{ is ancestor of the one in } v_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

$$g_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if IGW in } v_j \text{ manages MR in } v_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

In the wireless urban sensor network, a gradient-based routing is often adopted thanks to its fewer control messages. Each sensor can forward a packet to its available neighbor with the smallest height (shortest network distance) [236]. We define the multi-hop constraints according to the gradient-based routing protocol. Once the intersections to install WMIs are decided, we will choose some to install IGWs and keep the remains for MRs (Eq. 4.15). In Eq. 4.16, each node cannot be its own parent. If  $v_j$  is the parent of  $v_i$ , it is its ancestor as well (Eq. 4.17). However, it will not be the child of  $v_i$  simultaneously (Eq. 4.18). In Eq. 4.19, each MR has only one parent-node, and each IGW has no parent.

$$y_i \le x_i \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.15}$$

$$b_i = 0 \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.16}$$

$$b_{i,i} = 0 \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.16}$$
$$b_{i,i} \leq a_{i,i} \quad \forall \ (i, i) \in W \tag{4.17}$$

$$b_{i,j} \le a_{i,j} \quad \forall \ (i,j) \in W \tag{4.17}$$
$$b_{i,j} + b_{j,i} \le W_{i,j} \quad \forall \ (i,j) \in W \tag{4.18}$$

$$b_{i,j} + b_{j,i} \le W_{i,j} \quad \forall \ (i,j) \in W$$

$$(4.18)$$

$$\sum_{v_j \in V} b_{i,j} = x_i - y_i \quad \forall \ (i,j) \in W$$

$$(4.19)$$

In Eq. 4.20, each WMI is its own ancestor. In Eqs. 4.21, if  $a_{i,j}$  is equal to 1, it implies that there are WMIs installed both in  $v_i$  and  $v_j$ . In Eq. 4.22,  $v_i$  and  $v_j$  cannot be the ancestor of each other at the same time, i.e., the link is unidirectional. In Eq. 4.24, each IGW is managed by itself. In Eq. 4.25, if  $g_{i,j}$  is equal to 1, it implies that there is an IGW installed  $v_j$ . Since each IGW manages itself, it cannot be directed by another IGW (Eq. 4.26). In Eq. 4.23, if the IGW in  $v_i$  manages the MR in  $v_i$ , the IGW is the ancestor of the MR. In Eq. 4.27, each MR is managed by exact one IGW.

$$a_{i,i} = x_i \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.20}$$

$$a_{i,j} \le x_i, \ a_{i,j} \le x_j \ \forall \ i, j \in V \tag{4.21}$$

$$a_{i,j} + a_{j,i} \le 1 \quad \forall \ i \ne j \in V \tag{4.22}$$

$$g_{i,j} \le a_{i,j} \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.23}$$

$$g_{i,i} = y_i \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.24}$$

$$g_{i,j} = y_j \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.25}$$

$$g_{i,j} + g_{j,i} \le 1 \quad \forall \ i \ne j \in V \tag{4.26}$$

$$\sum_{v_j \in V} g_{i,j} = x_i \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.27}$$

In Eq. 4.28, if the MR in  $v_i$  is the child of the one in  $v_j$  and the descendant of the one in  $v_k$ , the MR in  $v_j$  is the descendant of the one in  $v_k$  as well. In Eq. 4.29, if the MR in  $v_i$  is the descendant of the one in  $v_j$  and managed by the IGW  $v_k$ , the MR in  $v_j$  is also managed by the IGW in  $v_k$ . Hence, the hop distance of WMI in  $v_i$  can be counted by the amount of its ancestors (Eq. 4.31).  $M_{hop}$  is the maximum hop distance in the network (Eq. 4.30).

$$b_{i,j} + a_{i,k} \le a_{j,k} + 1 \quad \forall \ i, j, k \in V$$
(4.28)

$$a_{i,j} + g_{i,k} \le g_{j,k} + 1 \quad \forall \ i, j, k \in V$$
(4.29)

$$h_i \le M_{hop} \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.30}$$

$$\sum_{v_j \in V} a_{i,j} = h_i \quad \forall \ i \in V \tag{4.31}$$

The average sensing information delay is calculated by the average hop count, which we



Figure 4.3: An example of a multi-hop network

divide the sum of the required hop counts of each WMI by the amount of WMI (Eq. 4.32). Fig. 4.3 gives an example of 4 WMIs: Node 3 is the Internet portal for all the others; Node 2 and 4 connect directly to node 3; Node 1 connect to node 3 via node 2. Then, node 2 is the parent of node 1; node 3 is the parent of node 2 and 4; node 2 and 3 are both the ancestors of node 1 and node 3 is the ancestor of node 4. Fig. 4.4 shows the values of  $a_{i,j}$ ,  $b_{i,j}$  and  $g_{i,j}$  when they are equal to 1.  $h_i$  signifies the hop count from the sensors managed by MR<sub>i</sub> to its IGW.

$$\phi_{h/x} = (\sum_{v_i \in V} h_i) / (\sum_{v_i \in V} x_i)$$
(4.32)

Figure 4.4: An example of the variables for the multi-hop network in Fig 4.3

Network capacity can be expressed in Eq. 4.33. According to the network distance of each MR, the collected packets will be re-transmitted  $h_i$  times, which generate more traffic on each ancestor. Thus the traffic capacity will be restricted by the maximum capacity of each WMI, i.e.,  $M_{igw}$  and  $M_{mr}$  for IGW and MR, respectively. Packet generation rate  $f_i$  depends on the vehicle's arrival and departure. This process has been shown to have a heavy-tailed distribution similar to the Weibull distribution [135]. In Eq. 4.34, the energy consumption is estimated to be proportional to the WMI's capacity, IGW amount and traffic intensity.

$$\sum_{v_i \in V} f_i \ a_{i,j} \le M_{mr} + y_j \ (M_{igw} - M_{mr}) \ \forall \ j \in V$$

$$(4.33)$$



Figure 4.5: Map 1 – Lyon on-street parking map between Place Bellecour and Place Carnot. The red dots indicate the selected intersections to install WMIs.

$$\Omega_{WMI.total} = \sum_{v_i \in V} \Omega_{WMI.i}$$

$$= \sum_{v_i \in V} \Theta(P_{txmw.WMI.i} \cdot (\#packet_{tx}) + P_{rxmw.WMI.i} \cdot (\#packet_{rx}))$$

$$= \sum_{v_i \in V} \Theta(P_{txmw.WMI.i} \cdot (\sum_{v_j \in V} f_j \ a_{j,i}) + P_{rxmw.WMI.i} \cdot ((\sum_{v_j \in V} f_j \ a_{j,i}) - f_i))$$

$$= \sum_{v_i \in V} \Theta(2 \ (\sum_{v_j \in V} f_j \ a_{j,i}) - f_i)$$

$$\leq \sum_{v_i \in V} \Theta(2 \ (M_{mr} + y_i \ (M_{igw} - M_{mr})) - f_i))$$

$$= \Theta(2(M_{igw} - M_{mr}) \ \phi_y - \sum_{v_i \in V} f_i)$$
(4.34)

## 4.3.1.3 Multi-objective optimization

With the above equations, we try to solve a multiple-objective problem  $min(\phi_x, \phi_{\Omega_s}, \phi_y, \phi_{h/x})$ .  $\phi_x$ , the amount of deployed WMIs, stands for network connectivity.  $\phi_{\Omega}$  indicates sensor's lifetime.  $\phi_y$ , the amount of deployed IGWs, deals with load balancing.  $\phi_{h/x}$ , the average hop distance from managed sensors to the closest IGW, demonstrates the information delay. The computations are performed in Sage [237] using the CPLEX solver.



Figure 4.6: Map 2 – Lyon on-street parking map between Place Terreaux and Place Bellecour. The red dots indicate the selected intersections to install WMIs.

## 4.3.2 Map retrieval

Before resolving our problem in Sage, we took the city OSM file from OpenStreetMap<sup>1</sup>. Then with Osmosis<sup>2</sup>, we filtered the unnecessary information and keep only the streets and intersections. Then we trimmed the street map with respect to the parking map in Lyon City's website. Figs. 4.5 and 4.6 shows the graph from our retrieved map in Gephi<sup>3</sup>. We used Osm2pgrouting<sup>4</sup> and pgRouting<sup>5</sup> to calculate the distance between intersections, i.e., vertexes in our graphs. By referring to [227], we only keep the line-of-sight wireless links in W. Two maps are retrieved and depicted in Figs. 4.5 and 4.6. Map 1 has a grid-like parking distribution. Map 2 is less regular because of pedestrian areas. The total parking area length in both maps is approximately the same. However, map 2 has 27% more crossroads than map 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>www.openstreetmap.org

 $<sup>^2</sup> wiki.openstreetmap.org/wiki/Osmosis$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>gephi.github.io

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>wiki.openstreetmap.org/wiki/Osm2pgrouting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>pgrouting.org

## 4.4 Multiple-objective optimization

We propose two kinds of optimization methods: First, deterministic optimization assumes a blank area without any pre-existing WMIs. Second, stochastic optimization considers a set of pre-existing WMIs and calculates how many additional WMIs we shall expect to install. Then, we test our methods on the two different street layouts obtained in Section 4.3.2.

## 4.4.1 Network architecture

In [86], we have studied parking sensor networks and provided the best configuration under different bandwidth allocation methods. Considering the collision problems and the traffic intensity, we compared the energy consumption with different scenarios. A schedule-based media access control protocol and an event-driven application are the most suitable for our scenarios in map 1 and 2. Thus, we assume a pre-scheduled transmission time for all sensors and MRs, and then we focus on the relationship of the multi-hop networks.



Figure 4.7: Total sensor energy consumption (sensor's lifetime) v.s. the amount of deployed WMIs (cost)

## 4.4.2 Characteristics of maps

In Figs. 4.5 and 4.6, the red dots on the nodes are optimal intersections to install WMIs, i.e.,  $x_i$  equals to 1. The minimum amounts of required WMIs are 49 (over 100 intersections) and 60 (over 127 intersections) in map 1 and 2 respectively. Map 1 has a quite uniform length among all the road segments, and Map 2 has an irregular road length and most of them are very short. With the similar amounts of underground sensors, the cost of map 2 is higher because more WMIs are required to guarantee the network coverage. Thus, we see that the cost of deploying WMIs is positively correlated to the number of intersections.

### 4.4.3 Energy efficiency

From the set of  $x_i$ , we got  $\Gamma_{i,j}$  and calculated the energy indicator in Eq. 4.11. Since the amount of WMIs signifies the cost of mesh infrastructure, Fig. 4.7 shows the relationship between the cost and sensor's lifetime. As the WMI increases, the energy depletion decreases due to the closer transmission distance between sensors and WMI. Two curves both drop when the deployed amount of WMI accounts for 80% of the intersections. Since the road segments are longer in map 1, more sensors have a larger transmission range, hence a higher transmission power. Thus, the maximum energy consumption in map 1 is higher than the one in map 2 in the beginning. Conversely, map 1 has fewer intersections and is covered faster than map 2 by the WMI. We concluded that the



Figure 4.8: Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs (cost) in map 1



Figure 4.10: Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs (cost) under the best (100%), the average (80%) and the worst (50%) cases for sensor lifetime in map 1



Figure 4.9: Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs (cost) in map 2



Figure 4.11: Average hop count (information delay) v.s. the amount of deployed IGWs (cost) under the best (100%), the average (80%) and the worst (50%) cases for sensor lifetime in map 2

sensor's lifetime correlates to the amount of intersections based on the characteristics of maps.

## 4.4.4 Cost of infrastructure

The cost of infrastructure is calculated by  $MR \cdot \#MR + IGW \cdot \#IGW$ , where #WMI = #MR + #IGW and IGW > MR (#:amount, :price). Both Fig. 4.8 and 4.9 show the relationship between the cost and the delay with the minimum amount of WMIs (~ 50%). The IGW deployment can be seen as a cluster problem on parking sensors' geographical position. According to the amount of IGWs, we divide all the WMIs into several partitions and then select one IGW from each of them. In Fig. 4.8, the amount of WMIs in map 1 is fixed to 49 even there is only one IGW. That is because each WMI is interconnected thanks to the grid-like topology. On the contrary, in Fig. 4.9, the additional WMIs are required in map 2 when there are less than four IGWs. That is





Figure 4.12: The total amount of required WMIs (total cost) v.s. the amount of preexisting WMI in map 1. The difference between the green and blue curves is the cost of the extra WMIs (extra cost).

Figure 4.13: The total amount of required WMIs (total cost) v.s. the amount of preexisting WMI in map 2. The difference between the green and blue curves is the cost of the extra WMIs (extra cost).

because those wireless links between the 60 WMIs form 4 clusters geographically. When we select one IGW in map 2, these 4 clusters require extra WMIs to be interconnected. Thus, if we want to install IGW without creating any additional wireless radio links in map 2, the minimum IGW amount will be four.

#### 4.4.5 Information delay

From our previous work [86], the information delay is proportional to the hop count and the sleep-wake scheduling, i.e., duty cycle. To prevent packet collision caused by channel interference, each hop takes at least one duty cycle. Since the network traffic is quite scattered in most urban sensor networks, the generated packets are often sent within one duty cycle. The information delay can then be calculated by the product of hop count and the duration of duty cycle. In Fig. 4.7, we see that the amount of WMIs impacts the energy consumption. Thus, we take three different amounts to stand for the worst (50% of intersections), the average (80%) and the best (100%) cases of the sensor's lifetime, respectively. Fig. 4.10 and 4.11 show the relationship between the hop count and the amount of IGWs, i.e., the trade-off between the cost of infrastructure and the information delay under different situations of sensor's lifetime. When the amount of IGWs is low, increasing the amount of WMIs helps to reduce the information delay; however it does not apply the other way around.

#### 4.4.6 Integration of pre-existing mesh networks

Mobile network operators (MNO) often take advantage of domestic WiFi hotspots to expand their public WiFi service. These hotspots could also be used as WMIs in wireless urban sensor networks via a plug-and-play zigbee network adapter or an extended network of 802.11 family, e.g., 802.11s. Thus, we define  $z_i$  is a binary value which equals to 1 if there is a pre-existing WMI in  $v_i$ , so that  $x_i \ge z_i \quad \forall i \in V$ . We consider a random generated map of pre-existing WMIs  $\{z_i\}$ . After re-executing our equations on map 1 and 2, the results are shown in Fig. 4.12 and 4.13. The red line is the minimum amount of required WMIs. The blue line is the amount of pre-existing WMIs, i.e., existing hotspots. The difference between the green and blue curves is the extra WMIs we need to install (extra cost). Since the map of pre-existing WMIs is stochastically generated, their position is not optimized. That makes the total amount of WMIs increases but less expensive for the city to start from scratch. Both Fig. 4.12 and 4.13 show two phases in the influence of the pre-existing WMIs. The amount of pre-existing WMIs positively correlates to better deployment. On the other hand, if the pre-existing WMIs are more than half of the intersections, less extra WMIs are required. The existing hotspots can always access the Internet directly and can be seen as IGW. Hence, the extra WMIs are the less costly MRs.

## 4.5 Summary

In this chapter, we studied and introduced a wireless on-street parking sensor network from the viewpoint of system deployment. We highlighted some important factors and parameterized them in the linear equations. To consider a more realistic urban environment, we retrieved two different parking maps with the same parking area length. We then took their adjacency matrices as our data input and solved them by a multiobjective optimization. We provide our insight and observation based on the results of five types of figures: the characteristics of maps while deploying city mesh infrastructure, the trade-off between sensor's lifetime and cost of infrastructure, the trade-off between information delay and cost of infrastructure at the minimum cost (minimum amount of WMIs), the relationship between sensor's lifetime, information delay and cost of infrastructure, and the additional cost of integrating into the pre-existing infrastructure. While deploying city mesh infrastructure, our model can give a clear sketch so as to anticipate the minimum cost of city infrastructure with an expectable network performance.

The traffic intensity is not considered in the results because the packet generation rate is quite low. However, if we transform the model to an heterogeneous urban network, the traffic intensity will be an issue, and the aggregation problem will have to be considered. Since the metropolitan sensor network attracts more and more attention to urban service, the IGW can also play the rule of the road side units. This way, the buffer size and the vehicle trace will have to be considered in the equations later.

## Part III

# Urban Service: A Distributed Service for Smart Parking Assistance

## Chapter 5

# An Extended Content-based Publish-Subscribe Service

## 5.1 Introduction

Thanks to the rapid growth of M2M technology, cities are ready for deploying urban services. Smart parking has been one of the first implemented urban services in smart cities. Smart parking apps have mushroomed all over the world. Current smart parking apps usually provide a graphical user interface for drivers to choose their preferred parking places. However, parking information is dynamically changing and it is always forbidden to operate smartphone while being at the wheel.

For this reason, publish-subscribe service is proposed as the most favorable event messaging paradigm for urban services. Publish-Subscribe service is designed for users who are interested in various spatio-temporal information, especially in urban areas. Users have to first describe their interests as an information subscriber. Certain APIs, such as subscribe(),  $subscribe\_update()$  and unsubscribe(), can assist users to specify their interests. In relative terms, the information source is the publisher that spreads the information it possesses to network using publish() without knowing who are its subscribers. In order to conduct the information to the correct subscribers, intermediate network nodes have to read the message content and execute an interest-data matching. If a specific server exists to cope with these subscription and publication messages, we name it broker. Broker maintains a subscription list and a publication table, and then performs notify() when there is a new subscription or a new or updated publication. To notify all the interested subscribers of a new or updated publication at once, a multicast or multi-geocast routing of underlying network is required instead of consistent transmission.

Such a Publish-Subscribe event messaging paradigm is an application-level network since the information flow is driven by the users' their interests and geo-locations. As a result, the network path between publisher and subscriber can be long according brokers' behaviors. Smart municipal parking service usually adopts parking sensors as information source. Sensors publish their occupancy status to closest gateway, namely roadside infrastructure (RSI) or infostation, if there is any change. Parking detection sensors are generally deployed in metropolitan road networks and restricted to the urban street layout, so do drivers and the corresponding RSIs. The available parking information is collected by RSIs from on-street sensors, and then appeared on drivers' devices, i.e., smart parking apps on smartphones, peer-to-peer (P2P) network infrastructure. If RSIs and vehicles communicate through mobile network, RSIs or a central server can be the brokers. If cruising vehicles get information from opportunistically vehicular network (V2V and V2I), vehicles and RSIs can both be the brokers and form a structured overlay. This way, each vehicle has a public buffer to store shared information and private ones for personal use.

However, many ensuing problems are provoked in such a service system, for example, the annoying endless parking search conflicts. This is resulted from the lacks of user's service consideration and the scalability of service deployment. The former shall adapt the network behaviors to the users' context [238] and message content. The latter shall permit the storage and propagation of information to be done efficiently in a dynamically changing urban environment. Centralized cloud-based system is universally known for its scalability [239; 240], however, it requires a costly seamless network connection between RSIs in order to provide the one-hop look-up technique. Contrarily, opportunistic P2P-based network, which omits the physical cable installation, seems to be an alternative solution in metropolitan areas [241–243].

In this chapter, we propose a messaging paradigm named SCAMP (Service -centric Continuous Announcement Messaging Paradigm) to dispose thoughtfully urban information. Considering the already achieved optima of the existing centralized solutions, we postulate that SCAMP is deployed in fully opportunistic vehicular networks, so that information will travel between cars (V2V) and RSIs (V2I). To solve the parking conflict problem, we adopt a continuous update service within SCAMP to disseminate the real-time parking information, that is, an extended Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm. Publish-Subscribe service allows drivers to specify and subscribe to information which they are interested in and then to receive a *push* if there is any update. Sets of publications and subscriptions have to be maintained distributedly and dynamically. All vehicles and RSIs can perform an interest-data matching in order to steer the new or updated publications to correct subscribers and vice versa. Since RSI is always fixed and manages sensed information directly from sensors, it plays consistently the role of brokers and forms a structured overlay which allows information to be accessed more efficiently.

As such, opportunistic network relies on vehicles to carry, forward or reply to all messages. Three key points will affect vehicular behaviors in SCAMP: if vehicles consider themselves a proper node to forward/reply to messages for others according to their location and mobility, if messages are worth being forwarded/replied to in terms of the matching results, and if vehicles have incentives to forward/reply to messages. The chapter has the following two main contributions: First, we propose a partial crowdsourcing continuous update parking service supported by mobile vehicles and roadside infrastructure at junctions. Vehicles and RSI are fully opportunistic without installing any costly cables. Second, we adopt a Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm to provide continuous update services for mobile users by using key-based routing protocols in a structured manner. The content matching can result in 8 different actions: to forward or not, to respond or not, to make a new query or not, and to respond according to the new query or not.

## 5.2 Related works

## **Publish-Subscribe**

As previously mentioned, Publish-Subscribe is an information-centric service. While deploying Publish-Subscribe in a fully opportunistical network, the consideration of user's context and message content is the most significant. In the emerging opportunistic network, user's mobility is the main concern. Fotiou *et al.* [244] presented a Publish-Subscribe architecture  $\Psi$  supported by the built-in multicast and caching mechanism.  $\Psi$  is an information-centric model which can support mobility. Authors compared their solution with traditional internet mobility ones to show the advantages of  $\Psi$ .

Rezende *et al.* [245] presented a Publish-Subscribe communication in mobile ad hoc network and showed the impact of mobility in shaping the network behavior. To extend publisher's and subscriber's communication range, different mobile nodes can be used as brokers. T. Pandey *et al.* [246] proposed a Publish-Subscribe communication in vehicular network. Since brokers always play the most important roles to couple and decouple publishers and subscribers, authors presented a structured P2P overlay of mobile brokers using city buses. Because of the unstable connectivity between mobile brokers, message aggregation is often applied in order to maximize the information quantity per transmission.

N.K. Pandey *et al.* [247] proposed a distributed approach to Publish-Subscribe aggregation. Authors presented 3 different aggregation methods: early at the publisher's edge, late at the subscriber's edge and adaptive rate-based at the brokers' edge. The early aggregation significantly reduces the traffic for workloads where the publication rate is higher than the aggregation notification rate. But this approach is not always optimal. The adaptive rate-based method can help improve under some situations. The service type is crucial to the description of user's interest, namely message content. Since each node has to match the set of publications with that of subscription and vice versa, it will have to make decision based on matching results. However, messages are forwarded or/and replied by one vehicle or RSI according to information quality. If the information is very useful for subscriber, vehicles shall be in support of replying this message. Otherwise, vehicles shall favor to forward this message to get more complete matching results. Hyytiä *et al.* [248] define a 4-action set to assess the most appropriate decision to make after doing a content matching.

Tariq *et al.* [249] proposed a P2P-based Publish-Subscribe system with subscriber-defined QoS. Subscribers adjust the granularity of their subscriptions according to their bandwidth constraints and delay requirements in a decentralized manner. If subscriber's interest is not well defined, the Publish-Subscribe system can only execute a bad matching and reply nothing to subscriber. Thus, subscription adaption is needed to compensate for the availability of data. Jayaram *et al.* [250] proposed an algorithm to adapt subscription without hampering throughput or latency. Sermpezis *et al.* [251] studied the relationship between content's popularity (interest) and availability (data). They established an analytical framework to see the effects of these factors on the delay and success probability of the service access through opportunistic network.

#### Geocast

Geocast is to send messages to a certain geographic area. It is a challenge to implement a geocast in opportunistic network since we cannot guarantee that messages always arrive where we want to send. Most data dissemination solutions tried to flood directionally the network and increased the packet reception rate [252]. However, flooding causes too many packet collisions due to the hidden terminal problem in urban areas, so that it drops the network throughput and successful transmission rate. To avoid this problem, vehicles shall decide who forwards their receipt messages based on several retransmission heuristics. Hall [253] presented two primary heuristics: minimum transmission time and distance threshold, which take the amount of heard copies in the medium and the distance from message transmitters into account. Forwarding alone cannot always take messages far. Some other factors shall also be considered, such as heading direction and location, to decide if vehicles can carry messages to specific areas in case of no pathway to transmit. Ahnn et al. [241] designed a scalable sensor network platform to share location-aware information called GeoServ. Mobile users can publish or access sensor data via distributed P2P overlay network. A geographic map id from Tigermap gives a GID (grid id) to the sensed data in each grid area. While users send an information query, the geocast routing can find data location via its GID.

## 5.3 Publish-Subscribe architecture

Fig. 5.1 shows an illustration of three-layered system architecture. Content layer contains two kinds of information: users' interests and parking data. Users' interests stand for subscriptions (in green) and sensed parking data are the publications (in blue). In most cases, drivers know that the parking information is around their destination. Infrastructure layer shows the physical network in the real world. The data travel between vehicles and RSIs according to users' interests. Since RSI is always fixed at junctions, there is a minimum distance between any two adjacent RSIs, and RSI often has a higher network degree than vehicles. Hence, we designate these still RSIs to be cluster heads who manage the mobility of information subscribers by sending the mobility updates (in orange). Each cluster is a quadtree naming region. When one publisher in the cluster 1100 publishes an update to the network, each node verifies first if the receipt message matches up their own interests. If so, the node receives this message and forwards it if there is any subscribers around. Otherwise, nodes check their own driving direction to see if this message can hitch a ride. The message forwarding follows the content-based and geocast addressing in the logical layer. That is to say, the information will be delivered to its local subscribers and where there are distant information subscribers with cluster heads' addresses namely the quadtree GID. The system design will respect the follow-



Figure 5.1: Illustration of SCAMP's three-layered system architecture

ing requirements: First, drivers can access the geographic parking information without interruption by using continuous update service. Second, the system shall be always aware of user's latest location in order to provide the required information continuously as fast as possible. Finally, since the parking availability changes dynamically according to the vehicle flow, so does the network. Thus, the message aggregation, splitting and customization shall be taken into account.

## 5.3.1 Publish-Subscribe service

Fig. 5.2 shows that publisher and subscriber-ends are realized in the application layer, however, Publish-Subscribe service is mainly supported in the logical layer. The logical layer grants the system intelligence to be able to deal with events and guarantee the seamless message exchange between content and infrastructure layers. When publishers or subscribers send messages containing publications or subscriptions to the network, the logical layer has to match them up and then steer messages to correct destinations. It means a broker is implemented in intermediate nodes in order to maintain the sets of publications and subscriptions and to execute the interest-data matching. Then intermediate nodes will decide how to process the messages according to matching results and some piggybacked information. Once subscribers receive the interesting information, they may change their mind on which impacts the information dissemination geographically.

82



Figure 5.2: Publish-Subscribe service architecture

uid =	1817	rid =	578973
gid =	1100	$t_{stamp} =$	20140703T11:15
$s_{type} =$	'parking'	$C_{\alpha} =$	$\int \langle n_{park} \rangle_m$
$p_{type} =$	'standard'	GS =	$\left\{ {\ < \mu ,\sigma ^2 ,n_{gap} >_{um} }  ight.$
$\mathrm{v}_{type} =$	'Nissan xxx'	$N_D =$	1
dst =	< lat, lon >	$N_E =$	3
range =	400 m	$cost_S =$	€1/hr
$t_{park} =$	20140703T13:05	$cost_E =$	€2/hr
$f_M =$	$< \alpha, d >$	$R_e =$	15%

Figure 5.3: An example of driver's subscription (left) and RSI's publication (right).

## 5.3.2 Driver's interest

Vehicular drivers can subscribe, unsubscribe and update their subscription of parking information simply by specifying their interests in the subscription. Fig. 5.3 gives an example of interest description of one driver. To identify each driver and his/her location, the content includes the driver's id and geolocation. Drivers shall also specify their vehicle type in case of non-demarcated parking areas. Besides, drivers shall provide the estimated parking time to classify the message priority. The historical information is neglected since future drivers are not involved in the parking game. range and  $f_M$  are used by the broker for executing matching and information quality analysis. Let  $C_{uid}$  denote the set of drivers' interests:

$$C_{uid} = \{c_{uid}(t) | t \in T\}$$

$$(5.1)$$

 $c_{uid}(t_{park}) :< uid, gid, s_{type}, p_{type}, v_{type}, < lat, lon >_{dst}, range, t_{park}, f_M >$ (5.2)

### 5.3.3 Parking availability information



Figure 5.4: Illustration of a on-street parking segment with two gaps

The on-street parking zones in France are mostly non-demarcated. To collect the information from non-demarcated zone, we first assume that sensing technology is good enough to provide multiple detection with the length of available parking spaces (Fig. 5.4). For each road segment with on-street parking, the available parking information is the amount of gaps between two adjacent parked vehicles and their corresponding lengths. For example, the vehicle length varies from 2.5 to 4.17 meters in France. A gap of 3.5 meters is only interesting for the vehicles less than 3 meters. If a driver is querying the parking occupancy information within certain time or certain distance, it implies that this driver is very close to the destination and only interested in the accurate information. Then a list of road segments which conforms to this driver's interests will be sent to this driver. Otherwise, a list of road segments with the historical statistics from which conforms to the driver's interests shall be provided. This is not considered in our models. We postulate a parking area mixed with demarcated and non-demarcated parking spaces. We presume that the parking information is aggregated from sensors, then the current  $(r_{ab})$  information of each road segment between junctions  $i_a$  and  $i_b$  is expressed as:

$$r_{ab}(t) :< rid, t_{stamp}, G_S, N_D, N_E, cost_S, cost_E, R_e > .$$

$$(5.3)$$

rid is the road segment id.  $G_S$ ,  $N_D$  and  $N_E$  stand for the amount of available standard, disabled and electric vehicle parking, respectively.  $cost_S$  and  $cost_E$  are the parking fee for standard and electric vehicle parking.  $R_e$  is the information error rate which expresses the uncertainty of data and is generally calculated by sensing accuracy, wireless link quality and software/hardware defects. Fig. 5.3 shows an example of parking content description namely publication. A set of publications containing parking contents of several roads is maintained in brokers in order to reply drivers' inquiries. The historical information in  $r_{ab}^H(t)$  can be calculated as below and stored in brokers in order to provide users with the predicated occupancy status:

$$G_{t_h}^C = \frac{1}{\Delta T} \int_{t_h} G(\tau) d\tau \qquad \text{for } t_h \in T^c$$
(5.4)

$$G_{t_h}^H(t) = E[G_{t_h}^C]$$
 for  $h = 0, 1, ..., m - 1$  (5.5)

#### 5.3.4 Content-based matching

There are several ways to filter the information issued by publishers. Two main message filterings are topic-based and content-based. Topic-based system allows publishers to title the information by certain topics. Subscribers receive all the information issued by the topics to which they subscribe. Content-based system provides a deeper information filtering, for example, user's location and timestamp. Subscribers receive the information which tallies with their interests. Since subscribers usually do not have knowledge of what kind of information they can subscribe to, the attributes of users' interests are defined in Section 5.3.2. To execute a content-based filtering, we simply see if  $r_{ab}$  conforms to user's interest  $c_{uid}(t_{park})$ .

## 5.4 Publish-Subscribe on dynamic changing network

#### 5.4.1 Information aggregation

Since parking sensor is usually individually installed, the information received is also discrete. While drivers are looking for parking places, they only want to know if there is at least one parking place on a street no matter where the place is exactly. Also, the availability of non-demarcated street parking is somehow difficult to be presented separately. Thus, an early information aggregation is performed on RSIs, so that drivers can see the occupancy status of each street, shown in Fig. 5.3. While executing a content-based matching, brokers will verify all the publications or subscriptions in their buffer. If there is a new or updated subscription, all the suitable  $r_{ab}$  will be aggregated into one message and be deliveried to the subscriber. If there is a new or updated publication, all the cuid( $t_{park}$ ) tallied with it will be notified through multiple geocast.

## 5.4.2 Key-based geocast

The vehicle mobility increases the packet loss rate but also provide an opportunity for a message to go farther. Messages can be carried and forwarded within an uncertain delay time according to vehicular heading direction and speed. SCAMP adopts a key-based routing which uses the geographic location as the key space. We assume that each RSI and vehicle have map data associated with grid references. If the grid size is  $R \times R$  in a  $X \times Y$  regions, we need at least  $2^Z (\geq \frac{X}{R} \times \frac{Y}{R})$  grids to cover the whole region where Z is the smallest exponent. Each grid contains at least one RSI and nodes in the same grid generally shares the same information. When a driver sends a demand of a querying area, we verify the grid id of the destination and send this message there. On the other hand, the publication will be sent upon the subscription table from its neighborhood grids, i.e., greedy routing using neighborhoods instead of exact neighbors. That is to say, each node only knows if its neighbors are interested in its publications via multicast geocast (forward directly).

Algorithm 1: PubSub algorithm: Publication and subscription table maintenance			
Input: PACKET			
Output: QUERY, RESPONSE			
<b>Data</b> : publicationTable, subscriptionTable, InputQueue			
F	Result: publicationList, subscriberList, Action		
1 iI	nitialization;		
2 V	vhile receive message PACKET do		
3	switch type of PACKET do		
4	case publication/notification		
5	If new then		
6	match BACKET with subscription Table:		
، ۲	if obtain subscriberList then		
9	put publication of PACKET into publicationList:		
-	if dot of DACKET is leadhost then		
10	I ast of PACKET is locationst then		
11	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		
12	case subscription/subscription update		
13	if new then		
14	update subscriptionTable;		
15	match PACKET with publicationTable;		
16	if obtain publicationList then		
17	update $f_M$ ;		
18	put sender of PACKET into subscriberList;		
19	$\text{Action} = max\{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6, a_7, a_8\};$		
20	$\mathbf{if} \ Action = a_1 \ or \ a_4 \ \mathbf{then}$		
21	$PACKET = \phi;$		
22	if $Action = a_2, a_3, a_5 \text{ or } a_6$ then		
23	modify PACKET;		
24	if $Action = a_1, a_2 \text{ or } a_7$ then		
25	$ ext{publicationList} = \phi;$		
26	$\mathrm{subscriberList}=\phi;$		
27	if $Action = a_3$ or $a_6$ then		
28	match PACKET with publicationTable;		
29	if obtain publicationList then		
30	update $f_M$ ;		
31	put sender of PACKET into subscriberList;		
32	case Unsubscription		
33	update subscriptionTable;		
34	if <i>publicationList</i> $!= \phi$ and <i>subscriberList</i> $!= \phi$ then		
35	put publicationList into data of RESPONSE;		
36	put subscriberList into receiver of RESPONSE;		
37	Insert RESPONSE into InputQueue;		
38	${f if}$ packet ${!=\phi}~{f then}$		
39	let $QUERY = PACKET;$		
40	insert QUERY into InputQueue;		

86



Figure 5.5: (a) Examples of matching results (b) Spatial partitions of a querying area to evaluate if the matching result is good

Actions Action sets	FW	RE	NQR	NRE
$a_1 = I(d) + U(d) - 2\alpha$	х	х	х	х
$a_2 = I(d) + U(b) - 2\alpha + e$	х	х	0	х
$a_3 = I(d) + U(b') - (2\alpha + \beta - e)$	х	х	0	0
$a_4 = I(b) + U(d) - (2\alpha + \beta - e)$	х	0	х	х
$a_5 = I(b) + U(b) - (2\alpha + \beta - e)$	х	0	0	х
$a_6 = I(b) + U(b') - (2\alpha + 2\beta - e)$	х	0	0	0
$a_7 = I(b) - (\alpha' + 1) + (1 - F(d_{matcher-dst}))$	0	х	х	х
$a_8 = 2 \cdot I(b) - (\alpha' + \beta + 1 - e) + (1 - F(d_{matcher} - dst))$	0	0	х	х

Table 5.1: Action set to decide if a message shall be forwarded (FW), responded (RE), modified to a new query (NQR) or responded according to the new query (NRE).

## 5.4.3 Quality of information

First, SCAMP has to maintain the publication and subscription tables wherever subscribers are. Good publication and subscription tables result in a good interest-data matching without dropping the service performance by useless messages. However, the user's query does not always have to arrive the geocast region in order to get responses. If the querying area is popular, some intermediate grids probably have the wanted information. If so, it can avoid unnecessary retransmissions to reduce the information delay. Thus, the goal of content matching is to provide a good response along the network route.

In each matching, the matcher will have to know if the matching result is complete and if there is useful information for drivers. Fig. 5.5(a) shows some examples of matching results. If the matching area in blue is nearly equal to the querying area, we consider that the matching is good and the matcher does not have to forward this query. Otherwise, the matcher will check the spatial distribution by indicating the percentage of the matching portions in the different partitions in Fig. 5.5(b). Afterward, the matcher will compare and modify  $f_M$  mentioned in Section 5.3.2 to know whether it has to forward or response this query. We let  $f_M = \langle \eta, I(d), U(d) \rangle$  denote the search state when the query arrives a matcher, where  $\eta$  is the travelled hop number; d is the highest valued matching that is already done by preceding nodes. b is the highest valued matching that this matcher could send and e is the cost of each transmission.  $I(\cdot)$  is the entropy of information and can be expressed as  $\sum_i dist(r_i, dst)^{-1}$ .  $dist(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the distance between any two given locations.  $U(\cdot)$  calculates the usefulness of information. Here,  $I(\cdot)$  considers only the availability of information, on the contrary,  $U(\cdot)$  verifies if information is useful for drivers.

We take the definition of the action set  $\{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6, a_7, a_8\}$  by extending from [248]. The best action will be chosen according to  $w(\alpha, \beta, d, b) = max\{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6, a_7, a_8\}$ . In which,  $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6, a_7$  and  $a_8$  are calculated respectively by the equations in Table 5.1. They are to forward, respond, make a new query or respond upon the new query will depend on the results of these eight variables.  $\alpha$  stands for the completed percentage of the trajectory, it can be expressed as  $\alpha = (\eta \cdot d_{hop})/(\eta \cdot d_{hop} + dist(matcher, dst))$ .  $\beta$  is the percentage of the trajectory to reply a message, it can be expressed as  $\beta = (dist(src(gid), dst))/(\eta \cdot d_{hop} + dist(matcher, dst))$ .  $\alpha'$ is next hop of  $\alpha$  and can be expressed as  $\alpha' = ((\eta+1) \cdot d_{hop})/(\eta \cdot d_{hop} + dist(matcher, dst))$ .  $d_{hop}$  is the ratio to convert the hop number to distance.  $F(\cdot)$  is the CDF of information distribution, giving the probability of getting a better response with respect to the distance between message's current location and the destination.

Lines 12-31 in Algorithm 1 shows the content matching of one subscription with multiple publications. With the arrivals of subscriptions, the subscription table is built gradually. When there is an information update, nodes will compare the publication with their subscription tables in order to send notifications, shown in lines 4-11 in Algorithm 1. If there are more than two subscribers to notify, a multi-cast will be performed. That is, a response will be sent if the matching results are not empty (lines 34-37), and the message can be formwarded according to the matching (lines 34-40).

## 5.4.4 Mobility impact to the maintenance of publication and subscription table

Since nodes have their map data and know which grids they are and which grids they are going to. As in Algorithm 2, vehicles check up the input queue to know if they have packets to send in the departure or arrival grids. If there are, vehicles will include their updated grid id within the aggregated messages in order to insert or delete their own subscriptions, i.e., vehicles themselves are the best candidates to maintain their own subscriptions. The user's mobility information can be expressed in the subscription update. If vehicles have messages to send, they will verify if this message is for the local grid (lines 9-10), calculate if the distance from the sender is far enough (lines 7-8) and check if they did not hear any copy (lines 5-6). If so, the message will be retransmitted in the grid until it arrives to the correct receivers. If the message is for the neighbor grid(s), vehicles will (lines 12-15) check their own heading direction to decide if they store and carry this message themselves. When messages are in the output queue, messages for the same destination will be aggregated (lines 10 & 15) in order to reduce the transmission times.

Algorithm 2: Geocast algorithm: Forward, store-carry, or discard			
Data: INPUTQUEUE, OUTPUTQUEUE			
<b>Result</b> : MSG, $MSG_L$			
1 initialization;			
2 if leaving or joining a grid then			
3 for $i = 1$ to QueueSize do			
4 take a MSG from INPUTQUEUE;			
5 if hearing a copy of MSG then			
6 discard MSG;			
<b>if</b> src of MSG ( $!=$ localhost and $\leq D$ ) then			
8 discard MSG;			
9 <b>if</b> $dst$ of MSG = local grid then			
$MSG_L += MSG;$			
else			
<b>if</b> heading the same direction as MSG <b>then</b>			
insert MsG back to InputQueue;			
4 else			
$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{G}} = \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{S}\mathbf{G}} = \phi;$			

 $\mathbf{17}$ 

Type Models	Vehicular Network	Cellular Network		
Mobility	Parking, driving(0-15 m/s), roaming(5-20 m/s). Granularity: 1s			
Pathloss	$\operatorname{Corner} + \operatorname{Rayleigh} \operatorname{fading}$	Okumura-Hata		
Radio	$10 \mathrm{Mbps}$	3.6 Mbps		
Tx Power	RSI/Vehicle: 23  dBm	RSI/Vehicle: 23 dBm, BTS: 43 dBm		
Rx Sensitivity	RSI/Vehicle: -105  dBm	RSI/Vehicle: -117 dBm, BTS: -121 dBm		
Antenna Height	RSI: 1.5m, Vehicle: 0m	RSI: 1.5m, Vehicle: 0m, BTS: 25m		
MAC	Contention-based Carrier sense	Schedule-based		
Routing	Multi-geocast	Layer 3		
BTS Density	-	$1 \mathrm{~BTS/km^2}$		
App & Logical	SCAMP, Publish-Subscribe	Publish-Subscribe		
Simulation Time	20000 seconds			
Simulation Area	$1.2 \times 1.2 \text{km}^2, 3 \times 3 \text{km}^2$			
	Intersection distance: 120m, road width: 20m			
Parking Time	Weibull $(\alpha_p, \lambda_p); \alpha_p = 0.5, \lambda_p = 600$			
Roaming Time	Weibull ( $\alpha_i$	$(r,\lambda_r); \alpha_r = 1, \lambda_r = 5$		
Grid Length	200,300,400	0,600,720,960,1000,		
RSI Density	1 RSI per grid			

Table 5.2: Simulation Parameters for vehicular network and mobile network

## 5.5 Evaluation

To test our model, we construct our simulation environments in three different kinds of scenarios with the corresponding parameters in Table 5.2. Then perform them with the WSNET simulator [228]: First, we verify different combinations of e and  $d_{hop}$  to select the most suitable parameters. Second, we change different grid sizes while applying geocast for spreading information. Third, we evaluate how the amount of users impacts the network performance. Fourth, we show the comparision between mobile and vehicular networks.



Figure 5.6: Mobility model

### 5.5.1 Modeling vehicle mobility

Since the network traffic correlates closely with drivers' behaviors, we define three different driver's states, shown in Fig. 5.6. Driving state means that a driver has set a desintation and steers to it. When a driver switch to this state, he will send an inquery describing his parking interests (subscription) in order to get the parking information around his destination. Drivers can also update their interests (subscription update) while moving around the city. Once the driver finds a parking place, he will switch to the parking state, send a message to terminate his subscription (unscription), and park for a while, i.e., parking time. When the driver finishes parking and starts to be active again, he changes to the roaming state and cruises in city with manhanttan mobility.

#### 5.5.2 Parametrization

First of all, we explain the parameters e and  $d_{hop}$  introduced in Section 5.4.3. The relationship between generated packets, e and  $d_{hop}$  is shown in Figs. 5.7 and 5.8 in different sizes of urban areas. Both of them are simulated while the amount of vehicles is half of available parking places (maximum 50% occupancy rate) and nine grids. The impact of  $d_{hop}$  and e is quite obvious. Both of them show that the larger  $d_{hop}$  and e generates more transmissions per subscription, especially while considering a biger urban area. e is used to increase the response rate. Whatever the queried information is very rare (e = 1) or very popular (e = 0), the adaptive e can be used to reduce or increase the matched publication. In 1.2x1.2  $km^2$ , the density of vehiches and RSIs is higher. Since most devices own quite a lot of information and almost always give a response, the response index e does not really affect the amount of generated packets. In  $3x3 \ km^2$ , each network device owns fewer information and might have a lower information quality, thus the response rate e can influence more the transmission times. Figs. 5.9 and 5.10 show the required time of finding a parking place. Figs. 5.11 and 5.12 show the walking distance between the parking places and destinations. The required parking time is complementary to the generated packet transmissions. If more network devices give a response to drivers, drivers can normally find a parking place fast. Walking distance can also be reduced with more packet transmissions because drivers can have more parking



Figure 5.7: SCAMP parameters v.s. the ratio of transmissions to subscriptions in an area of  $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.9: SCAMP parameters v.s. parking search time in an area of  $1.2x1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.11: SCAMP parameters v.s. parking distance in an area of  $1.2x1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.8: SCAMP parameters v.s. the ratio of transmissions to subscriptions in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.10: SCAMP parameters v.s. parking search time in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \times 10^{-2}$ 



Figure 5.12: SCAMP parameters v.s. parking distance in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.13: Amount of transmissions v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of  $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.15: Occupancy rate of 36 parking spaces with different grid lengths with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of 1.2x1.2 km<sup>2</sup>



Figure 5.14: Amount of transmissions v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.16: Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces with different grid lengths with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 

choices. That is why  $d_{hop}$  and e affects the parking search time and distance. In addition, the parking search time is strongly related to the network delay. To reduce the parking search time and the transmitted packets at the same time, we take  $d_{hop} = 120$  and e = 0.4. In addition,  $F(\cdot)$  is a CDF of exponential distribution with the rate parameter  $\lambda = 1$ .

#### 5.5.3 Grid size for multi-geocast routing

We assume that each grid size is square and can be expressed as the square of grid length. A pure Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm is used to compare with our SCAMP model. Here, the pure Publish-Subscribe simply uses the geocast to spread messages without considering the quality of information; thus, we call it Geocast. Three difference scenarios are considered: (1) when parking demand is less than parking supply (18 & 50) (2) when parking demand is equal to parking supply (36 & 100) (3) when parking demand is more than the parking supply (72 & 200).



Figure 5.17: Parking search time v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of  $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.19: Distance to destination v.s. grid length with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of  $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.21: Successful ratio of finding parking with 18, 36, 72 vehicles in an area of  $1.2 \times 1.2 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.18: Parking search time v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.20: Distance to destination v.s. grid length with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.22: Successful ratio of finding parking with 50, 100, 200 vehicles in an area of  $3.0 \times 3.0 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.23: Transmitted packets via Geocast in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.24: Transmitted packets via SCAMP in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

#### 5.5.3.1 Parking system occupation

First, we look at the grid size from the viewpoint of parking system. The amount of transmissions is inversely proportional to the grid size in  $1.2 \times 1.2 \ km^2$  and  $3 \times 3 \ km^2$ . When the grid size is small, the RSI density is higher and it increases the network traffic. In addition, packets travel more under the condition of small grid. Whatever the grid size, SCAMPE can always achieve fewer transmission times than Geocast, shown in Figs. 5.13 and 5.14. The difference is even more obvious as the increases of vehicle density. However, the system occupation rate is also a bit higher with smaller gird thanks to the denser RSI in  $3 \times 3 \ km^2$  (Fig. 5.16). If we shrink the simulation dimension, small grid length can reduce the system occupation rate (Figs. 5.15). That is because there are too many vehicles and RSIs and the channel is too busy to disseminate information.

#### 5.5.3.2 Drivers' satisfaction

Drivers' satisfaction hinges on parking search time, walking distance and successful rate of finding a parking place. From Figs. 5.17, 5.19 and 5.21, we see that the smaller grid size does help to improve smart parking service when the parking demands are less than parking supply. However, as drivers increases, the service drops and drivers can only find a less good parking place with longer search time. When we enlarge the dimension, the parking service performance correlates with grid size, no matter how many drivers, shown in Figs. 5.18, 5.20 and 5.22. The parking distance also reduces when parking demand is more than parking supply in Figs 5.19 and 5.20. That is because less vehiches are parked and those who found a good parking place are calculated. However, SCAMP can always outperform Geocast under all the different situations.

#### 5.5.4 Network and server load

The network load mainly comes from the network packets. If there are generated packets, each machine will have to do the transmissions and receptions. This is costly for the energy and the network capacity. The higher number of generated packets also result in more packet collisions which occupies the channel but sends nothing. In



Figure 5.25: Matching times per machine in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

Figure 5.26: Transmitted packets via mobile network in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

cellular network, the main type of packets are subscription update. Because the cellular network lets all the drivers receive the same parking information and compete the same parking area, most drivers have to go to the current best parking place which might be far from their current locations. Thus, a lot of mobility update messages are generated during the retry period (Fig. 5.26). Geocast and SCAMP are different from cellular network. Since the content matching is done separately or often repeatedly on different machines, there are often too many matched publications. Fig. 5.23 and 5.24 show the different types of transmitted packets via Geocast and SCAMP. Geocast generates more publications than SCAMP because of missing consideration of information quality.

Fig. 5.25 shows the matching times per machine under centralized and opportunistic networks. Centralized method, which processes all demands on a powerful server, is the most common way so far. Opportunistic method allows all vehicles and RSI to participate to the content matching in order to share the maintenance tasks. Thus, each machine (vehicle/RSI) just needs a minimum calculation power to match the interests of its neighborhoods and the data it owns. In addition, SCAMP does not reply to each user's interest since it calculates what is the most suitable action to take. When there are very few vehicles, the interests might have to travel farther to get an acceptable response. That is why SCAMP does more matchings than Geocast with low vehicle density. When the vehicle density increases, Geocast does more matching because of more generated forwarding and replying packets.

## 5.5.5 Centralized or opportunistic?

## 5.5.5.1 Parking system occupation

Parking occupancy rate affects the economic benefits of the city. When the parking demands are less than the parking places, the occupancy rate is at most the quotient of the amount of drivers searching for a place to park divided by the total available parking places. If the amount of drivers is more than the amount of parking places, the smart parking system becomes an important key factor to provide the available parking information to drivers. In Fig. 6.17, the centralized method provides a better

350

400


Figure 5.27: Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.29: Required time to find a parking place in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.28: Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 



Figure 5.30: Distance from parking to destination in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

connectivity so that most drivers are informed of the available parking places. When the load of BTS (base transceiver station) is increasing, drivers' demands cannot always be processed right now, the occupancy rate then drops. Geocast and SCAMP both have a lower occupancy rate, however, SCAMP can benefit from its fewer packet retransmissions to diffuse the information to farther drivers. When the amount of vehicles increases, it leads to a disaster of packet collisions and drop the network throughput, hence drivers cannot get the information and there is a fall in occupancy rate.

#### 5.5.5.2 Drivers' satisfaction

The chance to find a parking place is related to the competition level (the amount of drivers searching for parking versus the amount of available parking). Whatever the communication technology is used, the successful rate is inversely proportional to the amount of vehicles in Fig. 6.16. The centralized method shows clearly that the chance decreases according to the load and the demands. The opportunistic methods relies on certain amount of participants to disseminate between information inquirers and data owners. Yet, Geocast only considers the network level and generates too many packets as the amount of vehicles increases. SCAMP, which eliminates the necessary packets

according to the content matching, can take advantage of vehicular density. Cellular network provides prompt response thus the parking search time is shorter. In vehicular network, the response can arrive after several minutes. Fig. 6.14 shows that the parking search time correlates with the network latency and then increases when the amount of drivers chasing the same parking area grows. Although cellular network can have the global information and provides all the possible parking places to drivers, the parking distance is often far. From Fig. 6.15 shows that vehicular network keeps local information for drivers nearby to get a closer spot by chance. If a place is suddenly released, the direct communication from a neighbor RSI or vehicle is more timely than cellular network.

#### 5.6 Summary

Content-based Publish-Subscribe system provides more matching expressions to give a finer notification. Many machine learning algorithms have been proposed to build a more intelligent semantic system according to users' interests. In this chapter, we proposed an extended version of Publish-Subscribe system which adapts users' subscriptions, calculates matching quality and evaluates drivers' mobility in order to spread information in a better manner. We then evaluated our model in a dynamically moving vehicular network with different routing parameters. We also compared our model with mobile network to see if opportunistic network cannot be as efficient as mobile network, it can still provide a quite good parking service with a shorter walking distance. While the mobile network has too much load and the parking demand is very high, our model SCAMP can even outperform the pure Publish-Subscribe service in mobile network. Some subsequent questions are coming, for example, if drivers are willing to participate vehicular information network, if the service can be supported in heteregenous network, and how the parking game happens among drivers. We will discuss them in the next chapter.

## CHAPTER 6 Information Dissemination for Smart Parking Service

## 6.1 Introduction



Figure 6.1: The timeline of a driver while travelling to a destination: (a) without parking worry (b) including parking search time with the aid of Publish-Subscribe service.

Cities are in readiness for urban service thanks to the popularity of smartphones and the rise of connected vehicles. Drivers can access to the service while being opportunistically connected to the infrastructure or any data storage. In Fig. 2.3, we have induced seven different ways to deliver parking information to drivers. Among them, vehicle-to-infrastructure (V2I) and vehicle-to-vehicle (V2V) give a flexible extension to current city infrastructure, from the viewpoint of either distributedly or centrally information-assisted, and even hybrid of them.

Although some results show the advantages of sensor-to-vehicle communications [161], sensor's battery lifetime is still awkward to handle. Even there are many propositions of using parked cars to improve service availability [254], cars still suffer from limited battery capacity and cannot provide some extra services while being parked. Many cities consider smart parking as an inception of smart city [7], especially the deployment of smart parking meters. Parking meter cannot only collect information from roadside sensors, but also be considered as a service agent, providing parking information to passing drivers through wireless communications. That is, the roadside equipment can increase service availability and give a promising future to vehicular network [255].

When it comes to drivers' feelings, we first look at the timeline of a driver's trip, shown in Fig. 6.1(a). A driver chooses a destination and then heads to it. In reality, the

driver has to search a parking place blindly and walks from the parking place to the destination after his/her arrival, shown in Fig. 6.1(b). Thus, the travel time is counted by summing up the durations of driving, parking search and walking. The driving time is related to the travel distance and the real-time traffic. The parking search time and walking distance are relevant to traffic congestion, occupancy and turnover rates. An information-assisted smart parking service can inform drivers of available parking places so as to shorten the parking search time. If driver can get one parking place in the vicinity of the destination through the smart parking service rapidly, namely the walking distance is short and the parking search time is short, s/he will consider this service is good.

In Chapter 5, we proposed an extended Publish-Subscribe service to notify drivers of parking places which match their custom interests. Publish-Subscribe messaging diagram can avoid the repeated parking search, because drivers keep receiving update information at the wheel. We then showed that drivers' satisfaction can be affected by different communication methods according to their mobility.

In this chapter, we extend the results in Chapter 5 to discuss the information dissemination ways for smart parking service. We fist define a parking game. From drivers and city's utility functions, we remark the important parameters. We also explain our simulation environment considering the dynamic urban environment. Then, to verify the common freerider problem in a crowdsourced dissemination platform, we evaluate different participation rates of pure Publish-Subscribe and our model SCAMP. By undertaking the parking game, we then evaluate our model in an heterogeneous network to see if it works efficiency.

As such, the information dissemination for smart parking service is strongly related to drivers' mobility, drivers' behaviors and communication methods. If an urban service is designed with taking these factors into account, it might be useless and even paralyze the network. This chapter has the following three contributions: First, we formulate an onstreet parking game and provide their utility functions, allowing to explain the results we get and being used as drivers' parking decision later. Second, we apply different participation rates in the partial crowsourcing parking service system, supporting by vehicles and RSI, in order to see how users' satisfaction is influenced. Third, we simulate our model in an heterogeneous network, mixing with mobile and vehicular networks, to show our model can still be supported and even compensate for drawbacks of the two different networks.

## 6.2 Related works

### Parking game

The personalized service consideration is always an issue while providing services to users, especially for highly interactive traffic-related applications. If several drivers ask for parking places in the same area simultaneously and they all receive the same information, it implies that all the drivers will be guided to the same destination along the same path. For some hot spots in city center, there will be always traffic jams and parking search conflicts which make drivers to give up the useless smart parking services. Karaliopoulos [181] proposed a game-theoretic model to see whether drivers choose to compete these limited on-street parking places. Driver's decision leads to three results: Drivers who go to the private parking directly, those who decide to compete the on-street parking and find one, and those who finally fail to find on-street parking and change to the private parking. Kokolaki [182] studied the same problem with the consideration of a parking information-assisted system, thus driver's decision changes according to the amount of competitive vehicles and the current available parking spaces. Hence, the competitor amount varies over time through the real-time information from smart parking service. Ayala et al. [174–177] focused on the parking competition. Each driver shall be assigned a parking place s/he prefers, or the parking assignment will not be stable, to wit, stable marriage problem. Authors modeled the parking decision by a gravitybased parking algorithm and a game theory model. That is each driver will calculate the gravity value of each parking place with respect to him/herself and his/her neighbors. If his/her gravity value is higher than others, s/he will take this parking place.

#### Crowdsourcing

Since the urban service deployment is strongly related to human activities, crowdsourcing platforms supported by service users themselves are more and more popular. Even Pandey *et al.* [246] proposed to use city buses to spread information, the bus trace is regular and also the parking need is high on vehicles' cruising areas which might quite different from those of buses. However, users may reject to forward or reply to messages because of battery concerns or other egoistic reasons. The incentive is always chiefly concerned with all crowdsourcing platforms [90; 95; 256]. If no vehicle forwards any message in an infrastructure-assisted crowdsourcing service system, it will downgrade to a single-hop broadcast-like protocol [257].

#### Information dissemination

Leontiadis *et al.* [258] introduced a topic-based Publish-Subscribe communication paradigm to opportunistically disseminate information in vehicular networks. The subscriptions were generated from vehicle's navigation system to know driver's destination and current location. Authors used the realistic traffic traces in Zurich<sup>1</sup> to simulate vehicle mobility. The results only show the performance from network's viewpoints, such as message delivery ratio, overhead and the number of replicas. Rajabioun *et al.* [6] revealed the problem of disseminating information in the on-street parking guiding system. That is the real-time parking availability data is useful only when the driver is very close to the parking location.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ www.lst.inf.ethz.ch/research/ad-hoc/car-traces/

#### 6.3 Parking game

Parking competition is often considered as a parking game. The payoff is usually counted from a comprehensive consideration of parking search time, parking fee and walking distance. Most time, the off-street parking has enough capacity to receive those cruising drivers. However, drivers might flinch from higher parking fees and prefer to turn around their destinations to wait for a god-given gift, namely a cheap or free street parking place.

#### 6.3.1 Parking search time

Drivers usually have three choices to park their cars: on-street, off-street parking or illegal areas. From [5], we see that if the fraction of being caught is high, the illegal parkers will be fewer as well. With the aid of parking sensors, it will be quite easy to be reached. Drivers, who get on-street parking via blind search, usually spend an exponential duration to find a parking place [4]. Thus, the on-street parking search time can be expressed as below:

$$t = \alpha e^{-\beta R_{cong}} \tag{6.1}$$

 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are structural parameters and can be obtained by collected data. For example, from all-survey data in Lyon,  $\alpha = 0.217$  and  $\beta = -7.364$ .  $R_{cong}$ , congestion ratio, is calculated by the amount of parked vehicles in legal parking areas ( $V_{occ}$ ) and in illegal areas ( $V_I$ ) divided by the amount of parking places (K). From Section 5.5.5 and [160], it is obvious that information-assisted smart parking system can help to reduce the parking search time during high traffic congestion ratio.

Drivers choosing off-street parking are often those who cannot find an on-street parking place and finally look for a private car park. Thus, the parking search time for off-street parking is usually longer and validated by Axhausen's formulation, in Eq. 6.2.

$$t = \frac{\alpha}{1 - \frac{V_{occ}}{K}} \tag{6.2}$$

#### 6.3.2 Parking search cost

In such a context, when X vehicles pursuit Y on-street parking and X > Y, we can split X into two groups:  $Y_0$  and  $X - Y_0$ . If  $Y_0 > Y$ , at least  $(Y_0 - Y)$  drivers will suffer from the endless parking search (Eq. 6.1). Thanks to the smart parking service,  $Y_0$  is usually smaller than Y [182]. From the results in Chapter 5, we are able to formulate the on-street parking game. In order to define the parking game, we set drivers as players, parking choices as the set of actions  $(S_i = \{choose, not\_choose\})$  and a set of preferences which affect the payoffs. Then the payoffs are shown in Table 6.1. The payoffs of driver *i* are in blue, and in red for the other  $Y_0 - 1$  drivers.

	Action set $Y_0 - 1$	All all the other $Y_0 - 1$	drivers
Action set i		choose $(\sigma_{i,j})$	not choose $(1 - \sigma_{i,j})$
Driver $i$	choose $(\rho_{i,j})$	$(C_j P_{i,j} + C^*_{gas} P^*_{i,j}, C^*_j P^*_{i,j} + C_{gas} P_{i,j})$	$(C_j, C_{gas}(Y_0-1))$
	not choose $(1 - \rho_{i,j})$	$(C_{gas},C_{j}^{*})$	$(C_{gas}, C_{gas}(Y_0-1))$

Table 6.1: Incomplete Information parking game: driver i versus parking place j

 $\rho_{i,j}$  is the probability that the driver *i* chooses the parking place *j*.  $\rho_{i,j}$  is generally affected by driver's mental preferences, such as parking fee, walking distance and the cumulative parking search time [259].  $\sigma_{i,j}$  is the probability that at least one driver among the  $(Y_0 - 1)$  chooses the parking place *j*, and can be expressed as below:

$$\sigma_{i,j} = 1 - \frac{1}{1 - \rho_{i,j}} \cdot \prod_{k=1}^{Y_0} (1 - \rho_{k,j})$$
(6.3)

 $C_j$  is the fee of one parking place j.  $C_{gas}$  is the extra fuel cost for one vehicle to look for next parking place. If a driver retries several parking searches, the cumulative cost can be stunning. Then  $\rho_{i,j}$  will be influenced as well [259].  $C_{gas}^*$  is the cost for at most  $(Y_0 - 1)$  vehicles which fail to get the parking place j.  $C_j^*$  is the cost if one vehicle among  $(Y_0 - 1)$  gets the parking place j.  $C_{gas}^*$  and  $C_j^*$  can be calculated by the following equations.

$$C_{gas}^* = C_{gas} \cdot (Y_0 - 1)2^{Y_0 - 2} \tag{6.4}$$

$$C_j^* = C_j \cdot (2^{Y_0 - 1} - 1) + C_{gas} \cdot ((Y_0 - 3)2^{Y_0 - 2} + 1)$$
(6.5)

 $P_{i,j}$  is the probability that driver *i* gets the parking place *j* successfully. The chance to get a parking place is often related to the distance between driver's current position and the parking place [6]. Let set  $d_{i,j}$  as the distance from driver *i* to parking place *j*. Then  $P_{i,j}$  can be expressed in Eq. 6.6.  $P_{i,j}^*$  is the probability that driver *i* fails to get the parking place and  $P_{i,j}^*$  is equal to  $1 - P_{i,j}$ .

$$P_{i,j} = \frac{d_{i,j}^{-1}}{\sum_{k=1}^{Y_0} d_{k,j}^{-1}}$$
(6.6)

The utility function from the viewpoint of driver can be calculated by referring to Table 6.1. The utility will be to minimize the total travel cost, shown as below:

$$M_{i}(S_{i}, S_{i}') = (1 - \rho_{i,j})C_{gas} + \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j}(C_{j}P_{i,j} + C_{gas}^{*}P_{i,j}^{*}) + \rho_{i,j}(1 - \sigma_{i,j})C_{j}$$
  
=  $C_{j}(\rho_{i,j} - \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j} + \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j}P_{i,j})$   
+  $C_{gas}(1 - \rho_{i,j} + \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j}(1 - P_{i,j})(Y_{0} - 1)2^{Y_{0} - 2})$  (6.7)

Additionally, the utility function from the viewpoint of the municipality is different. The city only cares if the parking place is used, not who is parking on it. Thus, the utility



Figure 6.2: Illustration of Publish-Subscribe service supporting by moving vehicles and roadside infrastructure.

will be to maximize the revenue and minimize the  $CO_2$  emission.

$$M_{mun}(S_i, S'_i) = (\rho_{i,j} + \sigma_{i,j} - \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j})C^{*'}_{\ j} - (1 - \rho_{i,j})(1 - \sigma_{i,j})Y_0C_{gas}$$
  
=  $C_j(\rho_{i,j} + \sigma_{i,j} - \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j})(2^{Y_0 - 1} - 1)$   
 $- C_{gas}\left[(\rho_{i,j} + \sigma_{i,j} - \rho_{i,j}\sigma_{i,j})((Y_0 - 3)2^{Y_0 - 2} + 1 - Y_0) + Y_0\right]$  (6.8)

In Eq. 6.7, the utility of a parking place for a driver is principally determined by  $P_{i,j}$  and  $Y_0$ . When there are fewer competitors ( $Y_0$  is small) and driver is close to this parking place ( $P_{i,j}$  is high), this parking place is more useful. However, from the municipality's viewpoint in Eq. 6.8, if  $Y_0$  is high, namely more drivers know the parking place is available, the city has more chance to issue a parking ticket and increase parking revenue.

#### 6.4 A smart parking semi self-service system

#### 6.4.1 System overview

In V2V and V2I networks, the packet transmission is done by vehicles and RSI. RSI is often installed at crossroads in order to communicate information to a large number of cars [260]. RSI usually plays the role of gateway to collect information as a mini distributed data center. In key-based routing, we assume there is at least one The information. If a driver sends a parking query and a nearby RSI has the appropriate information, the RSI will reply directly to the driver. Otherwise, other vehicles or RSIs hearing this query will forward this query to the destination of this query. Similarly, if a sensor changes its sensing state and informs its attached RSI, the RSI will send out the messages to the network. Each device then compare the publication with its own subscription table to see if any of its neighbors is interested in this information. Thanks to the mobility of vehicles, they can try to carry the messages far in order to let more drivers be informed of parking availability information. Jiang [261] studied the topological pattern of urban street network and demonstrate its small world structure.



Figure 6.3: Mobility models: (a) Synthetic with geographic-restricted pathloss (b) Real vehicular trace with free space path loss.



Cunha [262] shows that the vehicular mobility presents a small-world behavior by analyzing the vehicle traces from San Francisco and Zurich. We then assume that mobile vehicles and fixed RSIs form several network clusters and each cluster can be regarded as a small world. Fig. 6.2 illustrates how the Publish-Subscribe can be supported by moving vehicles and RSI.

#### 6.4.2 A more realistic urban environment?

While simulating dynamic urban environment, mobility and propagation models are two important factors (Fig. 6.4). Dynamic environment can be simulated by the combination of mobility and radio propagation models. Mobility model is used to describe drivers' mobility. Trace-based vehicular mobility describes the inter-contact times and duration between vehicles. It also provides more realistic probabilities of sending out messages. Synthetic models allow to reproduce drivers' mobility and show the impact from application on waypoints.

After looking at the mobility, the radio propagation is also very important. In reality, wireless communications are very sensitive to the urban terrain, such as buildings, urban objects or vehicles. Thus, a realistic geographic-restricted pathloss model is required to describe the channel properties. Ideally, a combination of a real vehicle trace and a geographic-based pathloss model will be perfect to evaluate vehicular services. However, pathloss calculation shall be modelled from collected data of link quality. It is quite difficule to combine them. Thus, most traced-based mobility model often adopts a free space pathloss model which only considers the distance between senders and receivers, in Fig. 6.3(b). Geographic-restricted pathloss is then possible to implement with synthetic mobility models since the mobility environment is pre-definited according to the context, in Fig. 6.3(a).

Although trace-based mobility data evokes great interest, we cannot add the impact of messages on it. That is to say, vehicles can only movie by following the time-varying waypoints. The smart parking service is to help drivers find a satisfied parking place. Drivers' speed and heading direction shall be influenced by receipt messages. Some works tried to find out some mobility characteristics, for example, [263] sorted out the average stay time of vehicle in each grid of 1x1km and verified the model with vehicle density and [264] induced all the possible speeds, directions, pause time and durations from user



Figure 6.5: Distance from parking to destination in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via Geocast with different participation rates



Figure 6.7: Required time to find a parking place in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via Geocast with different participation rates



Figure 6.6: Distance from parking to destination in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via SCAMP with different participation rates



Figure 6.8: Required time to find a parking place in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via SCAMP with different participation rates

traces. We still cannot really model the impact from applications and make sure that the mobility is yet realistic. In short, the mobility model we used in Chapters 5 and 6 combines the parking behavior in Figs. 5.6 and 6.3(a).

#### 6.4.3 Freerider evaluation

Since opportunistic network relies on the cooperation of users, the participation rate  $\rho$  is very important for the system performance. We assume all the nodes are equipped with vehicular communications and can receive messages in the network. RSIs always do the matching and give a response if needed. Vehicles or drivers can choose to execute matching or forward messages according to their wishes. We then give several different participation rates and see how it impacts on drivers' satisfaction. The simulation parameters are shown in Table 5.2 and performed with the WSNET simulator [228].

Fig. 6.5 shows the parking distance to driver's destination via Geocast. If all the drivers cooperate together ( $\rho = 1$ ), the parking information is disseminated farther and drivers



Figure 6.9: Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via Geocast with different participation rates



Figure 6.11: Occupancy rate of 100 parking places in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via Geocast with different participation rates



Figure 6.10: Successful ratio of finding parking in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via SCAMP with different participation rates



Figure 6.12: Occupancy rate of 100 parking places in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$  via SCAMP with different participation rates

have chance to find a better (closer) parking place. If there are too few vehicles, the information dissemination rate is decreased and the average parking distance is also longer. When the vehicle density raises, the parking search becomes more competitive so that the parking distance increases again. Since SCAMP applies the action table according to the information quality, some information might not be sent and the parking distance is farther in Fig. 6.6. With the increasing of vehicle density, vehicles can find a better parking until the parking is saturated. Both Fig. 6.5 and 6.6 show that if  $\rho$  reduces ( $\rho \rightarrow 0$ ), the information dissemination rate is lower and the average parking distance is farther. When  $\rho = 0$ , both Geocast and SCAMP downgrade similarly to one-hop broadcast [257].

On the contrary, the parking search time is shorter if vehicles cooperate less. That is because there are less parking competitions when the information does not travel far. In Fig. 6.7, we see that the lower participation rate in Geocast also results in fewer packet collisions. As  $\rho$  decreases, the parking search is significantly faster. However, SCAMP generally has similar characteristics as Geocast in Fig. 6.8. But when the ratio



Figure 6.13: An overview of heterogeneous network

of vehicles to parking places is smaller than 1 in SCAMP,  $\rho = 1$  can still outperforms  $\rho = 0$ . Even it generates a bit less publication and vehicles need more time to find a parking place while vehicle density is very low.

In terms of the successful ratio of finding a parking, we see that SCAMP outperforms Geocast in Fig. 6.9 and 6.10. Generally speaking, Geocast has the better performance when there are fewer participants forwarding messages as the vehicle density increases. When there are 50-250 vehicles,  $\rho = 0.4$  and 0.6 have a better successful rate thanks to fewer but not too few retransmissions. When there are a lot of vehicles, 0% of participation is the best case to disseminate parking information. SCAMP has a quite consistent performance whatever the amount of vehicles varies.

The drivers' satisfaction is of course important. Nevertheless, the municipality cares even more if the parking places are used profitably by drivers. In Figs. 6.11 and 6.12, we first see the occupancy rate is higher as the amount of vehicles increases, namely there are more parking demands. After the parking demands are more than certain amount, the occupancy rate does not increase anymore and remain at a value. Geocast, which does not consider the information content and forwards too many messages, has severe packet collisions which drop the network efficiency. When no vehicle joins message forwarding, the RSI will provide information directly to passing vehicles via one-hop. Instead, SCAMP can reduce the packet collisions and improve the service availability slightly when all drivers participate the information spreading, shown in Fig. 6.12.

### 6.5 Heterogeneous network

With the popularity of smartphone and connected cars, users often hold a device which supports several different mediums. Now it is very common that if users cannot get enough medium resource from mobile network, they switch right now to WiFi access





Figure 6.14: Required time to find a parking place via heterogeneous networks in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

Figure 6.15: Distance from parking to destination via heterogeneous networks in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

points or even to point-to-point bluetooth communication. Vehicular network adopts the IEEE 802.11p<sup>2</sup> standard and basically uses carrier sense technology to allocate bandwidth dynamically. IEEE 802.11p benefits from its compatibility with WiFi and can be seen as an offloading alternative.

#### 6.5.1 Protocol stack

In order to make the offloading test, we implemented a multi-interface bundle in the WSNET simulator [228]. the Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm is a cross-layer protocol which involes the application and logical layers. The logical layer is equivalent to the bundle protocol described in RFC 5050<sup>3</sup>. In Fig. 6.13, the yellow bricks is for the Publish-Subscribe service, where we implemented our SCAMP model. The pink bricks represent the protocol stack for vehicular networks. The blue bricks represent the protocol stack for which involves. In vehicular network, we adopt the Corner propagation considering our mobility model. In mobile network, Okumura-Hata is used. The two environments both apply single-channel and have no mutual interference. A smart device shall be able to detect the data rates and prices of different interfaces in order to evacuate queued packets more rapidly. We are then interested in knowing what is the trade-off of mobile offloading with respect to the quality of smart parking service.

#### 6.5.2 Why mobile offloading

From Figs. 6.17 to 6.15, we see three facts: First, mobile network, benefiting from its large communication range, can provide drivers promptly with parking information. Second, drivers might give up searching for a parking place close to its destination but far from its current location because of the central information from mobile network. Thus, drivers connecting to vehicular networks can have chance to get a closer parking place since the information dissemination is pretty local. Third, mobile network is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>www.standards.its.dot.gov/Factsheets/Factsheet/80

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>www.rfc-base.org/rfc-5050.html



Figure 6.16: Successful ratio of finding parking via heterogeneous networks in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

Figure 6.17: Occupancy rate of 100 parking spaces via heterogeneous networks in an area of  $3x3 \text{ km}^2$ 

usually a favorable communication way for cities according to Eq. 6.8. It increases the on-street parking occupancy rate instead of thinking about the utility of drivers in Eq. 6.7.

In this section, we will split the traffic of each device into two groups. One is injected into vehicular networks, the other is for mobile network. That means that a driver might send his/her subscription through mobile network, and get a notification through vehicular network. It might help find an equilibrium point between city and driver's utility.

#### 6.5.3 Traffic trade-off evaluation

From Fig. 5.26, we know that the publication (notification) does not have to forward many times in order to reach subscribers. While reducing the amount of transmissions through mobile network from 100% to 60%, the parking search time and walking distance change insignificantly, shown in Figs. 6.15 and 6.14. Drivers might receive the information of closer parking places through vehicular network, so that the parking search time increases, i.e., drivers have to pilot longer to arrive his parking place but the walking distance is reduced. Besides, vehicular network is semi-spontaneous and relies on drivers themselves to create a dynamic information platform and share mutually. When the vehicle density is too low, the information cannot be disseminated widely. That is why the walking distance is farther when there are less than 50 vehicles in Fig. 6.15.

Since mobile network does not perform repeated transmissions to enlarge packet receipt rate, only few percentage of network traffic from mobile network with the existing vehicular network can always improve the performance significantly, shown in Fig. 6.16.

The parking system occupancy is revealed in Fig. 6.17. Even 80% of packets are send by vehicular network, the occupancy rate is always improved a lot, especially when the vehicle density is low, central message transmissions can largely increase the efficiency of information dissemination.

## 6.6 Summary

To search an on-street parking place in urban areas is always a nightmare for drivers. Thanks to the information communications technology, drivers themselves can form a parking information platform and cooperate with the infrastructural databases. This chapter has presented a parking game model considering drivers' preferences, their geo-locations and the amount of competitors. We then derived the utility of a parking place from the viewpoints of drivers and city. Next, with the partial crowdsourcing vehicular information platform, we changed the participation rates of drivers to see how it impacts to the service quality. Then by combining the results from the previous chapter and our game model, we evaluated our model in an heterogeneous network, including mobile and vehicular network, to give an equilibrium point from their completely different characteristics.

Many current studies propose different Publish-Subscribe solutions. They either only work on the application layer, or simulate the performance without considering the problem of packet collisions in wireless networks. Our work mainly includes comprehensively from application to radio layers in an expedient dynamic environment. The results show that our model is really effective to compensate the shortage of vehicle-to-infrastructure communications through vehicle-to-vehicle communications, and it also works well in an heterogeneous environment.

Our work can be validated later with a reactive vehicle trace in order to get a more reliable, realistic and feasible solution. The game theory model can also be implemented to take parking choices by referring the survey data from other domains.

## Part IV

# Now and the Future of Smart Parking

## Conclusion and open perspectives

## 7.1 Conclusion

Unquestionably, parking is really a pain for all drivers in the world. With the parking information, collected either from the parking sensors of cities or from crowdsensing apps, smart parking service can provide a platform with the real-time parking status for drivers. Thanks to it, drivers can shorten their travelling time and the city can increase the revenue from parking fees and tickets. Most smart parking implementations focus on the sensing technology and the development of mobile apps. For this reason, city's deployment builds a bridge between them. The large-scale deployment is a good opportunity to test the sensing accuracy and sensor's connectivity [1; 91]. The sensed information can be stored in servers and provide information to the current apps.

Before coping with the annoying parking problem, we summarize a taxonomy of smart parking solutions in Chapter 2. We divide them into three different groups: information collection, service deployment and service dissemination. All the works are visualized in the detailed tables to show the different research focuses. Information collection involves the sensing technology, wireless sensor network and crowdsensing. Service deployment includes software system, large-scale deployment and availability prediction. Service dissemination is related to information dissemination, parking competition and drivers' behaviors.

However, the deployment and the maintenance of parking sensor networks are not easy. The message timeliness, the autonomy and self-healing of sensor network all rely on the wireless communication. Although there are many researchs on wireless sensor networks, very few of them aim at deploying on parking places. We explore the sensor deployment from network perspective, in Chapter 3. From the limited real implementation, we extract the traffic model and then reproduce it in our simulation so as to evaluate its impact to the network performance. Then, we expand this network infrastructure to assess the required hardware equipments. We show the network latency is positively correlated with the deployment cost, in Chapter 4.

Merely the parking information cannot ease drivers' headache. From the current survey in Chapter 2, very few cities can really provide the real-time parking availability information to drivers. Either the information is often outdated, or the mobile network is too slow to inform drivers of new parking status. Since most cruising drivers are tourists who are unfamiliar with the city, they might not be able to obtain information through the mobile network. Even if drivers can access the information, they might choose to chase an optimal but a little far parking place to result in a parking competition, in Chapter 6. As the opportunity for the connected car market is huge, we simulate our model in vehicular network. However, there are many exisiting challenges and vehicular network is more sensitive to urban environment. We then construct our simulation with an urban propagation model and a specific mobility, including parking behavior.

Additionally, the current smartphone apps are not proactive. That is not convenient for drivers cruising on the street. Therefore, in Chapter 5, we propose an extended version of content-based Publish-Subscribe service, allowing to display the information, which matchs drivers' interests, automatically on drivers' smartphones. In order to increase the packet delivery rate and to reduce the network load, we implement an analyzer of information quality. For those who cannot provide a good quality of information after matching, they will not execute message replying or even forwarding. If a device does not head the same direction with a receipt message, it will not be the message carrier either. After a series of evaluation, we find the suitable routing parameters and it outperforms pure Publish-Subscribe system, with respect to grid size, ratio of parking demand to supply, transmissions, matching times, and user participation rate, user's satisfaction and system occupancy rate, in Chapters 5 and 6.

Our work is based on the premise that large-scale parking sensors are deployed in the city. We look at the whole picture of urban service from viewpoint of the municipality and drivers. As such, we shed light on two main topics: the information collection on sensor deployment and an extended version of content-based Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm.

For the first topic, we see four facts. First, magnetometer and smartphone are the two main parking sensors for municipal deployment and user-generated content, respectively. Second, a schedule-based MAC will be the trend thanks to its easy management and low energy consumption. However, the signaling and scheduling arrangement are more complex. Third, event-driven and periodic hybrid application models are more suitable to adapt different urban applications. Four, large-scale sensor deployment will be more and more common. Intersections become the important places to install urban infrastructure.

For the second topic, we also get four facts. First, roadside infrastructure, which can be WiFi access points or parking meters, can efficiently increase service's availability through vehicle-to-vehicle or vehicle-to-infrastructure communications. Second, drivers, chasing the limited parking place, form a parking game and evaluate their parking choices by the utility function. Third, Publish-Subscribe messaging paradigm is the most suitable protocol to match drivers' interests and available parking information. Fourth, the communication method can have a great impact on Publish-Subscribe. Our work gives a guideline from network-related perspectives for cities before launching smart parking or any similar real-time urban service projects.

## 7.2 Open perspectives

Even there are many great crowdsensing concepts to gather parking information, big cities still prefer to deploy their own smart parking solutions so as to really manage their own belongings and data [5; 7; 265]. Moreover, these parking sensors and their infrastructure, integrated with other types of sensors, can form a huge sensing platform, named smart city. That is to say, smart parking has been opening the prelude of city's reform. More and more heterogeneous information circulates on network and the maintenance is costly, so that the need of message filtering, to remove the redundancy of information, is more and more important. Such kind of network is called Named Data Network (NDN) [266; 267], which is a multi-campus research project<sup>1</sup>. In which, service users merely have to know what kind of data they are interested in instead of knowing the host address. However, NDN requires a lot of realistic data to assess its feasibility and performance. We then open up some research direction by undertaking our work.

First, the heterogeneity in sensor networks is more and more obvious. The traffic model changes accordingly. With one unique application in sensor network, the quality is still predictable. While considering several heterogeneous applications, the quality is somehow complicated to promise, for example, some related problems, i.e., the scheduling and coverage. Gaillard *et al.* [268] presents the challenges while sharing the WSN resource among various clients, and distinguishes the various formal algorithms that are necessary to operate a WSN according to service level agreement. If the system is not well adapted to different heterogeneous sensor flows, it might drop the performance or even paralyze the network functionality. Thus, all what we have simulated in smart parking, in Chapter 3, shall be evaluated in heterogeneous sensor network to see the pros and cons.

Second, the capacity of gateways might be limited by the connections of a lot of different heterogeneous sensors and routers. Even some sensors can use long-range consumption to send out their information, the amount of transmissions is still limited. It will be more efficient to manage and optimize those heterogeneous sensors, if we can have their traffic models and apply them according their geo-locations in the map. This way, we will be able to undertake the work in Chapter 4 to consider their clustering relationship and if each gateway achieves its maximum capacity.

Third, the deployment of urban infrastructure in Chapter 4 only considers parking sensors. In Chapters 5 and 6, we deploy roadside infrastructure randomly in one intersection of each grid. Urban infrastructure is the principal portal for drivers to access city information. Mehar *et al.* [260] proposes an optimized roadside units placement for delay-sensitibe application in vehicular networks. Smart parking is a real-time urban service and may be able to adapt to this optimiztion application.

Fourth, our parking service was tested under a single service environment, in Chapter 5. If there are more than two services in the network, the content-based matching will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>named-data.net

be more complicated. Especially, when service users cannot give a good description of interests, the system will have to adapt to all the different demands in order to provide the most suitable and useful information [269]. Some machine learning algorithms have aimed at improving the matching time and accuracy, for example, deep learning for information retrieval and multimodal interaction [270]. Thus, a multi-service network will be interesting to study, and also it can be an inception of NDN.

Fifth, to test urban service in a dynamically moving network, a real vehicle trace shall be adopted to simulate the intercontact time of any two vehicles. Yet, the real vehicle trace currently cannot adjust the waypoints according to the receipt messages. That is, we cannot have an application-aware vehicle trace [271]. If we try to modify the waypoints, we cannot make sure if the new waypoints are realistic enough. Hence, a mobility model which is extracted from real vehicle traces will be important for assessing the quality of the parking service proposed in Chapters 5 and 6. Moreover, with realistic vehicle traces, an incomplete-information data dissemination could be needed since drivers in urban areas are often volatile to change their directions and destinations. For example, the road oriented dissemination proposed by Cherif *et al.* [272].

Sixth, in Chapter 5, we assume the buffer of each car is unlimited. However, if the buffer size is limited, a cartography of information distribution will be different. We can then see the relationship between the information dissemination rate and the probability density of different types of information. That can help us to optimize our models in actions a7 and a8 while choosing a more realistic probability model.

Smart cities extract the idea of intelligent devices, and take advantage of team strength. It simplifies the tasks of each device and emphasizes the cooperation. Urban service can then thrive on it thanks to the popularity of massive sensor and infrastructure deployment. In a rapidly changing city, even more in a megacity, a new factor may appear and point out other network performance challenges. To sum up, our future works are mainly related to produce more experiences with more realistic datasets, especially network traffic models of different information flow and a reactive vehicle mobility, extracting from real vehicle trace.

## Publication list

## International Journal

• Trista Lin, Hervé Rivano and Frédéric Le Mouël, Urban Infrastructure Deployment for Wireless On-Street Parking Sensor Networks, Procedia Engineering, Elsevier, Volume 115, 2015, Pages 29-36, ISSN 1877-7058.

### International Conference & Workshop

- Trista Lin, Hervé Rivano, Frédéric Le Mouël, Router Deployment of Streetside Parking Sensor Networks in Urban Areas, In UM - Urban Modelling Symposium. Oct 2014, Lyon, France.
- Trista Lin, Hervé Rivano, Frédéric Le Mouël, How to Choose the Relevant MAC Protocol for Wireless Smart Parking Urban Networks?. In the 11th ACM symposium on Performance evaluation of wireless ad hoc, sensor, & ubiquitous networks (PE-WASUN'14). Sep 2014. ACM, Montreal, Canada. Pages 1-8.
- Trista Lin, Hervé Rivano, Frédéric Le Mouël, Performance Comparison of Contention- and Schedule-based MAC Protocols in Urban Parking Sensor Networks. In the ACM international workshop on Wireless and mobile technologies for smart cities (WiMobCity'14). Aug 2014. ACM, Philadelphia, PA, USA, 1-8. Pages 39-48.

### Preprint

- Trista Lin, Frédéric Le Mouël, Hervé Rivano, Crowdsourcing Continuous Location-Aware Update Service for Parking Assistance.
- Trista Lin, Hervé Rivano, Frédéric Le Mouël, Smart Parking: A Survey.

## Bibliography

- SFMTA. SFpark: Putting theory into practive 2011. sfpark.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/sfpark\_ aug2011projsummary\_print-2.pdf, August 2011.
- [2] D. C. Shoup. Cruising for parking. Transport Policy, 13(6):479–486, 2006. Parking.
- [3] E. Gantelet, A. Lefauconnier, and SARECO. The time looking for a parking space: strategies, associated nuisances and stakes of parking management in france. Association for European Transport and Contribution, 2006.
- [4] S. Belloche. On-street parking search time modelling and validation with survey-based data. Transportation Research Procedia, 6:313–324, 2015. 4th International Symposium of Transport Simulation (ISTS'14) Selected Proceedings, Ajaccio, France, 1-4 June 2014.
- [5] M. Tahon, S. Verbrugge, B. Lannoo, J. Van Ooteghem, P. De Mil, D. Colle, M. Pickavet, and P. Demeester. Parking sensor network: Economic feasibility study of parking sensors in a city environment is well. In 9th Conference on Telecommunications Internet and Media Techno Economics (CTTE), pages 1–8, June 2010.
- [6] T. Rajabioun and P. Ioannou. On-street and off-street parking availability prediction using multivariate spatiotemporal models. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, PP(99):1–13, 2015.
- [7] T. Giuffre, S. M. Siniscalchi, and G. Tesoriere. A novel architecture of parking management for smart cities. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 53:16–28, 2012. SIIV-5th International Congress - Sustainability of Road Infrastructures 2012.
- [8] S. Gallivan. IBM global parking survey: Drivers share worldwide parking woes technical report. Technical report, IBM, 2011.
- [9] SFpark. sfpark.org.
- [10] Yellow cab of san francisco, location dataset. cabspotting.org/.
- [11] S. Mathur, T. Jin, N. Kasturirangan, J. Chandrasekaran, W. Xue, M. Gruteser, and W. Trappe. ParkNet: Drive-by sensing of road-side parking statistics. In 8th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services, MobiSys'10, pages 123–136, 2010.
- [12] S. Mathur, S. Kaul, M. Gruteser, and W. Trappe. ParkNet: A mobile sensor network for harvesting real time vehicular parking information. In 2009 MobiHoc S3 Workshop on MobiHoc S3, MobiHoc S3'09, pages 25–28, 2009.
- [13] ParkRight. www.westminster.gov.uk/parkright.
- [14] G. Yan, W. Yang, D. Rawat, and S. Olariu. SmartParking: A secure and intelligent parking system. IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine, 3(1):18–30, Spring 2011.
- [15] N. Larisis, L. Perlepes, P. Kikiras, and G. Stamoulis. U-Park: Parking management system based on wireless sensor network technology. In *International Conference on Sensor Technologies and Applications* (SENSORCOMM), pages 170–177, 2012.
- [16] U. Männi. Smart sensing and time of arrival based location detection in parking management services. In 12th Biennial Baltic Electronics Conference (BEC), pages 213–214, Oct 2010.
- [17] E. Moguel, M. A. Preciado, and J. C. Preciado. A smart parking campus: An example of integrating different parking sensing solutions into a single scalable system. *ERCIM News 98 Smart Cities*, page 29, July 2014.
- [18] L. O. Urdiain, C. P. Romero, J. Doggen, T. Dams, and P. Van Houtven. Wireless sensor network protocol for smart parking application experimental study on the arduino platform. In 2nd International Conference on Ambient Computing, Applications, Services and Technologies, 2012.
- [19] V. Venkateswaran and N. Prakash. Intelligent approach for smart car parking reservation and security maintenance system. *IJRET: International Journal of Research in Engineering and Technology*, 3(02), 2014.
- [20] P. Basu and T. D. Little. Networked parking spaces: architecture and applications. In IEEE 56th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC 2002-Fall), volume 2, pages 1153–1157 vol.2, 2002.
- [21] P. Basu and T. D. Little. Wireless ad hoc discovery of parking meters. In MobiSys Workshop on Applications of Mobile Embedded Systems (WAMESa04), 2004.
- [22] S. Lee, D. Yoon, and A. Ghosh. Intelligent parking lot application using wireless sensor networks. In International Symposium on Collaborative Technologies and Systems (CTS 2008), pages 48–57, May 2008.
- [23] H. Wang and W. He. A reservation-based smart parking system. In 2011 IEEE Conference on Computer Communications Workshops (INFOCOM WKSHPS), pages 690–695, April 2011.
- [24] LA ExpressPark. www.laexpresspark.org.
- [25] FastPrk. www.fastprk.com.
- [26] Nice Park. www.nice.fr/fr/transports-et-deplacements/stationner-intelligent.
- [27] Z. Zhang, X. Li, H. Yuan, and F. Yu. A street parking system using wireless sensor networks. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks, 2013, 2013.

- [28] J. Wolff, T. Heuer, H. Gao, M. Weinmann, S. Voit, and U. Hartmann. Parking monitor system based on magnetic field sensor. In *IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference*, pages 1275–1279, 2006.
- [29] S.-E. Yoo, P. K. Chong, T. Kim, J. Kang, D. Kim, C. Shin, K. Sung, and B. Jang. PGS: Parking guidance system based on wireless sensor network. In 3rd International Symposium on Wireless Pervasive Computing (ISWPC), pages 218–222, May 2008.
- [30] W. C. Zhao. Parking management system with RFID and sensor networks. In Applied Mechanics and Materials, volume 198, pages 1690–1696. Trans Tech Publ, 2012.
- [31] O. Zoeter, C. Dance, S. Clinchant, and J.-M. Andreoli. New algorithms for parking demand management and a city-scale deployment. In 20th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD'14, pages 1819–1828, 2014.
- [32] V. Boda, A. Nasipuri, and I. Howitt. Design considerations for a wireless sensor network for locating parking spaces. In *IEEE Southeast Conference*, pages 698–703, March 2007.
- [33] W.-J. Park, B.-S. Kim, D.-E. Seo, D.-S. Kim, and K.-H. Lee. Parking space detection using ultrasonic sensor in parking assistance system. In 2008 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, pages 1039–1044, June 2008.
- [34] R. Vishnubhotla, P. Rao, A. Ladha, S. Kadiyala, A. Narmada, B. Ronanki, and S. Illapakurthi. Zigbee based multi-level parking vacancy monitoring system. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Electro/Information Technology (EIT), pages 1–4, May 2010.
- [35] A. Kianpisheh, N. Mustaffa, P. Limtrairut, and P. Keikhosrokiani. Smart parking system (SPS) architecture using ultrasonic detector. *International Journal of Software Engineering and Its Applications*, 6(3):55–58, 2012.
- [36] K. Hirahara and K. Ikeuchi. Detection of street-parking vehicles using line scan camera and scanning laser range sensor. In *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium*, pages 656–661, June 2003.
- [37] K. Hirahara and K. Ikeuchi. Detection of street-parking vehicles from panoramic street image. In IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems, volume 2, pages 993–998 vol.2, Oct 2003.
- [38] C. Zhu, K. Hirahara, and K. Ikeuchi. Street-parking vehicle detection using line scan camera. In *IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium*, pages 575–580, June 2003.
- [39] X. Sevillano, E. Marmol, and V. Fernandez-Arguedas. Towards smart traffic management systems: Vacant on-street parking spot detection based on video analytics. In 2014 17th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), pages 1–8, July 2014.
- [40] A. Albiol, L. Sanchis, A. Albiol, and J. Mossi. Detection of parked vehicles using spatiotemporal maps. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 12(4):1277–1291, Dec 2011.
- [41] H. Ichihashi, T. Katada, M. Fujiyoshi, A. Notsu, and K. Honda. Improvement in the performance of camera based vehicle detector for parking lot. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems (FUZZ), pages 1–7. IEEE, 2010.
- [42] S.-F. Lin, Y.-Y. Chen, and S.-C. Liu. A vision-based parking lot management system. In *IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics (SMC)*, volume 4, pages 2897–2902, Oct 2006.
- [43] H. Al-Absi, J. Devaraj, P. Sebastian, and Y. V. Voon. Vision-based automated parking system. In 2010 10th International Conference on Information Sciences Signal Processing and their Applications (ISSPA), pages 757–760, May 2010.
- [44] O. Bulan, R. P. Loce, W. Wu, Y. Wang, E. A. Bernal, and Z. Fan. Video-based real-time on-street parking occupancy detection system. *Journal of Electronic Imaging*, 22(4):041109–041109, 2013.
- [45] Z. Bin, J. Dalin, W. Fang, and W. Tingting. A design of parking space detector based on video image. In 9th International Conference on Electronic Measurement Instruments, pages 2–253–2–256, Aug 2009.
- [46] T.-N. Nguyen and C.-N. Nguyen. An approach for building an intelligent parking support system. In Fifth Symposium on Information and Communication Technology, SoICT'14, pages 192–201, 2014.
- [47] T. P. Hong, A. Che Soh, H. Jaafar, and A. Ishak. Real-time monitoring system for parking space management services. In *IEEE Conference on Systems Process Control (ICSPC)*, pages 149–153, Dec 2013.
- [48] D. B. Bong, K. C. Ting, and K. C. Lai. Integrated approach in the design of car park occupancy information system (COINS). *IAENG International Journal of Computer Science*, 35(1):7–14, Jan 2008.
- [49] K. Na, Y. Kim, and H. Cha. Acoustic sensor network-based parking lot surveillance system. In U. Roedig and C. Sreenan, editors, Wireless Sensor Networks, volume 5432 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 247–262. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009.
- [50] WSN-DPCM. www.wsn-dpcm.eu.
- [51] Area Verda. www.areaverda.cat.
- [52] V. Tang, Y. Zheng, and J. Cao. An intelligent car park management system based on wireless sensor networks. In 2006 1st International Symposium on Pervasive Computing and Applications, pages 65–70, Aug 2006.
- [53] J. Chinrungrueng, U. Sunantachaikul, and S. Triamlumlerd. Smart parking: An application of optical wireless sensor network. In *International Symposium on Applications and the Internet Workshops*, pages 66–66, Jan 2007.
- [54] J. Joseph, P. Roshan Gajanan, S. K. Kaipu Narahari, Y. Didagi, J. Bapat, and D. Das. Smart parking system using wireless sensor networks. In 6th International Conference on Sensor Technologies and Applications, pages 306–311, 2012.

- [55] A. David, K. Overkamp, and W. Scheuerer. Event-oriented forecast of the occupancy rate of parking spaces as part of a parking information service. In 7th World Congress on Intelligent Systems, Turin, Italy, Nov, volume 6, 2000.
- [56] Z. Pala and N. Inanc. Smart parking applications using RFID technology. In 2007 1st Annual RFID Eurasia, pages 1–3, Sept 2007.
- [57] S. Abdullah, W. Ismail, Z. Halim, and C. Zulkifli. Integrating Zigbee-based mesh network with embedded passive and active RFID for production management automation. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on RFID-Technologies and Applications (RFID-TA), pages 1–6, Sept 2013.
- [58] A. Bagula, L. Castelli, and M. Zennaro. On the design of smart parking networks in the smart cities: An optimal sensor placement model. Sensors, 15(7):15443–15467, 2015.
- [59] E. Karbab, D. Djenouri, S. Boulkaboul, and A. Bagula. Car park management with networked wireless sensors and active RFID. Technical report, CERIST, 2015.
- [60] S. Gabrielli, R. Maimone, M. Marchesoni, and J. Muñoz. BeeParking: An ambient display to induce cooperative parking behavior. In 13th International Conference on Multimodal Interfaces, ICMI'11, pages 295–298, 2011.
- [61] Siemens smart parking. www.siemens.com/press/smart-parking.
- [62] V. Coric and M. Gruteser. Crowdsensing maps of on-street parking spaces. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Distributed Computing in Sensor Systems (DCOSS), pages 115–122, May 2013.
- [63] N. Moini, D. Hill, and M. Gruteser. Impact analyses of curb-street parking guidance system on mobility and environment. Technical report, Rutgers University, 2012. Final report.
- [64] V. Verroios, V. Efstathiou, and A. Delis. Reaching available public parking spaces in urban environments using ad hoc networking. In 12th IEEE International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM), volume 1, pages 141–151, June 2011.
- [65] S. Ono, M. Kagesawa, and K. Ikeuchi. A probe car for parking-vehicle detection by using laser range sensor. In *IEEE Intelligent Vehicle Symposium*, volume 2, pages 322–327 vol.2, June 2002.
- [66] H. G. Jung, Y. H. Cho, P. J. Yoon, and J. Kim. Scanning laser radar-based target position designation for parking aid system. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 9(3):406–424, Sept 2008.
- [67] L. Stenneth, O. Wolfson, B. Xu, and P. Yu. PhonePark: Street parking using mobile phones. In 2012 IEEE 13th International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM), pages 278–279, July 2012.
- [68] S. Nawaz, C. Efstratiou, and C. Mascolo. ParkSense: A smartphone based sensing system for on-street parking. In 19th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing & Networking, MobiCom'13, pages 75–86, 2013.
- [69] A. Nandugudi, T. Ki, C. Nuessle, and G. Challen. PocketParker: Pocketsourcing parking lot availability. In 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, UbiComp'14, pages 963–973, 2014.
- [70] M. Zhao, R. Gao, J. Zhu, T. Ye, F. Ye, Y. Wang, K. Bian, G. Luo, and M. Zhang. VeLoc: Finding your car in the parking lot. In 12th ACM Conference on Embedded Network Sensor Systems, SenSys'14, pages 346–347, 2014.
- [71] A. Koster, A. Oliveira, O. Volpato, V. Delvequio, and F. Koch. Recognition and recommendation of parking places. In A. L. Bazzan and K. Pichara, editors, *Advances in Artificial Intelligence – IBERAMIA 2014*, volume 8864 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 675–685. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [72] F. J. Villanueva, D. Villa, M. J. Santofimia, J. Barba, and J. C. López. Crowdsensing smart city parking monitoring. In *IEEE World Forum on Internet of Things*, 2015.
- [73] A. Bechini, F. Marcelloni, and A. Segatori. Low-effort support to efficient urban parking in a smart city perspective. In S. Gaglio and G. Lo Re, editors, Advances onto the Internet of Things, volume 260 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 233–252. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [74] M. Rinne, S. Törmä, and D. Kratinov. Mobile crowdsensing of parking space using geofencing and activity recognition. In 10th ITS European Congress, Helsinki, Finland, pages 16–19, 2014.
- [75] X. Chen, E. Santos-Neto, and M. Ripeanu. Crowdsourcing for on-street smart parking. In Second ACM International Symposium on Design and Analysis of Intelligent Vehicular Networks and Applications, DIVANet'12, pages 1–8, 2012.
- [76] X. Chen, E. Santos-Neto, and M. Ripeanu. Smart parking by the coin. In *Third ACM International Symposium on Design and Analysis of Intelligent Vehicular Networks and Applications*, DIVANet'13, pages 109–114, 2013.
- [77] X. Chen, E. Santos-Neto, and M. Ripeanu. Crowd-based smart parking: A case study for mobile crowdsourcing. In C. Borcea, P. Bellavista, C. Giannelli, T. Magedanz, and F. Schreiner, editors, *Mobile Wireless Middleware, Operating Systems, and Applications*, volume 65 of *Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering*, pages 16–30. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [78] B. Yang, N. Fantini, and C. S. Jensen. iPark: Identifying parking spaces from trajectories. In 16th International Conference on Extending Database Technology, EDBT'13, pages 705–708, 2013.
- [79] J. Kopeckỳ and J. Domingue. ParkJam: crowdsourcing parking availability information with linked data. In 9th Extended Semantic Web Conference (ESWC 2012), May 2012.

- [80] S. Ma, O. Wolfson, and B. Xu. UPDetector: Sensing parking/unparking activities using smartphones. In 7th ACM SIGSPATIAL International Workshop on Computational Transportation Science, IWCTS'14, pages 76–85, 2014.
- [81] K. Petsch, P. Dotzlaf, C. Daubenspeck, N. Duthie, and A. Mock. Automated parking space locator: Rsm. In ASSE North Central Section Conference, 2012.
- [82] J. Gu, Z. Zhang, F. Yu, and Q. Liu. Design and implementation of a street parking system using wireless sensor networks. In 2012 10th IEEE International Conference on Industrial Informatics (INDIN), pages 1212–1217, July 2012.
- [83] J. Benson, T. O'Donovan, P. O'Sullivan, U. Roedig, C. Sreenan, J. Barton, A. Murphy, and B. O'Flynn. Carpark management using wireless sensor networks. In 31st IEEE Conference on Local Computer Networks, pages 588–595, Nov 2006.
- [84] J. Barton, J. Buckley, B. O'Flynn, S. O'Mathuna, J. Benson, T. O'Donovan, U. Roedig, and C. Sreenan. The D-Systems project - wireless sensor networks for car-park management. In *IEEE 65th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2007-Spring)*, pages 170–173, April 2007.
- [85] T. Lin, H. Rivano, and F. Le Mouël. How to choose the relevant mac protocol for wireless smart parking urban networks? In 11th ACM Symposium on Performance Evaluation of Wireless Ad Hoc, Sensor & Ubiquitous Networks, PE-WASUN'14, pages 1–8, 2014.
- [86] T. Lin, H. Rivano, and F. Le Mouël. Performance comparison of contention- and schedule-based mac protocols in urban parking sensor networks. In ACM International Workshop on Wireless and Mobile Technologies for Smart Cities, WiMobCity'14, pages 39–48, 2014.
- [87] T. Lin, H. Rivano, and F. L. Mouël. Urban infrastructure deployment for wireless on-street parking sensor networks. *Proceedia Engineering*, 115:29 – 36, 2015. Toward integrated modelling of urban systems.
- [88] W. Chen and B. Liu. A smart roadside parking navigation system based on sensor networks for ITS. In IET International Conference on Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks, pages 1–4, Nov 2006.
- [89] B. Kifle, J. Villalobos, D. Riley, and J. U. Quevedo-Torrero. Crowdsourcing automobile parking availability sensing using mobile phones. In *Midwest Instruction and Computing Symposium*, pages 1–7, May 2015.
- [90] B. Hoh, T. Yan, D. Ganesan, K. Tracton, T. Iwuchukwu, and J.-S. Lee. Trucentive: A game-theoretic incentive platform for trustworthy mobile crowdsourcing parking services. In 2012 15th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 160–166, Sept 2012.
- [91] SmartSantander. www.smartsantander.eu.
- [92] China Parking. www.chinaparking.org.
- [93] Melbourne On-Street Parking. www.melbourne.vic.gov.au/ParkingTransportandRoads/Parking/Pages/ OnstreetParking.aspx.
- [94] E. Kokolaki, M. Karaliopoulos, G. Kollias, M. Papadaki, and I. Stavrakakis. Vulnerability of opportunistic parking assistance systems to vehicular node selfishness. *Computer Communications*, 48:159–170, 2014.
- [95] E. Kokolaki, G. Kollias, M. Papadaki, M. Karaliopoulos, and I. Stavrakakis. Opportunistically-assisted parking search: A story of free riders, selfish liars and bona fide mules. In 2013 10th Annual Conference on Wireless On-demand Network Systems and Services (WONS), pages 17–24, March 2013.
- [96] F. Mitschele. Parking meter, January 2011. US Patent 7,874,482.
- [97] D. King, M. Hunter, M. Hall, and D. Jones. Parking meter, November 2013. US Patent 8,590,687.
- [98] F. Leung. Programmable parking meter and integrated paging transmitter, March 2012. US Patent 8,138,950.
- [99] G. Jones, B. Subramanya, and M. Nickolaus. Control system for wireless communication parking meter, November 2012. US Patent App. 13/468,876.
- [100] G. Jones, B. Subramanya, and M. Nickolaus. Wireless communication parking meter system and method, November 2012. US Patent App. 13/468,859.
- [101] G. Chauvin, N. Erksine, and G. Mackay. Data collection system for electronic parking meters, December 2012. US Patent 8,339,281.
- [102] C. Ricci. Parking space finder based on parking meter data, June 2013. US Patent App. 13/678,710.
- [103] D. King and C. Randall. Parking meter communications for remote payment with updated display, June 2014. US Patent 8,749,403.
- [104] E. Isaacs and R. Hoover. Testing a novel parking system: On-street reservations. In CHI'13 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA'13, pages 2823–2824, 2013.
- [105] K. Gopalan, K. Sairam, R. Nandakrishnan, and V. Venkatesh. Competent smart car parking: An osgi approach. J. Artif. Intell., 6(9):43–51, 2013.
- [106] I. Samaras, N. Evangeliou, A. Arvanitopoulos, J. Gialelis, S. Koubias, and A. Tzes. KATHODIGOS a novel smart parking system based on wireless sensor network. *Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 1:140– 145, 2013.
- [107] I. Samaras, A. Arvanitopoulos, N. Evangeliou, J. Gialelis, and S. Koubias. A fuzzy rule-based and energyefficient method for estimating the free size of parking places in smart cities by using wireless sensor networks. In *IEEE Emerging Technology and Factory Automation (ETFA)*, pages 1–8, Sept 2014.
- [108] A. Lelah, F. Mathieux, D. Brissaud, and V. Gimeno. SensCity: a new project opening the way for sustainable services in the city based on a mutualised M2M infrastructure. In CIRP IPS2 Conference 2010, pages pp 99 – 106, April 2010.

- [109] M. Bilal, C. Persson, F. Ramparany, G. Picard, and O. Boissier. Multi-agent based governance model for machine-to-machine networks in a smart parking management system. In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pages 6468–6472, June 2012.
- [110] J. Yang, J. Portilla, and T. Riesgo. Smart parking service based on wireless sensor networks. In IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, pages 6029–6034, Oct 2012.
- [111] P. Medagliani, J. Leguay, A. Duda, F. Rousseau, M. Domingo, M. Dohler, I. Vilajosana, and O. Dupont. Bringing IP to Low-power Smart Objects: The Smart Parking Case in the CALIPSO Project, pages 287– 313. The River Publishers Series in Communications, Alborg, Denmark, 2014.
- [112] A. Grazioli, M. Picone, F. Zanichelli, and M. Amoretti. Collaborative mobile application and advanced services for smart parking. In *IEEE 14th International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM)*, volume 2, pages 39–44, June 2013.
- [113] R. Souissi, O. Cheikhrouhou, I. Kammoun, and M. Abid. A parking management system using wireless sensor networks. In 2011 International Conference on Microelectronics (ICM), pages 1–7, Dec 2011.
- [114] J. Rico, J. Sancho, B. Cendon, and M. Camus. Parking easier by using context information of a smart city: Enabling fast search and management of parking resources. In 27th International Conference on Advanced Information Networking and Applications Workshops (WAINA), pages 1380–1385, March 2013.
- [115] Z. Suryady, G. Sinniah, S. Haseeb, M. Siddique, and M. Ezani. Rapid development of smart parking system with cloud-based platforms. In 5th International Conference on Information and Communication Technology for The Muslim World (ICT4M), pages 1–6, Nov 2014.
- [116] P. V. Kumar and T. Siddarth. A prototype parking system using wireless sensor networks. In International Joint Journal Conference on Engineering and Technology (IJJCET 2010), 2010.
- [117] J. Chinrungrueng, S. Dumnin, and R. Pongthornseri. iParking: A parking management framework. In 2011 11th International Conference on ITS Telecommunications (ITST), pages 63–68, Aug 2011.
- [118] I. Ganchev, M. O'Droma, and D. Meere. Intelligent car parking locator service. International Journal Information Technologies and Knowledge, 2:166–173, 2008.
- [119] K. Inaba, M. Shibui, T. Naganawa, M. Ogiwara, and N. Yoshikai. Intelligent parking reservation service on the internet. In Symposium on Applications and the Internet Workshops, pages 159–164, 2001.
- [120] R. E. Barone, T. Giuffre, S. M. Siniscalchi, M. A. Morgano, and G. Tesoriere. Architecture for parking management in smart cities. *Intelligent Transport Systems, IET*, 8(5):445–452, August 2014.
- [121] T. B. Hodel-Widmer and S. Cong. Psos, parking space optimization service. In 4th Swiss Transport Research Conference, 2004.
- [122] A. I. Niculescu, M. Q. Lim, S. A. Wibowo, K. H. Yeo, B. P. Lim, M. Popow, D. Chia, and R. E. Banchs. Designing ida - an intelligent driver assistant for smart city parking in singapore. In J. Abascal, S. Barbosa, M. Fetter, T. Gross, P. Palanque, and M. Winckler, editors, *Human-Computer Interaction â INTERACT* 2015, volume 9299 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 510–513. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [123] P. Sauras-Perez, A. Gil, and J. Taiber. Parkingain: Toward a smart parking application with value-added services integration. In International Conference on Connected Vehicles and Expo (ICCVE), pages 144– 148, Nov 2014.
- [124] G. Yao, J. Wang, X. Ran, Z. Li, and L. Yao. Topology study on parking guidance and information system based on can. In *International Conference on Computer, Mechatronics, Control and Electronic Engineering* (CMCE), volume 3, pages 420–422, Aug 2010.
- [125] C. J. Rodier and S. A. Shaheen. Transit-based smart parking: An evaluation of the san francisco bay area field test. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 18(2):225 – 233, 2010.
- [126] Y. Jun. A system framework of active parking guidance and information system. In WASE International Conference on Information Engineering (ICIE), volume 2, pages 150–154, Aug 2010.
- [127] S. V. Srikanth, P. Pramod, K. Dileep, S. Tapas, M. U. Patil, and N. S. C. Babu. Design and implementation of a prototype Smart PARKing (SPARK) system using wireless sensor networks. In 2009 International Conference on Advanced Information Networking and Applications Workshops, WAINA'09, pages 401–406, Washington, DC, USA, 2009. IEEE Computer Society.
- [128] J.-H. Shin and H.-B. Jun. A study on smart parking guidance algorithm. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 44:299–317, 2014.
- [129] SFMTA. SFpark: Putting theory into practive 2014. sfpark.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/SFpark\_ Pilot\_Overview.pdf, June 2014.
- [130] X. Chen. Parking occupancy prediction and pattern analysis. Technical report, Stanford University, 2014. Machine Learning Final Projects.
- [131] M. Quinones, V. Gonzalez, L. Quinones, C. Valdivieso, and W. Yaguana. Design of a smart parking system using wireless sensor network. In 10th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), pages 1–6, June 2015.
- [132] S. Pullola, P. Atrey, and A. El Saddik. Towards an intelligent GPS-based vehicle navigation system for finding street parking lots. In *IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing and Communications* (*ICSPC*), pages 1251–1254, Nov 2007.
- [133] A. Klappenecker, H. Lee, and J. L. Welch. Finding available parking spaces made easy. Ad Hoc Networks, 12:243 – 249, 2014. (1) SCEnarios for ad hoc Network Evaluation Studies (SCENES); (2) Modeling,

Analysis and Simulation of Wireless and Mobile Systems; (3) Algorithmic Aspects of Ad-Hoc Networks.

- [134] F. Richter, S. Di Martino, and D. Mattfeld. Temporal and spatial clustering for a parking prediction service. In 2014 IEEE 26th International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence (ICTAI), pages 278–282, Nov 2014.
- [135] E. I. Vlahogianni, K. Kepaptsoglou, V. Tsetsos, and M. G. Karlaftis. Exploiting new sensor technologies for real-time parking prediction in urban areas. In *Transportation Research Board 93rd Annual Meeting Compendium of Papers*, 14-1673, jan 2014.
- [136] E. I. Vlahogianni, K. Kepaptsoglou, V. Tsetsos, and M. G. Karlaftis. A real-time parking prediction system for smart cities. *Journal of Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 0(0):1–13, 2015.
- [137] Y. Zheng, S. Rajasegarar, and C. Leckie. Parking availability prediction for sensor-enabled car parks in smart cities. In 2015 IEEE Tenth International Conference on Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing (ISSNIP), pages 1–6, April 2015.
- [138] E.-K. Wu, J. Sahoo, C.-Y. Liu, M.-H. Jin, and S.-H. Lin. Agile urban parking recommendation service for intelligent vehicular guiding system. *IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine*, 6(1):35–49, Spring 2014.
- [139] T. Rajabioun, B. Foster, and P. Ioannou. Intelligent parking assist. In 2013 21st Mediterranean Conference on Control Automation (MED), pages 1156–1161, June 2013.
- [140] Y. Ji, D. Tang, P. Blythe, W. Guo, and W. Wang. Short-term forecasting of available parking space using wavelet neural network model. *Intelligent Transport Systems*, *IET*, 9(2):202–209, 2015.
- [141] Y. Wu. Analysis of present status and prediction of future demand on parking in the central area of medium and small city. In International Conference on Remote Sensing, Environment and Transportation Engineering (RSETE), pages 57–60, June 2011.
- [142] A. Demisch. Demand-responsive pricing on the cheap: Estimating parking occupancy using meter data. Transportation Research Board 94th Annual Meeting, 0(15-0676), 2015.
- [143] A. Millard-Ball, R. R. Weinberger, and R. C. Hampshire. Is the curb 80% full or 20% empty? assessing the impacts of san franciscoâs parking pricing experiment. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 63:76 – 92, 2014.
- [144] K. S. J. Pister and L. Doherty. TSMP: Time synchronized mesh protocol. In the IASTED International Symposium on Distributed Sensor Networks (DSN08), 2008.
- [145] M. Piorkowski, M. Grossglauser, and A. Papaioannou. Mobile user navigation supported by WSAN: Full-fledge demo of the smartpark system. In the 7th ACM International Symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing (Mobihoc), Technical Demonstration, May 2006.
- [146] C. Lochert, B. Scheuermann, and M. Mauve. Probabilistic aggregation for data dissemination in vanets. In Fourth ACM International Workshop on Vehicular Ad Hoc Networks, VANET'07, pages 1–8, 2007.
- [147] R. Lu, X. Lin, H. Zhu, and X. Shen. SPARK: A new vanet-based smart parking scheme for large parking lots. In *IEEE INFOCOM 2009*, pages 1413–1421, April 2009.
- [148] R. Lu, X. Lin, H. Zhu, and X. Shen. An intelligent secure and privacy-preserving parking scheme through vehicular communications. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 59(6):2772–2785, July 2010.
- [149] A. Alhammad, F. Siewe, and A. Al-Bayatti. An InfoStation-based context-aware on-street parking system. In 2012 International Conference on Computer Systems and Industrial Informatics (ICCSII), pages 1–6, Dec 2012.
- [150] N. Bessghaier, M. Zargayouna, and F. Balbo. Management of urban parking: An agent-based approach. In A. Ramsay and G. Agre, editors, Artificial Intelligence: Methodology, Systems, and Applications, volume 7557 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 276–285. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [151] K. Raichura and N. Padhariya. edpas: Event-based dynamic parking allocation system in vehicular networks. In 2014 IEEE 15th International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM), volume 2, pages 79–84, July 2014.
- [152] R. Panayappan, J. M. Trivedi, A. Studer, and A. Perrig. VANET-based approach for parking space availability. In Fourth ACM International Workshop on Vehicular Ad Hoc Networks, VANET'07, pages 75-76, 2007.
- [153] H. Zhao, L. Lu, C. Song, and Y. Wu. IPARK: Location-aware-based intelligent parking guidance over infrastructureless VANETs. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks, 2012, 2012.
- [154] T. Delot, N. Cenerario, S. Ilarri, and S. Lecomte. A cooperative reservation protocol for parking spaces in vehicular ad hoc networks. In 6th International Conference on Mobile Technology, Application and Systems, Mobility'09, pages 30:1–30:8, 2009.
- [155] N. Cenerario, T. Delot, and S. Ilarri. Dissemination of information in inter-vehicle ad hoc networks. In IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium, pages 763–768, June 2008.
- [156] T. Delot, S. Ilarri, S. Lecomte, and N. Cenerario. Sharing with caution: Managing parking spaces in vehicular networks. *Mobile Information Systems*, 9(1):69–98, 2013.
- [157] T. Delot, N. Cenerario, S. Ilarri, and S. Lecomte. Cooperative parking space allocation in vehicular ad hoc networks. In 6th Annual International Mobile and Ubiquitous Systems: Networking Services (MobiQuitous), pages 1–2, July 2009.
- [158] N. Cenerario, T. Delot, and S. Ilarri. A content-based dissemination protocol for VANETs: Exploiting the encounter probability. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 12(3):771–782, Sept

2011.

- [159] E. Kokolaki, M. Karaliopoulos, and I. Stavrakakis. Value of information exposed: Wireless networking solutions to the parking search problem. In 8th International Conference on Wireless On-Demand Network Systems and Services (WONS), pages 187–194, Jan 2011.
- [160] E. Kokolaki, M. Karaliopoulos, and I. Stavrakakis. Opportunistically assisted parking service discovery: Now it helps, now it does not. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, 8(2):210 – 227, 2012. Special Issue: Wide-Scale Vehicular Sensor Networks and Mobile Sensing.
- [161] G. Tasseron, K. Martens, and R. van der Heijden. The potential impact of vehicle-to-vehicle and sensor-to-vehicle communication in urban parking. *IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Magazine*, 7(2):22–33, 2015.
- [162] M. Caliskan, D. Graupner, and M. Mauve. Decentralized discovery of free parking places. In 3rd International Workshop on Vehicular Ad Hoc Networks, VANET'06, pages 30–39, 2006.
- [163] M. Caliskan, A. Barthels, B. Scheuermann, and M. Mauve. Predicting parking lot occupancy in vehicular ad hoc networks. In *IEEE 65th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2007-Spring)*, pages 277–281, April 2007.
- [164] G.-J. Horng, C.-H. Wang, and S.-T. Cheng. Using cellular automata on recommendation mechanism for smart parking in vehicular environments. In 2nd International Conference on Consumer Electronics, Communications and Networks (CECNet), pages 3683–3686, April 2012.
- [165] G.-J. Horng. The adaptive recommendation mechanism for distributed parking service in smart city. Wireless Personal Communications, 80(1):395–413, 2015.
- [166] V. B. Vaghela and D. J. Shah. Vehicular parking space discovery with agent approach. In International Conference & Workshop on Emerging Trends in Technology, ICWET'11, pages 613–617, 2011.
- [167] N. Kim, C. Jing, B. Zhou, and Y. Kim. Smart parking information system exploiting visible light communication. International Journal of Smart Home, 8(1):251–260, 2014.
- [168] B. Xu, A. Ouksel, and O. Wolfson. Opportunistic resource exchange in inter-vehicle ad-hoc networks. In 2004 IEEE International Conference on Mobile Data Management, pages 4–12, 2004.
- [169] B. Xu, O. Wolfson, J. Yang, L. Stenneth, P. Yu, and P. Nelson. Real-time street parking availability estimation. In 2013 IEEE 14th International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM), volume 1, pages 16–25, June 2013.
- [170] J. Boehle, L. J. M. Rothkrantz, and M. V. Wezel. Cbprs: A city based parking and routing system. Erasmus Research Institute of Management (ERIM), 2008.
- [171] Y. Geng and C. Cassandras. New smart parking system based on resource allocation and reservations. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 14(3):1129–1139, Sept 2013.
- [172] D. Draskovic and S. Vukicevic. A model of software system for parking using search algorithms. In MIPRO – 35th International Convention, pages 1098–1103, May 2012.
- [173] S. Chuanzeng and M. Zhenhua. Noncooperative game theory based curb parking policies study. In 2011 International Conference on Management and Service Science (MASS), pages 1–3, Aug 2011.
- [174] D. Ayala, O. Wolfson, B. Xu, B. DasGupta, and J. Lin. Parking slot assignment games. In 19th ACM SIGSPATIAL International Conference on Advances in Geographic Information Systems, GIS'11, pages 299–308, 2011.
- [175] D. Ayala, O. Wolfson, B. Xu, B. DasGupta, and J. Lin. Parking in competitive settings: A gravitational approach. In 2012 IEEE 13th International Conference on Mobile Data Management (MDM), pages 27–32, July 2012.
- [176] D. Ayala, O. Wolfson, B. Xu, B. DasGupta, and J. Lin. Spatio-temporal matching algorithms for road networks. In 20th International Conference on Advances in Geographic Information Systems, SIGSPA-TIAL'12, pages 518–521, 2012.
- [177] D. Ayala, O. Wolfson, B. Xu, B. DasGupta, and J. Lin. Pricing of parking for congestion reduction. In 20th International Conference on Advances in Geographic Information Systems, SIGSPATIAL'12, pages 43–51, 2012.
- [178] S.-Y. Chou, S.-W. Lin, and C.-C. Li. Dynamic parking negotiation and guidance using an agent-based platform. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 35(3):805–817, 2008.
- [179] M. Dell'Orco and D. Teodorović. Multi agent systems approach to parking facilities management. In N. Attoh-Okine and M. Ayyub, Bilal, editors, Applied Research in Uncertainty Modeling and Analysis, volume 20 of International Series in Intelligent Technologies, pages 321–339. Springer US, 2005.
- [180] M. Dell'Orco, M. Ottomanelli, and D. Sassanelli. Modelling uncertainty in parking choice behaviour. In 82nd Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, volume 82, 2003.
- [181] M. Karaliopoulos, K. Katsikopoulos, and L. Lambrinos. Bounded rationality can increase parking search efficiency. In 15th ACM International Symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing, Mobi-Hoc'14, pages 195–204, 2014.
- [182] E. Kokolaki, M. Karaliopoulos, and I. Stavrakakis. On the efficiency of information-assisted search for parking space: A game-theoretic approach. In W. Elmenreich, F. Dressler, and V. Loreto, editors, *Self-Organizing Systems*, volume 8221 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 54–65. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2014.
- [183] E. Kokolaki, M. Karaliopoulos, and I. Stavrakakis. Leveraging information in parking assistance systems.

IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 62(9):4309–4317, Nov 2013.

- [184] C. Di Napoli, D. Di Nocera, and S. Rossi. Agent negotiation for different needs in smart parking allocation. In Y. Demazeau, F. Zambonelli, J. Corchado, and J. Bajo, editors, Advances in Practical Applications of Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Systems. The PAAMS Collection, volume 8473 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 98–109. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [185] A. Schlote, C. King, E. Crisostomi, and R. Shorten. Delay-tolerant stochastic algorithms for parking space assignment. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 15(5):1922–1935, Oct 2014.
- [186] C. Jin, L. Wang, L. Shu, Y. Feng, and X. Xu. A fairness-aware smart parking scheme aided by parking lots. In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pages 2119–2123, June 2012.
- [187] Z. Chen, J. C. Xia, and B. Irawan. Development of fuzzy logic forecast models for location-based parking finding services. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2013, 2013.
- [188] D. Teodorović and P. Lučić. Intelligent parking systems. European Journal of Operational Research, 175(3):1666 – 1681, 2006.
- [189] W. A. Sarasua, P. Malisetty, and M. Chowdhury. Using GIS-based, hitchcock algorithm to optimize parking allocations for special events. *Applied GIS*, 7(2):1–13, 2011.
- [190] P. Li, D. Li, and X. Zhang. CGPS: A collaborative game in parking-lot search. In S. Patnaik and X. Li, editors, International Conference on Soft Computing Techniques and Engineering Application, volume 250 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 105–113. Springer India, 2014.
- [191] N. Doulamis, E. Protopapadakis, and L. Lambrinos. Improving service quality for parking lot users using intelligent parking reservation policies. In 2013 27th International Conference on Advanced Information Networking and Applications Workshops (WAINA), pages 1392–1397, March 2013.
- [192] Z. Mei and Y. Tian. Optimized combination model and algorithm of parking guidance information configuration. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, 2011(1), 2011.
- [193] F. Caicedo. The use of space availability information in PARC systems to reduce search times in parking facilities. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 17(1):56 – 68, 2009.
- [194] F. Caicedo, C. Blazquez, and P. Miranda. Prediction of parking space availability in real time. Expert Systems with Applications, 39(8):7281 – 7290, 2012.
- [195] I. Benenson, K. Martens, and S. Birfir. Parkagent: An agent-based model of parking in the city. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 32(6):431 – 439, 2008. GeoComputation: Modeling with spatial agents.
- [196] G. Jossé, M. Schubert, and H.-P. Kriegel. Probabilistic parking queries using aging functions. In 21st ACM SIGSPATIAL International Conference on Advances in Geographic Information Systems, SIGSPA-TIAL'13, pages 452–455, 2013.
- [197] H. Guo, W. Wang, and W. Guo. Micro-simulation study on the effect of on-street parking on vehicular flow. In 2012 15th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 1840–1845, Sept 2012.
- [198] L. Guo, S. Huang, J. Zhuang, and A. Sadek. Modeling parking behavior under uncertainty: A static game theoretic versus a sequential neo-additive capacity modeling approach. *Networks and Spatial Economics*, 13(3):327–350, 2013.
- [199] X. Ma, X. Sun, Y. He, and Y. Chen. Parking choice behavior investigation: A case study at beijing lama temple. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 96:2635–2642, 2013. 13th COTA International Conference of Transportation Professionals (CICTP2013).
- [200] M. Chen, C. Hu, and T. Chang. The research on optimal parking space choice model in parking lots. In 3rd International Conference on Computer Research and Development (ICCRD), volume 2, pages 93–97, March 2011.
- [201] K. M. N. Habib, C. Morency, and M. Trépanier. Integrating parking behaviour in activity-based travel demand modelling: Investigation of the relationship between parking type choice and activity scheduling process. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 46(1):154 – 166, 2012.
- [202] J. Glasnapp, H. Du, C. Dance, S. Clinchant, A. Pudlin, D. Mitchell, and O. Zoeter. Understanding dynamic pricing for parking in los angeles: Survey and ethnographic results. In F.-H. Nah, editor, *HCI in Business*, volume 8527 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 316–327. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [203] E. Chaniotakis and A. J. Pel. Driversâ parking location choice under uncertain parking availability and search times: A stated preference experiment. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 82:228 – 239, 2015.
- [204] Y. Ruisong, Y. Meiping, and Y. Xiaoguang. Study on driver's parking location choice behavior considering drivers' information acquisition. In Second International Conference on Intelligent Computation Technology and Automation (ICICTA), volume 3, pages 764–770, Oct 2009.
- [205] E. Polycarpou, L. Lambrinos, and E. Protopapadakis. Smart parking solutions for urban areas. In 2013 IEEE 14th International Symposium and Workshops on a World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM), pages 1–6, June 2013.
- [206] Z. Abichar and J. Chang. Conti: Constant-time contention resolution for wlan access. In NETWORKING 2005: Networking Technologies, Services, and Protocols; Performance of Computer and Communication Networks; Mobile and Wireless Communications Systems, volume 3462 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 358–369. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2005.

- [207] K. Jamieson, H. Balakrishnan, and Y. Tay. Sift: a MAC protocol for event-driven wireless sensor networks. In *Third European Workshop on Wireless Sensor Networks (EWSN)*, Zurich, Switzerland, February 2006.
- [208] D. Stanislowski, X. Vilajosana, Q. Wang, T. Watteyne, and K. Pister. Adaptive synchronization in ieee802.15.4e networks. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, PP(99):1–1, 2013.
- [209] W. Ye, F. Silva, and J. Heidemann. Ultra-low duty cycle mac with scheduled channel polling. In International Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems, SenSys'06, pages 321–334, 2006.
- [210] Y. Sun, O. Gurewitz, and D. B. Johnson. RI-MAC: A receiver-initiated asynchronous duty cycle MAC protocol for dynamic traffic loads in wireless sensor networks. In the 6th ACM Conference on Embedded Network Sensor Systems, SenSys'08, pages 1–14, 2008.
- [211] J. Kim, J. On, S. Kim, and J. Lee. Performance evaluation of synchronous and asynchronous mac protocols for wireless sensor networks. In 2nd International Conference on Sensor Technologies and Applications (SENSORCOMM), pages 500–506, Aug 2008.
- [212] Q. Lampin, D. Barthel, I. Auge-Blum, and F. Valois. Cascading tournament mac: Low power, high capacity medium sharing for wireless sensor networks. In *IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC)*, pages 1544–1549, 2012.
- [213] Q. Lampin. Wireless Urban Sensor network: Applications, characterization and protocols (in French). PhD dissertation, INSA de Lyon, 2014.
- [214] I. Rhee, A. Warrier, J. Min, and L. Xu. Drand: Distributed randomized tdma scheduling for wireless ad-hoc networks. In 7th ACM International Symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing, MobiHoc'06, pages 190–201, 2006.
- [215] W. Heinzelman, A. Chandrakasan, and H. Balakrishnan. Energy-efficient communication protocol for wireless microsensor networks. In 33rd Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, page 10 pp. vol.2, Jan 2000.
- [216] V. Rajendran, K. Obraczka, and J. J. Garcia-Luna-Aceves. Energy-efficient collision-free medium access control for wireless sensor networks. In 1st International Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems, SenSys'03, pages 181–192, 2003.
- [217] I. Rhee, A. Warrier, M. Aia, J. Min, and M. Sichitiu. Z-MAC: A hybrid mac for wireless sensor networks. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking*, 16(3):511–524, June 2008.
- [218] G.-S. Ahn, S. G. Hong, E. Miluzzo, A. T. Campbell, and F. Cuomo. Funneling-mac: A localized, sinkoriented mac for boosting fidelity in sensor networks. In 4th International Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems, SenSys'06, pages 293–306, 2006.
- [219] S. Zhuo, Z. Wang, Y.-Q. Song, Z. Wang, and L. Almeida. iqueue-mac: A traffic adaptive duty-cycled mac protocol with dynamic slot allocation. In 10th Annual IEEE Communications Society Conference on Sensor, Mesh and Ad Hoc Communications and Networks (SECON), pages 95–103, June 2013.
- [220] M. C. Vuran and I. F. Akyildiz. Full length article: Channel model and analysis for wireless underground sensor networks in soil medium. *Phys. Commun.*, 3(4):245–254, December 2010.
- [221] T. Watteyne, K. Pister, D. Barthel, M. Dohler, and I. Auge-Blum. Implementation of gradient routing in wireless sensor networks. In *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference (GLOBECOM)*, pages 1–6, 2009.
- [222] J. Filho and M. Yacoub. Simple precise approximations to weibull sums. *IEEE Communications Letters*, 10(8):614–616, Aug 2006.
- [223] E. Bradlow, P. Fader, M. Adrian, and B. B. McShane. Count models based on weibull interarrival times. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, 26, 2008.
- [224] M. Arfeen, K. Pawlikowski, D. McNickle, and A. Willig. The role of the weibull distribution in internet traffic modeling. In 25th International Teletraffic Congress (ITC), pages 1–8, Sept 2013.
- [225] K. V. Mitov and N. M. Yanev. Superposition of renewal processes with heavy-tailed interarrival times. Statistics & Probability Letters, 76(6):555–561, 2006.
- [226] G. Lu, B. Krishnamachari, and C. Raghavendra. Performance evaluation of the ieee 802.15.4 mac for lowrate low-power wireless networks. In *IEEE International Conference on Performance, Computing, and Communications*, pages 701–706, 2004.
- [227] Q. Sun, S. Tan, and K. Teh. Analytical formulae for path loss prediction in urban street grid microcellular environments. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 54(4):1251–1258, July 2005.
- [228] Wsnet simulator for large scale wireless sensor networks. Available at http://wsnet.gforge.inria.fr.
- [229] H. Rivano, I. Augé-Blum, W. Bechkit, K. Boussetta, M. Fiore, R. Stanica, and F. Valois. Wireless Access Networks for Smart Cities. In A. Vesco and F. Ferrero, editors, *Social, Economic, Environmental Sustainability in the Development of Smart Cities*, pages 266–297. Information Science Reference, 2014.
- [230] M. Marks. A survey of multi-objective deployment in wireless sensor networks, 2010.
- [231] B. He, B. Xie, and D. P. Agrawal. Optimizing deployment of internet gateway in wireless mesh networks. *Computer Communications*, 31(7):1259–1275, 2008. Special Issue: Resource Management and routing in Wireless Mesh Networks.
- [232] F. Li, Y. Wang, X.-Y. Li, A. Nusairat, and Y. Wu. Gateway placement for throughput optimization in wireless mesh networks. *Mobile Networks and Applications*, 13(1-2):198–211, 2008.
- [233] A. Konstantinidis, K. Yang, Q. Zhang, and D. Zeinalipour-Yazti. A multi-objective evolutionary algorithm for the deployment and power assignment problem in wireless sensor networks. *Computer Networks*,

54(6):960–976, 2010. New Network Paradigms.

- [234] A. Syarif, I. Benyahia, A. Abouaissa, L. Idoumghar, R. F. Sari, and P. Lorenz. Evolutionary multiobjective based approach for wireless sensor network deployment. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC)*, pages 1831–1836, June 2014.
- [235] J. Luo, W. Wu, and M. Yang. Optimization of gateway deployment with load balancing and interference minimization in wireless mesh networks. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 17(14):2064–2083, oct 2011.
- [236] T. Watteyne, K. Pister, D. Barthel, M. Dohler, and I. Auge-Blum. Implementation of gradient routing in wireless sensor networks. In *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference (GLOBECOM)*, pages 1–6, Nov 2009.
- [237] W. A. Stein et al. Sage Mathematics Software (Version 6.3), 2014. http://www.sagemath.org.
- [238] D. Raz, A. T. Juhola, J. Serrat-Fernandez, and A. Galis. Fast and Efficient Context-Aware Services (Wiley Series on Communications Networking & Distributed Systems). Wiley, jul 2006.
- [239] Y. Wang and X. Ma. A general scalable and elastic content-based publish/subscribe service. IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, PP(99):1-1, 2014.
- [240] M. Li, F. Ye, M. Kim, H. Chen, and H. Lei. A scalable and elastic publish/subscribe service. In IEEE International Parallel Distributed Processing Symposium (IPDPS), pages 1254–1265, May 2011.
- [241] J. H. Ahnn, U. Lee, and H. J. Moon. Geoserv: A distributed urban sensing platform. In 11th IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Cluster, Cloud and Grid Computing (CCGrid), pages 164–173, May 2011.
- [242] D. Tam, R. Azimi, and H. arno Jacobsen. Building content-based publish/subscribe systems with distributed hash tables. In In International Workshop On Databases, Information Systems and Peer-to-Peer Computing, pages 138–152, 2003.
- [243] R. Ranjan, L. Zhao, X. Wu, A. Liu, A. Quiroz, and M. Parashar. Peer-to-peer cloud provisioning: Service discovery and load-balancing. In N. Antonopoulos and L. Gillam, editors, *Cloud Computing*, Computer Communications and Networks, pages 195–217. Springer London, 2010.
- [244] N. Fotiou, K. Katsaros, G. Polyzos, M. Särelä, D. Trossen, and G. Xylomenos. Handling mobility in future publish-subscribe information-centric networks. *Telecommunication Systems*, 53(3):299–314, 2013.
- [245] C. Rezende, A. Boukerche, R. W. Pazzi, B. P. S. Rocha, and A. A. F. Loureiro. The impact of mobility on mobile ad hoc networks through the perspective of complex networks. J. Parallel Distrib. Comput., 71(9):1189–1200, sep 2011.
- [246] T. Pandey, D. Garg, , and M. M. Gore. Structured p2p overlay of mobile brokers for realizing publish/subscribe communication in vanet. *Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 2014.
- [247] N. K. Pandey, K. Zhang, S. Weiss, H.-A. Jacobsen, and R. Vitenberg. Distributed event aggregation for content-based publish/subscribe systems. In 8th ACM International Conference on Distributed Event-Based Systems, DEBS'14, pages 95–106, 2014.
- [248] E. Hyytiä, S. Bayhan, J. Ott, and J. Kangasharju. Searching a needle in (linear) opportunistic networks. In 17th ACM International Conference on Modeling, Analysis and Simulation of Wireless and Mobile Systems, MSWiM'14, pages 187–196, 2014.
- [249] M. A. Tariq, B. Koldehofe, G. G. Koch, I. Khan, and K. Rothermel. Meeting subscriber-defined qos constraints in publish/subscribe systems. *Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience*, 23(17):2140–2153, 2011.
- [250] K. R. Jayaram, P. Eugster, and C. Jayalath. Parametric content-based publish/subscribe. ACM Transactions on Computer Systems, 31(2):4:1-4:52, may 2013.
- [251] P. Sermpezis and T. Spyropoulos. Not all content is created equal: Effect of popularity and availability for content-centric opportunistic networking. In 15th ACM International Symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing, MobiHoc'14, pages 103–112, 2014.
- [252] C. Maihofer. A survey of geocast routing protocols. IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials, 6(2):32– 42, April 2004.
- [253] R. J. Hall. An improved geocast for mobile ad hoc networks. *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, 10(2):254–266, 2011.
- [254] R. Crepaldi, R. Beavers, B. Ehrat, M. Jaeger, S. Biersteker, and R. Kravets. Loadingzones: Leveraging street parking to enable vehicular internet access. In Seventh ACM International Workshop on Challenged Networks, CHANTS'12, pages 23–30, 2012.
- [255] R. Crepaldi, R. Welsh, and R. Kravets. Parkingmeter: Balancing energy savings and service availability. In 10th ACM International Workshop on Vehicular Inter-networking, Systems, and Applications, VANET'13, pages 21–30, 2013.
- [256] T. Chen, L. Zhu, F. Wu, and S. Zhong. Stimulating cooperation in vehicular ad hoc networks: A coalitional game theoretic approach. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology (TVT)*, 60(2):566–579, Feb 2011.
- [257] S. Panichpapiboon and W. Pattara-Atikom. A review of information dissemination protocols for vehicular ad hoc networks. *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, 14(3):784–798, 2012.
- [258] I. Leontiadis and C. Mascolo. Opportunistic spatio-temporal dissemination system for vehicular networks. In 1st International MobiSys Workshop on Mobile Opportunistic Networking, MobiOpp'07, pages 39–46, 2007.
- [259] J. M. Hutchinson, C. Fanselow, and P. M. Todd. Car parking as a game between simple heuristics. PM

Todd, G. Gigerenzer, & The ABC Research Group, Ecological rationality: Intelligence in the world, pages 454–484, 2012.

- [260] S. Mehar, S. Senouci, A. Kies, and M. Zoulikha. An optimized roadside units (rsu) placement for delaysensitive applications in vehicular networks. In 12th Annual IEEE Consumer Communications and Networking Conference (CCNC), pages 121–127, Jan 2015.
- [261] B. Jiang. A topological pattern of urban street networks: Universality and peculiarity. Physica A Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 384:647–655, October 2007.
- [262] F. D. da Cunha, A. C. Viana, R. A. F. Mini, and A. A. F. Loureiro. Are vehicular networks small world? In *INFOCOM Workshops*, pages 195–196, 2014.
- [263] L. Zhang, M. Ahmadi, J. Pan, and L. Chang. Metropolitan-scale taxicab mobility modeling. In *IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM)*, pages 5404–5409, Dec 2012.
- [264] M. Kim, D. Kotz, and S. Kim. Extracting a mobility model from real user traces. In 25th IEEE International Conference on Computer Communications (INFOCOM), pages 1–13, April 2006.
- [265] C. Mulligan and M. Olsson. Architectural implications of smart city business models: an evolutionary perspective. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 51(6):80–85, June 2013.
- [266] W. Drira and F. Filali. A pub/sub extension to ndn for efficient data collection and dissemination in v2x networks. In World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM), 2014 IEEE 15th International Symposium on a, pages 1–7, June 2014.
- [267] L. Zhang, A. Afanasyev, J. Burke, V. Jacobson, K. Claffy, P. Crowley, C. Papadopoulos, L. Wang, and B. Zhang. Named data networking. ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review, 44(3):66–73, July 2014.
- [268] G. Gaillard, D. Barthel, F. Theoleyre, and F. Valois. Service level agreements for wireless sensor networks: A wsn operator's point of view. In *IEEE Network Operations and Management Symposium (NOMS)*, pages 1–8, May 2014.
- [269] A. Gokhale, D. C. Schmidt, and J. Hoffert. Timely autonomic adaptation of publish/subscribe middleware in dynamic environments. *International Journal of Adaptive, Resilient and Autonomic Systems*, 2(4):1–24, October 2011.
- [270] L. Deng and D. Yu. Deep learning: Methods and applications. Technical Report MSR-TR-2014-21, May 2014.
- [271] S. Uppoor, O. Trullols-Cruces, M. Fiore, and J. Barcelo-Ordinas. Generation and analysis of a large-scale urban vehicular mobility dataset. *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, 13(5):1061–1075, May 2014.
- [272] M. O. Cherif, S.-M. Senouci, and B. Ducourthial. Efficient data dissemination in cooperative vehicular networks. Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing, 13(12):1150–1160, 2013.